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More than the
weekly shop

Most people know something about
Tesco. After all, we are the UK’s largest
grocer and we’ve been serving customers
for the best part of a century. What you
might not know, is that Tesco is also the
world’s third largest grocery retailer with
operations in 12 international markets,
employing over 440,000 people and
serving millions of customers every week.

We're not simply about providing great
quality food at affordable prices.

We provide more choice than ever to
more customers, whether it's through

our expanding international operations,
innovative retailing services or our growing
non-food offer. [t doesn’t matter how
people choose to shop with us or what
they choose to buy, our core purpose
remains the same — to create value for
customers to earn their lifetime loyalty.

We are also playing our part in tackling

some of the social and environmental

challenges we all face by putting

community at the heart of what we do. !

From carrots to computers, from
banking to broadband, from Shanghai
to San Diego. We are...

...more than the weekly shop.

Go online!

Every year, more and more information 1s availlable
for our shareholders, staff and customers

www.tesco com/annualreport08




Financial highlights

Growth on 2007

11% 11.8%

Group sales (including VAT) Underlying Group profit

before tax
5.7% 20.8%
Group profit before tax Underlying diluted earnings
iy he Penions A Daycredty T per share*
14.2% 131%
Diluted earnings per share Dividend per share

2008 2007

Group sales (£m) (ncluding value added tax) 51,773 46,611
Group revenue (£m) (excluding value added tax) 47,298 42,641
Underlying Group profit before tax (Em)! 2,846 2,545
Group profit before tax (£m) 2,803 2,653
Underlying diluted earnings per share (p) 27.02 22.36
Diluted earnings per share (p) 26.61 23.31
Dividend per share (p) 10.90 9.64
Group enterprise value (£m) (market capitalisanon plus net debt) 37,656 40,469
Return on capital employed 12.9%" 12.6%*

* 13 1% gromth on a nomalised 28 9% tax rate

1 Adjusted forlAS 32, IAS 39, the net difference between the 1AS 19 Income Statement charge and ‘normal’ cash contnbutions for pensions and IAS 17 ‘Leases’ — impact of annual uphifts in rent and
rent-free peneds. In 2007 adjustment was also made for pensions adjustment — Finance Act 2006 and imparment of the Gerrards £ross site

§ Using a ‘normatised” tax rate before start-up costs in the US and Tesco Direct, and exchudes the impact of foreign exchange in equity and our acquisiion of a majonty share of Dobbies

# Inchuding the one-off gain from Pensions A-Day, ROCE i 2007 was 13 6%
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Chief Executive’s statement

Strong growth across the Group

The breadth of the Group 2nd the strength of our business model
have enabled Tesco to deliver anothet year of double-digit sales,
profit and earnings per share growth

These results demonstrate that Tesco has again made strong progress
Sales, profits and returns have grown well, the growth has been broadly
based and we are delivering on our commitments to shareholders

| beleve these numbers also clearly show that our new businesses are
coming of age, afteryears of patient investment | am pleased about that
because the breadth this gives the Group, combined with the strength of
our business model, means that we are able to cope well with changing
market conditions and at the same time make the necessary investment
in our future growth — In the United States, China and Tesco Direct.

intemational 1s an iImpartant part of this It now makes more than £700m
of trading profit, which 15 about the same as the whole of Tesco did a
decade ago, and it contributed over half of the growth in Group trading
profit in the year We have built a new Tesco in the last ten years, serving
markets with hundreds of millions of custecmers — and | believe its growth
prospects are even better than the onginal’s were back then

We saw excellent progress across the international business Sales and
profits grew well, returns rose agamn but the mast stnking improvements
carmne in the strengthening posibons we have n our chosen markets

We added over six and a half rmithon square feet of new selling space
overseas (N the year — over three times as much as in the UK Qur focus on
cambining this organic growth with selectve acquisitions 1s also deliverng —
in Poland, the Czech Republic and Malaysia — with more to come

Our international business now has the scale, the cormpetitiveness and

the momentum It needs to be a key driver of our growth for the long-term —
because our operations 1n most of these markets can be two, three or more
times larger than they are today

We have made solid progress in the UK It hasn’t been an easyyear for our
core business — recovening competitors and cautious consumers made sales
growth harder to come by But with strong productivity, mix and margin
control, we delvered good results and after a slower end to the year, we
have come into the new financial year on better form, trading ahead of

the industry and a little ahead of our planned performance range

| believe we are entenng the kind of market conditions where Tesco’s
strengths stand out, where customers will be looking o us to help them
cope with higher bills for mortgages and fuel as well as higher taxes

As always, our focus will therefore be on improving their shopping tnp —
whetherit's m lower prices, shorter queues at checkouts or healthier
products to feed the family Customers recognise the improvements

we are making

Whilst we have seen pleasing progress in Non-Food, this has been aganst
a background of mare subdued consumer spending in some product
categones Nevertheless, sales grew faster than the core business,
profitability was strong and we saw good market share gains Our core
general merchandise categories, which are less sensitive to the economic
cycle, grew well and we saw robust growth in newer areas such as
electncals, fumiture and DIY, helped in part by an excellent first full year
of trading 1n Tesco Direct, our online and catalogue non-food business

Our Services businesses had another good year ~ agan demonstrating the
growing breadth of the Group - supported by our Increasing strength as

a leading internet retaller Dotcom was on excellent form, with sales in our
onlne business again up by over 30% Tesco Telecoms performed well,
drtven by a very good performance in Tesco Mobile, our joint venture with
02, which moved into profit for the first tme In the year
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Elsewhere in Services, Tesco Personal Finance (TPF), which celebrates its
tenth anmiversary this year, has got back to a faster rate of growth, driven by
a strong sequence of new product launches and a 20% nse in onlime sales
TPF has also weathered a difficult financial services market well —with
falling bad debts and credit card amrears But for the impact of last year’s
floods on household insurance clams, we would have seen strong profit
growth from TPF

Ourworkwith communities and the environment has also seen Tesco
make encouraging progress To mzke sure this work gets the nght focus
and prionty in the business, we made an important change m 2007 by
adding it to our four-part strategy for growth — so making Cormmunity
the fifth element As the first change of any kind to Tesco’s strategy

in more than a decade, this represents a very significant comrmitrment.
More detait about our initiatives in this area can be found elsewhere In
this report, In our separate Corporate Responsibility Review and on our
website {www tesco com/crreview08)

We are making strides towards a revolutton in green consumption by
incentivising the environmental eption and makeng 1t affordable We do not
start from the position that it s a choice between growing or being green,
that somehow we will give up a bit of patency in the focus of the business
n pursuing these things My strong belief is that this is not the case, and
that being green will be a good way to grow and add value for shareholders
whilst discharging our responsibilities to other stakeholders That 1s why
Tesco has taken a lead on these matters

Some key milestones passed this year included the early achievement
of our target to reduce the number of free camer bags issued to

UK customers by 25% in a httle over 12 months — saving well over

one bilhon bags, far more than any other retailer We are on track to save
two billion this year We have also halved our energy use per square foot
of selling space since 2000, two years ahead of target We have invested
£25m in creating a Sustainable Consumption Institute at the University
of Manchester, bringing togetherwerld-leading experts from vanous
disaiplines The Institute will help lead the way to a low-carbon economy
and socety We plan to begin a programme of carbon labelling of our
products in the earlyweeks of the current year, using our expenence of
putting clear, useful Information in front of customers to help them make
nformed deasions about the CO: imphcations of their product choices

In summary

> Tesco I1s about growth and we are confident of sustaining strong growth
in the future,

> we do this by following the customer, as they change, we change

> and this means our growth s broadly based, as our new businesses come
through to scale and profitability;

> it also means we ¢an carry the costs of Investing now in the new products
and businesses which will drive our long-term growth,

> at the same time we can deliver improving returns and tangible benefits
for shareholders,

> we are meeting cur respansibilities to other stakeholders by playing an
innovative part in tackling some of the socat and environmental
challenges we all face,

> we have delvered strong results by making shopping better for
customers, and

> Tesco 15 equipped to cope wath changing market conditions and, whilst
the current global economic background 1s a concem,
we begin the new financial yearwith confidence

N

Terry Leahy
Chref Executive

To view the full announcement visit.

www.tesco.com/annualreport08/presentations




Report of the Directors

The Directors present their Annual Report to shareholders on the affairs
of the Group and Companyy, together with the audited financial statements
of the Company for the year ended 23 February 2008

Business Review

Thus Business Review analyses the performance of the Tesco Group in
the financial year ended 23 February 2008 It also explams other aspects
of the Group’s markets, results and operations, including strategy and
nsk management.

Long-term strategy

Tesco has a well-establshed and consistent strategy for growth, which

has allowed us to strengthen our core UK business and dnve expansion
into new markets The rationale for the strategy Is to broaden the scope

of the business to enable it to deliver strong sustainable long-term growth
by following the customer into large expanding markets at home — such
as finanaal services, non-food and telecoms ~ and new markets abroad,
iniially in Central Europe and Asia, and now also in the Urited States

The strategy to diversify the business was laid down in 1997 and has been
the foundatron of Tesco’s success in recentyears The new businesses which
have been created and developed over the last decade as part of this strategy
now have scale, they are competitive and profitable — in fact, the International
business alone makes about the same profit as the entire Group did a
decade ago

The Group has continued to make progress with this strategy, which now
has five elements, reflecting our four established areas of focus, and also
Tesca's long-term commitments on community and ermvironment

The objectives of the strategy are

> to grow the core UK business,

> to become a successful international retailer;

> to be as strong In non-foad as In food,

> to develop retailing services — such as Tesco Persona! Finance,
Telecoms and tesco com, and

> 10 put community at the heart of what we do

In 2007/8, Tesco has again delivered a strong performance, with all parts

of the strategy contributing We have sustained good growth in the UK and
coped well with the challenges of poor weather, recovening competitors,
and a detenorating consumer background in our internaticnal operations
we have also made excellent progress, completing a large programme of
rew store openings and overcome difficult conditions in some of our Jargest
markets We have also begun operations on the west coast of the United
States with our Fresh & Easy stores

In non-food, more custorners are choosing to shop with us even in a perod
of more cautious consumer spending and we have seen good growth from
Tesco Direct, which extends our reach in selling a broad range of praducts
on the internet and via a catalogue Our retailing services have delivered
another good year, with tesco com sustaining its rapid growth, Tesco
Personal Finance making progress in challenging markets and Telecoms
continuing to build its customer base strongly and moewing into profitability
Finally, we are making strides towards a revolution in green consumption,
having reduced camer bag use by over one billion — more than any other
retailer and are on target to sell ten million energy efficient hghtbulbs in
ayear as part of the Cimate Group's ‘Together' campargn

Markets served and business model

Tesco’s growth, dnven by this strategy, has been predominantly organic
and we have used our skills and knowledge in understanding customers,
property development, supply chain management, new product
development, store formatting and how to localise our offer — to create
strong business models in our chosen markets Where we do not have

all the required skills ourselves to be successful, we regularly partnerwith
existing busmesses - and these relationships have formed the basis of
some of our most successful operations — for example with Samsung in
South Korea and with the Royal Bank of Scotland in Tesco Personal Finance

The UK grocery retail market remains our largest source of revenue,
representing some 46% of lastyear's £51 8bn of sales Intemational

retall sales ~ from our 12 markets in Europe, Asia and the United States,
comprise a further 19% of Group revenues and non-food (in a vanety

of categones from health and beauty to electronics} accounts for most

of the remainder Our services businesses — not least in financial serces
and telecoms — have comparatively small revenue streams because some
of the most important of them are joint-ventures but they are increasingly
matenal 1o our earnings base

At the core of Tesco's business model 15 a focus on trying to impreve what
we do for customers We aim to make therr shopping expenence as easy
as possible, lower pnces where we can to help thern spend less, give them
more choice about how they shop — in small stores, large stores or online,
and seek to bring simplicity and value to sometimes complicated markets
And we aim to be a good neighbour in the communities we serve, be
responsible, fair and honest in our dealings and give customers the
information and products they need to make greener choices We are

also an inclusive business — everyone 1s welcome at Tesco

Because we are a discounter, underpinning this approach is a relentless
attitude to being the lowest cost provider of goods and senaces in our
chosen sectors ~ and this combination of qualities Is the reason we have
been successful in some of the world's most competitive markets We have
recognised skills and proprietory systems in key areas which help us deliver
a low cost model - particularty in customer relabonship management, just-
in-time supply chain and distnbution, property development and store
formatting In some of our newer markets — such as telecorns or financral
services, our willingness to partnerwith established businesses has given
us access to their existing investment in systems and infrastructure and
enabled Tesco to develop competitive, profitable business models quickly
and, at the same trne, hmt our own investment and nskin the earlyyears

Tesco PLC Annual Report and 3
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Business Review continued

Group performance

This year's results represent very good progress across the Group and have been achieved by investing to improve the shopping expenence for customers
1n our businesses in the UK and around the world We have been able to delver another solid sales performance, and through good cost tontrol and
productnty improvements, we have grown profits shghtly faster than revenue - and thereby improved retums for shareholders These improvernents have
been achieved whilst conttnuing to invest in the long term — in the people, assets, processes and systems, which will enable Tesco to sustain its success In

the future

Results These results are for the 52 weeks ended 23 February 2008, compared with the same penod ending n February 2007 Results from our business

in China are consohdated m the full-year results for the first tme

Group sales, including VAT, increased by 11 1% to £51 8bn (last year £46 6bn) At constant exchange rates, sales increased by 10 4%

In Apnil 2006, with our Preliminary Results for 2005/6, and following our transition to IFRS, we introduced an undertying profit measure, which excludes
the impact of the non-cash elements of IAS 13, IAS 32 and IAS 39 {pnnapally pension costs and the marking to market of financial mstruments) With
these Results, the underlying profit measure also excludes the impact of the non-cash element of IAS 17 ‘Leases’, relating to the impact of annuat uplifis
In rent and rent free periods Underlying profit before tax rose to £2,846m 1n the year (last year £2,545m), an increase of 11 8%

With our Intenm Results for 2006/7, we began reporting segmental trading profit, which excludes property profits and, as our underhying profit
measure does, excludes the non-cash element of the IAS 19 pension charge and now also excludes the non-cash element of the 1AS 17 lease charge
Group trading profits were £2,751m (last year £2,478m), up 11 0% on last year and Group trading margin, at 5 8%, was unchanged on last year

Group operating profit rose by 5 4% to £2,791m (last year £2,648m) Within this, total net Group property profits were £188m in the year (last year
£139m, Including asset disposals within joint ventures), comprising £186m 1n the UK and £2m in Intemational Group profit before tax increased 5 7%
to £2,803m (lastyear £2,653m) Excluding last years exceptional items, principally the Pensions A-Day credit, Group profit before tax rose 15 3% and

Group operating profit rose 15 1%

Group results Actual rates  Actual rates Constant
Group sales {inc VAT) £51,773m 111% 10 4%
Group profit before tax £2,803m 5 7% 51%
Group operating profit £2,791m 5 4% 4 8%

Group underlying profit before tax

£2,846m 11 8% 11 2%

Group trading profit

£2,751m 11 0% 10 4%

Trading margin

5 8% - -

International Our Intemational business delivered a very strong performance, contnbuting 54% of the growth n Group sales and 50% of the growth
in Group trading profit Underlying margins improved whilst reported margns were diluted shightly by the consolidation of our business in China for the

first time, following the increase in our shareholding to 90% n December 2006

Tota! International sales grew strongly — by 25 3% at actual exchange rates to £13 8bn (last year £11 0bn) and by 22 5% at constant exchange rates
China centnbuted £702m to sales, representing 6 4 percentage points of the year's total Intemational growth at actual rates Excluding China, total
nternational sales grew by 19 0% at actual mtes and by 15 7% at constant rates Like-for-like sales in International grew by 2 0%, with net new space

contributing the remaming 20 5%

4 Tesco PLC Annual Report and
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Internattonal contributed £701m to trading profit in the year (last year £564m), up 24 3% after charging £5m of integration costs and initial operating
losses, principally related to the Leader Pnce stores which were acquired n late 2006 Intemational margins rose by 15 basis points excluding the impact
of consolidating the China business At constant exchange rates, Intematicnal trading profit grew by 22 2% Intemational EBITDA* rose to £1,051m

International results

Actual rates Actual rates Constant

International sales (iInc VAT)

£13,824m 253% 22 5%

International trading profit

£701m 243% 22 2%

Trading margin

5 6% - —

US segmental reporting of sales and trading results within International will begin with our Intenm Results i September For these prelimimary results,

sales and start-up losses in the United States are reported in our UK segment

In Asia, sales grew by 27 2% at actual exchange rates and by 30 9% at constant rates to £6 Obn (last year £4 7bn} Excluding China, Asia sales grew
by 12 3% and 15 1% at constant exchange rates Trading profit increased by 23 6% at actual rates and by 26 8% at constant rates to £304m (last year
£246m) Excluding China, trading smargins rose in Asia, to 5 8% dnven by strong performances in South Korea, Thaland and Malaysia China made a

small trading profit In the year

Asia results

Actual rates Actual rates Constant

Asia sales (inc VAT)

£5,988m 27 2% 30 9%

Asia trading profit

£304m 23 6% 26 8%

Trading margin

55% - -

In Europe, sales rose by 23 9% at actual rates and by 16 1% at constant rates to £7 8bn (last year £6 3bn) Trading profit increased by 24 8% at actuat

rates to £397m (lastyear £318m) and by 18 6% at constant rates Trading margins increased by six basis points

Central Europe overall delivered strong growth Despite the subdued economy in Hungary, aur business delivered a pleasing increase in profit and
resumed positive growth in ke-for-like sales last summer Excellent performances in Turkey and Ireland were held back by planned commissionimg costs

for new large central distnbution centres, both of which opened in the first half

Europe results

Actual rates Actual rates Constant

Europe sales {inc VAT)

£7,836m 23 9% 16 1%

Europe trading profit

£397m 24 8% 18 6%

Trading margin

5 8% — —

UK Our core business performedwell In challenging market conditions UK sales increased by 6 7% to £37 9bn (last year £35 6bn}) with like-for-like growth

of 3 9% (ncluding volume of 2 0%) and 2 8% from net new stores Excluding petrol, hke-for-ltke sales grew by3 5%

In our stores, we saw modest inflation of 1 2% for the year as a whole, with our continued imvestment in lowering prices for customers being offset by the
strength of market prices for commodities and some seascnal fresh foods Further nises m commodity food prices in the second half saw inflation nse to
Just over 2% n our fourth quarter with food price inflation being offset by continuing deflation 1n non-food categones

The pattemn of our trading duning the year was unusual Unseasonal summer weather impacted growth in the first half, and a combinaticn of recovering
competitors and mare subdued custorner dermand in some non-food product categories, held back sales progress in the second half

Increased productvity and good expense control enabled us to mantain solid margins and deliver good profit growth despite these challenges, whilst also
absorbing iniial operating losses totalling around £90m on Tesco Direct and on establishing our operations in the US Even after these additional costs,
UK trading profit rose 7 1% to £2,050m, with trading margins at 5 9%, shightly up on last year

UK results 200718 Growth
UK sales (inc VAT) £37,949m 6 7%
UK trading profit £2,050m 71%
Trading rmargin 59% -

* EBITDA 15 calculated by adding back depreciation and amorhisation charges of £357m to Intemational operating profit of £694m
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Business Review continued

Joint ventures and associates Qur share of profit (net of tax and
Interest) for the year was £75m, a decrease of £31m compared with last
year Dnving this decrease was a £47m property profit last year, pnnaipally
reflecting profit realised on the sale of the Weston Favell store to a third
party Excluding these property-related items, profits from joint ventures
rose by £16m

Tesco Personal Finance (TPF) profit was £128m, of which our share was
£64m This was after absorbing £31m of higher household insurance daims
linked to last summer’s flooding in Yorkshtre and the Midiands Tesco’s share
of the cost of higher claims Iinked to these events was £11m (after interest
and tax) i the year as a whole

Underlying growth in the business was therefore encouraging, with the
new management team demonstrating that there remains significant
growth potential for TPF wathin the finanaial senaces sector, partcularly
amongst loyal Tesco customers, as we bulld cur portfolio of preducts

TPF 1s well-provistoned for bad and doubtful debts —which are down year-
on-year and we also continue to see improving trends in credit card arrears

Finance costs and tax Net finance costs were £63m (last year £126m),
reflecting favourable movements in the non-cash IFRS elements of the
interest charge The interest charge, excluding IFRS adjustments and
finance income, rose 18%

Total Group tax has been charged at an effective rate of 24 0% (fast

year 29 1%) This reduction in tax rate 15 primanly due to a one-off tax
rermbursement, reflecting settlement of prioryear tax items with HMRC
We have also benefited from an adjustment of deferred tax balances as a
result of the lowering of the rate of UK corporation tax from 30% to 28%
with effect from 1 Apnl 2008 We expect the effective tax rate for the
current year to be around 27 5%

Underlying diluted earnings per share increased by 20 8% to 27 02p
(last year 22 36p), benefiting from the significantly lower than normal
effective tax rate for the year and from the elimuination of eamings
dilution inked to new share 1ssuance, resulting from our share buy-back
programme On a normalised 28 9% tax rate basis, underlying diluted
eamnings per share rose by 13 1%

Dmdend The Board has proposed a final dvidend of 7 70p per share
(last year 6 83p) This represents an increase of 12 7%, and takes the full-
year increase in dvidend to 13 1% This increase in divedend 15 in hine with
the growth in underlying diluted earmings per share, which are inclusive
of net property profits, using our normalised tax rate of 28 9% Going
forward, we intend to continue to grow annual dividends broadly in line
with underlying diluted eamings per share growth

The final dvidend will be paid on 4 July 2008 to shareholders on

the Register of Members at the close of business on 25 April 2008
Shareholders have the opportunity to elect to reinvest their cash
dmwdend and purchase existing Tesco shares in the Company through

a Dmdend Reinvestment Plan This scheme replaced the scrip dwidend
at the time of the Intenim Results in 2006 and was introduced to reduce
dilution from new share 1ssuance and Improve eamings per share

6 Tesco PLC Annual Report and
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Cash flow and Balance Sheet Group capital expenditure {excluding
acquisitions) rase ta £3 9ba (lastyear £3 Obn), tugher than the £3 Sbn
forecast at our Interim Results This increase was attnbutable to the
purchase of a small number of UK trading stores from a competitor,
investment in new mixed-use development schemes dunng the second
half and higher Intemational capital expenditure

UK capital expenditure was £2 5bn (ast year £1 9bn}, including £987m

on new stores, £457m an extensions and refits and approximately £200m
relating to our US operations, shghtly below the gutdance we gave last
Navember Total International capital expenditure rose to £1 dbn (last year
£1 1bn) compnsing £0 7bn 1n Asia and £0 7bn in Europe

We expect Group capital expenditure to nse this year, dnven largely by the
expansion of our International business, to around £4 2bn This growth
wtll primarily arse from the increased scale of our investment in freehold
shopping centre developments in China The change in the status of our
tnvestment in China to a subsidiary, means that such developments will
now be fully funded directly from Tesco’s balance sheet

Cash flow from operating activities, ncluding an improvement of £194m
wiathin working capital, totalied £4 1bn (last year £3 Sbn) Net borrowings
rose 10 £6 2bn at the year end (fastyear £4 9bn) £0 6bn of this increase
15 attnbutable to the effect of unfavourable currency rmovements on our
Internatrional balance sheet hedging (Sterling has depreciated by 11 5%
agamst the currences of the countnes in which we operate) A further
£0 3bn relates to acquisitions, including our share of Dobbres Garden
Centres PLC Gearing was 52%

Pensions Qur award-winning defined-benefit penston scheme 1s an
important part of our competitive package of pay and benefits, which helps
Tesco recruit and retain the best people We manage and fund our scheme
on an actuanal valuation basis and, as at December 2007, the scheme was
estimated {o be broadly fully funded As at February 2008, under the IAS 19
methodology of pension hability valuation, the Group pension defiat on a
post-tax basis was £603m

Return on capital employed In January 2004, we said that we had

an aspiration to Increase our post-tax return on capital employed (ROCE)
of 10 2% n the 20023 financial year by 200 basis points over five years
on then curent plans bn Apnl 2006, we renewed our commitment to
Increasing our post-tax return on capital employed (ROCE) by a further
200 basis points, having exceeded our 2004 aspiration early

ROCE rose to 12 9% 1n the year, using a normahised tax rate, before
start-up costs on the US and Tesco Direct and the impact of foreign
exchange equity and our acquisition of a majonty share in Dobbres
(last year ROCE was 12 6%, excluding the Pensions A-Day credit)
This represents a good performance and we remain on track to delver
our targeted ROCE improvement in the years ahead as these
nvestments mature

www tesco.comfannualreport08




Current trading

We have seen a strang start to the new financial year across the Group
In the UK, our planned investments in strengthening further our offer for
custgmers, involving our latest round of price cuts and the introduction
of stronger promotions — and at the same tume continwing to mprove
avallability and senice standards — have gone well UK like-for-like sales
growth, excluding petrol, was over 4% in the first five weeks of the new
year This figure 1s adjusted for the different uming of Easter this year and
15 a Iittle ahead of our planned performance range {of between 3% and
4%; for the year as a whole Within this, nflatron was under % 5%

Internatienal sales progress has also been pleasing Sales growth was
strong — 19% at actual rates In the first five weeks Overall, growth
moderated only sightly compared with last year despite passing the
anniversary of the acquisition of both Leader Prnce in Poland and the
majornty helding in our business in China Total Group sales increased
by 13% in the same penod

Releasing value from property

Qur £5bn-plus programme of releasing value from property through a
sequence of joint ventures and other transactions and retum significant
<ash to shareholders over five years, both through enhanced dividends
and share buy-backs, 1s on track

The two transactions completed 1n 2007 delivered aggregate proceeds
of £1 2bn The first of these deals, with the Bntish Awways Pension Fund,
was completed at the end of the 2006/7 financial year A second, larger
Joint venture transaction was completed with The Bntish Land Company
PLC in March 2007 and cur reported first half property profits largely
reflected the sigrificant book profit on this transaction We completed a
third such deal in February 2008 —with Prudential pic — on a 4 8% vield,
realising proceeds of £207m The premium to bookvalue on this
transaction was 66%

Whilst yields have increased modestly in recent months, appetite for
Tesco's property and covenant remains strong, and If market conditions
remain conducive, we expect to be able to complete further transactions
on attractive termns in the manths ahead We are currently in discussion
with potential counterparties Proceeds will continue to be used to fund
expansion and our share buy-back programme — which has already
re-purchased Tesco shares worth over £1 1bn

The net bookvalue of our fixed assets 1s £19 8bn, most of it in our freehold
store portfolio - even after recent property divestments hinked to our £5bn
programme We estimate the current market value of these assets io be
£31bn, representing a 57% premium to bookvalue

Key perfermance indicators (KPIs)

We operate a balanced scorecard approach to managing the business

that I1s known internally withm the Group as our ‘Steenng Wheel® This

unites the Group’s resources and in particular focuses the efforts of our

staff around our qustormers, people, operations, finance and the community

Its prime focus 1s as a management tool for the company so that there 1s

appropriate balance in the trade-offs that need to be made all the tme

between the man levers of management —~ such as operations measures,

financial measures or delivery of customer metnics .

It therefore enables the business to be operated and monrtored on a
balanced basis with due regard to the needs of all stakeholders For the
owners of the business, 1t 15 simply based around the philgsophy that If
we lock after custorners well and operate efficiently and effectively then
shareholders’ interests will always be best served by the nevitable outputs
of those — growth in sales, profits and returns
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Business Review continued

2008* 2007
Sales growth
Change in Group sales over the year (including value added tax) 11.1% 10 9%
UK sales growth 6 7% 90%
Intemational sales growth 25 3% 17 9%
Intemational sales growth (at constant exchange rates) 22 5% 17 4%
Profit before tax £2.803 £2653m
Undertying profit before tax £2,846  £2545m
Trading margin
UK trading margin 5.9% 59%
Intermational trading margine 5 6% 57%
Trading margin 15 calculated from the trading profit expressed as a percentage of Group revenue (sales excluding value
added tax} It 15 a measure of profit generation from sales and 15 a comparable performance measure with other companies
This 1s how much we made from trade in our stores, taking account of the cost of the products sold, wages and salanes,
expenses assocated with running the stores, depots and head office, and the cost of depreciation of the assets used to
generate the profits Trading profit 1s stated after adjusting operating profit for the impact of IAS 19, IAS 32 and 1AS 39
(pnncipally pension costs and the marking to market of financial instruments) It also excludes the non-cash elements of
IAS 17 ‘Leases’, relating to the impact of annual uplifts in rents and rent-free penods
Net cash inflow/(outflow) £801m £(265)m
Net cash mflow 1s the cash received less cash spent dunng the financial period, after financing acuvities
Capital expenditure £3 9bn £3 0bn
This is the amount iInvested in purchasing fixed assets
UK £2 Sbn £19bn
[nternational £1.4bn £11bn
Net borrowings and gearing
Net borrowings £6 2bn £49bn*
Geanng 52% 46%
Return on capital employed (ROCE) 12 9%# 12 6%t
ROCE 15 caleulated as profit before interest less tax divided by the average of net assets plus net debt plus
dmdend creditor less net assets held for sale ROCE 1s a relative profit measurement that not only Incorporates
the funds shareholders have invested, but also funds invested by banks and other lenders, and therefore shows
the productivity of the assets of the Group
Underlying diluted earnings per share 27.02p 2236p

Underlying diluted earmings per share 1s the calculation of profit after tax and rminority interest dnaded by the

dituted weighted average number of shares in 1ssue dunng the year 1t 15 the amount which could be paid out on each
share If the Company decided to distnibute all its profits as dvidends instead of retaiming some for future expansion

* The measuremnent of net debt has been rewised te indude loar recenable from joint ventures Goung forward net debt will be stated inclusive of the loan recenvables from joint ventures
& Intemational margins rose by 15 basis points exduding the impact of consol:dating the China business

% Using a'nomalised’ tax rate before start-up costs in the US and Tesce Direct, and exchudes the impact of foreign exchange m equity and our acquistion of a majonty share of Dobbies

t Inckiding the one-off gain from Pensions A-Day, ROCE was 13 5%

8 Tesco PLC Annual Repost and
Financal Staterments 2008

www.tesco com/annualreport08




2008 2007

Total shareholder return 22 8% 26 0%
Total shareholder return 1s the notional return from a share and 1s measured as the percentage change in the shara

price, plus the dvidend paid This 1s measured over the last five years

Full year dindend per share 10.90p 9 64p
The growth of the dwtdend per share from one penod to the next 1s iImportant to shareholders since this represents

thewr actual cash return, and 15 usually paid twice a year

We monttor a wide range of KPls, both financia! and non-financial Indmadual business units have their own versions of the Steenng Wheel which
incorporate their own prionties and KPls Some of the Group KPls below are tracked through the Steering Wheel and those above are tracked as
a monitor of investor return

Across the Group, KPIs are set for local markets, with oversight from the Executive Directors, to ensure they are tallored to dnve the prionties of each
business Dunng the last year we have made good progress with ralling aut our Corporate Responsibility management system to out International
operations We report quarterly an Community, which includes social, ethical and environmental matters alongside Customer, Operations, Finance and
People KPIs More detall on each country follows in the ‘Operations, resources and relationships’ section

The followng are some KPIs for the UK and Group operations

2008 2007
UK market share
Grocery market share* 21 8% 21 0%
Non-food rarket share 8.5% B0%
* This 1s measured as the share of all spend by all shoppers through Taylor Nelson Sofres Superpanel (Total Till Roll) data
Suppher viewpoint measure
UK 92% 94%
The Group 88% NiA

We aim to monitor supplier relations through the Supplier Viewpoint Survey The target s for over 90% of UK suppliers

to view Tesco as being trustworthy, reliable, conststent, clear, helpfu! and fair This is the first year our international suppliers

have taken part in our Suppler Viewpoint Survey

Employee retention B84% 84%
This measure shows the percentage of employees who have stayed with the business for longer than one year

it 1s one measure that we use 1o monitor ernployee loyalty and satisfaction and we aim to exceed 80% retention

of expenenced staff

CO2z emissions 5 8% nfat

For 2007/8 our target was to reduce {02 emissions from our existing bustdings in the UKby 5 5%

1 Thisis a new KP! Qur previous KPlwas energy consumphion, with our target in 2008/7 being to recuce energy consumption by 12% Qur actual reduction was 12 5%

Tesco PLC Annual Report and 9
Financial Statements 2008




Business Review continued

Operations, resources and relationships

International operations

The performance of our Intemational businesses has been outstanding —
with excellent progress in sales, profits and retuins The growing strength of
our operations and market positions internationally gives us confidence that
we can delver further strong progress in the years ahead Qur Intemational
dwersification has come of age and, in defivenng half of the year's Group
trading profit growth, 1t has demonstrated 1ts increased strength and
matunty — with much more to come

We are seaing the benefits of last year's acquisitions, and organic growth
1n selling space also continues to be rapid as we build out our networks
We opened a total of 6 2m square feet in Europe and Asia dunng the year,
an increase of 15%, plus a further 0 5m square feet in the US Over 60%
of Group sales area 1s now In International

At the end of February, our operations in Asia and Europe were trading from
1,561 stores, including 493 hypermarkets, with a total of 45 9m square feet
of selling space This year, we plan to open 505 new stores with a total of

8 4m square feet of sales area in these markets A further 1 5m square feet

i1s planned to open in the US

Returns - CROI

All our established markets are now profitable and with growing local
scale, increasing store matunity and the benefits of new investment in
supply chain infrastructure, returns from our international operations are
continuing to nse On a constant currency basis and excluding China, cash
return on investment (CROI*) for Intemational was the same as last year
at 11 5% This reflecis the nse in invested capital linked to our acquisitions
in Poland and the Czech Republic i1 2006 and higher capital expenditure
Like-for-hike CROI shows a strong improvement, nsing to 13 1% (last year
12 7%:), with our lead markets maintaining significanty higher levels
overall Retumns in Turkey and Malaysia have shown pleasing improvement,
In Central Europe, Hungary and Slovakia delivered increases in returns,
while the performance in Poland and the Czech Republic was held back
temperanly by the additional capital linked to our acquisitions in 2006

Asia We have delivered a very strong performance in Asia, despite retal
markets In our two largest countnes — Sguth Kerea and Thalland — remaining
subdued We are now market leader in Malaysia, just seven years after

we entered the country and we are accelerating growth and investment

1in China now that we have full control of our business there

> In China, with majonty ownership and full management control of
the bustness, we have begun to accelerate store and infrastructure
development as part of our long-term strategy to become a leader in
the market. We plan to construct large multi-level freehold shopping
centres, built around Tesco hypermarkets, in the major cities of the
three main econormic regions — around Shanghai, Beying and
Shenzhen/Guangzhou These regrons will each have modem distnbution
and supply chain faciiies We now have 56 hypermarkets, mostly around
Shanghar and our first stores in the other regions are trading well The
first four of our new large developments will be constructed in the current
year We saw strong sales, including good like-for-like growth in the year
and China made a modest profit.

v

The retailing environment in Japan remains difficult. Our small but
profitable business there has continued to focus on refirung and
develaping the tnal Express-type stores, which we began to open last
year — with seven now trading — into an expandable format. We have
strengthened the management team in Japan, invested in infrastructure
and plan a modest new store development programme this year

* Cash return on investment (CROY) is measured as earnings before interest, tax, depreciation
and amortisation, expressed as a percentage of net investad capital
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> Homeplus in South Korea delivered another excellent performance in
the year, overcoming the challenges of stronger competitors and subdued
consumer spending and achieving solid sales and strong profit growth
Over 1 million sguare feet of space was opened dunng the year and we
have a strong pregramme of 76 new stores and 1 4m square feet this
year We will almost double the size of our Express business in 2008/%
to argund 130 stores Our grocery dotcom operation In South Korea 15
now well-established and growing rapidly — with sales up by more than
125% in the year

> Tesco Malaysia has made rapid progress, successfully integrating and
converting the Makro stores and at the same ume sustatming very strong
Itke-for-like growth and moving into profitability for the first time Six
major refits to the Makro stores to introduce the new Extra format, which
was developed specifically for these sites, are complete and the stores
are trading very well We have racently becorne market leader, and with
two more converted stores to be relaunched soon, plus a strong pipeline
of eight planned new hypermarkets, we hope to extend our lead this year

> Tesco Lotus in Thailand has performed verywell Although consumer
confidence levels remain subdued, our investrment 1in improving our offer
for customers through the politcal and econoric instabihity of the last
18 months has served us well Qur business has achreved good sales
and profit growth and strengthened its already robust market position
The successful development and rollout of our formats has picked up
pace again with 106 stores opening with 1 4m square feet of selling
area This included the opening of ten hypermarkets in the final quarter
of the year

Europe Our European growth has been stronger than for many years,
helped in part by favourable exchange rate movements In Central

Europe we are emerging from a long peneod of economic instability

and intense competition as one of the clear winners across the region —
and the prospects for improving returns as we continue to build our market
positions, and benefit from increased scale, regronal economies and
improved infrastructure, have never been better The workwe have done on
pan-European sourcing of Tesco own brand and general merchandise has
further strengthened our competitive position in the regton Our business in
Ireland has also made excellent progress and we are increasingly confident
about the scale of opportunity for Tesco in Turkey as we busld on the
excellent Kipa brand, which has already proven itself capable of trading
well across much of the country

> [n the Czech Republic, the benefits of our improved market position —
we are now among the leaders ~ and stability following the very
successful acquisiion and integranon of the Carrefour stores last year are
starting to come through well The performance of the acquired stores
has been excellent —with second year like-for-like sales growth of 11%
Our first Express stores have also been well-received by customers in
central Prague and we are continuing a programme of refits - and in
some cases major redevelopments — of our department stores

> The econormic background in Hungary 15 showing early signs of
improvement although the consumer environment remains challenging
However, our strategy of investng hard to build on our already strong
market position by lowenng pnicas and expanding our store network s
yielding good results We have seen improving performance from our
stores, including a resurmption of hke-for-like sales growth last summer,
renewed profit growth and a significant improvement in retums
Our new store opening programme delivered a 12% increase i our
space - through four large hypermarkets, five of our 3k compact format,
12 1kstares and one Express
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> Ourbustness in Poland had a good yearwith strong growth in market
share, dnven by the successful integration and conversion of the former
Leader Price stores, combined with grganic expansion across our range of
1k, 2kand 3k formats In a difficult consumer and business environment,
sales grew well —with like-for-like growth of 43% in the converted stores
Returns are expected to move forward In the current year as the business
absorbs the additronal caprtal involved 1n lastyear's acquisition and
delivers the full benefits of the enlarged business and the increasing
profitability of the converted stores

> An excellent performance from Tesco Ireland produced anotheryear
of strong growth, with good progress in all areas of the business
The planned operational benefits from our new 740,000 square feet
distribution centre {(OC) at Donabate, 1In north Dubhn, which opened in
the first half, are now coming through well Qur pipeline of new space Is
strong — through store extensions, new and replacermnent stores We now
have six Extra hypermarkets trading i Ireland, which are proving very
popularwith customers and 12 Express stores — with maore to come
this year Our new non-food ranges — including Florence & Fred and
Cherokee dothing — are performing particularty well

> In Slovakia our new clothing and hardiines distnbution centres, located
close to Bratislava, which handle general merchandise for the whole
of Central Europe, are now fully operational and delivering significant
benefits These substantial investments are enabling our Central
Eurapean businesses to harmontse and improve our non-food ranges
and debver lower pnges for custormers Our market-leading retail business
there has made very good progress against the background of a strong
economy Our new store opening programme, which 1s now focused on
our cornpact hypermarket and smaller 1k farmats, delivered 9% growth
In selling area in the year

> In Turkey, our Kipa business continues to grow rapidly and profitably
and we are making progress towards creating a national cham of
hypermarkets m a market which offers great potental We are invesung
In creating the necessary infrastructure for long-term expansion with our
first major distnbution centre at Yasibas: covening 400,000 square feet,
now In operation and with similar infrastructure prgjects planned over
the next twa years as we begin to secure sites in Istanbul, Ankara and
the other aities in central and western Turkey We aim to grow our space
mn Turkey by around 60% this year, from our base of 26 hypermarkets
Custorner response to the Express format has been very encouraging
and we plan to add more than 40 further stores this year, banging the
total to over 80

United States We are very encouraged by the start Fresh & Easy has
made The first stores opened only in November and we now have over

60 trading Whilst 1t 1s still early days, the response of customers to our offer
has surpassed our expectatons — with our research regularly confirming
that they like the quality and freshness of our ranges, as well as the pnices
and the converient locations of the stores

Sales are ahead of budget and sales densites are already higher than the
US supermarket industry average, with our best stores exceeding $20

per square foot per week. We are seeing strong growth in the early stores
as we step up, as planned, our marketing programmes and as we build
awareness of the brand This 15 also reflected in the strong sales performance
of recent openings in all of our markets in Southem Calfornia, Nevada
and Anzona Fresh foods and own brand products have sold particularly
well, confirming that the core of our offer has already gained acceptance
with customers

Progress with real estate has been good and we have secured encugh

sites for our immediate needs - although the detenorating property market,
parucularly in Anzona and Nevada, will mean that some of the third-party
developments in which we had planned to open prototype stores later this
year, will now be deferred Nevertheless, we still expect to open around

150 new stores this year

QOur Rverside distnbution centre (DC) and kitchen operation ts gearing up
well as volumes rise As we announced last November, we have taken the
necessary steps to secure the site and begin the process of obtaiming the
necessary permits to launch operations of our second DC in Northemn
California In due course We expect a proportion of these costs will be
incurred in the current year

Last April, with cur Preliminary Results, we said that costs of recruitment
and training of staff for the stores, combined with the other pre-launch
costs and imtial trading losses, weuld involve estimated US start-up costs
of around £65m in the financial year We have delivered on this guidance —
trading losses were £62m We expect losses to nse this year to around £100m

US segmental reporting of sales and trading results within International
will beginwith our Intenim Results in September

Core UKoperations

In the UK, Tesco coped well with unseasonal summer weather, recavering
competitors and a deteniorating non-food market, particulary in the
second half, to deliver sohid progress in the year by investing in improving
the shopping trip for customers UK sales grew by 6 7%, with a ike-for-
like increase, nciuding petrol, of 3 9% Both customer numbers and
spend perwvisit increased

In the current year we expect to trade the bustness harder and give
what help we can to families whose budgets have become increasingly
stretched by higher interest rates, fuel costs and taxes As always, we are
investing to iImprove all aspects of the shopping tnp We have already
anneunced a significant — and budgeted — round of pnce cuts, involving
an investment of £170m and this 15 In addition to the strengthened
programme of half-pnce and cther promotions we have been running
stnce January

Every Little Helps

> QurPnce Checksurvey, which compares 10,000 prices against our
leading competitors weekly, shows that our price position has improved
agam (for more information see www tesco com) We have already cut
the price of 7,500 products this year and in the last decade, Tesco has
saved a typical household £5,000 by investing in even lower prices
for custorners

> We are able to monitor and improve our checkout service using our
new thermal imaging technology A renewed focus on reducing queues
for custormers has delivered significant improvements = with a remarkable
22 5 milion more custorners benefiting from our ‘one-in-front’ promise
Custorners recognise Tesco as offening the best checkout service In
the market.

> The broad appeal of the Tesco brand dnves ourwork on ranges
We have seen solid growth across our food categones We launched
a comprehensive update of our Healthy Lning range in January —
and customer feedback has been very good Qur Organics range 1s
sull growing well and Finest 1s now the UK's biggest brand - wath sales
of £1 2 hilhon Last week, we drd our first big event of the year on
Value, delivenng great prices for customers nght across the store

> On-shelf availability, which we measure using our in-store picking of
tesco com orders, has tmproved again and more customers are able
to buy everything they want when they shop at Tesco We have made
particularly strong progress on fresh availability wath projects including
better weather forecasting and working with our suppliers to reduce
lead times

> All 7,000 of our ehgible own-brand preducts now carry our GDA
nutntional signpost labels We have created a system that is easy to
understand and practical to use and sales data confirms we have
made a genuine 1mpact on customer behavicur
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Business Review continued

Step-Change We delivered efficiency savings of well over £350m in the
year, significantly ahead of plan, through our Step-Change programme,
which brings together many initiatives to make what we do better for
custorners, simpler for staff and cheaper for Tesco We have micked up the
pace of a number of these often long-terrn cross-funcuonal projects and
plan to deliver even higher sawvings in the current year of around £450m
Most of these savings are reinvested to improve our offer for custormers

Some examples of these projects are

> We have stepped up our iInvestment In energy saving across the business,
dehvenng sigruficant reductions in consumption and helping us to absorb
rnsing utrity costs

> Savings In supply chain from further improvernents in shelf-ready
merchandising, increased vehicle utihsation and more productive work
methods in depots and stores have nsen, with more to come

> The introduction of new checkout technology for stores, which 1s faster,
more accurate and easier for staff, has continued to reduce costs and
Improve customer service

> We now have nearly 3,000 employees at our Hindustan Support Centre
in Bangalore, India, which provides {T and administrative support to our
UK and International operations — from software development to
management accounting and payroil

New space We opened a total of 2 Om square feet of new sales area,

of which 489,000 square feet was in-store extensions, principally for Extra
We opened another 19 Extra hypermarkets — nine from extensions to
existing stores, ten from new stores, bringing the total to 166, with a further
11 planned this year Extra now represents 41% of our total sales area

We also opened 17 new superstores and 103 new Express stores, bnnging
the overall total number of Tesco stores to 1,608

Competition Commussion We are continuing to workwith the
Competition Commussion on the final stages of their inquiry into the
grocery industry We look forward to the publication shortly of their final
report This Is a very competitive Industry from which censumers benefit
hugely We hope that the regulatory authonties will give due weight to
this and to the need to avoid costly and burdensome new regulation,
which discourages the pace of mnovation that has served the industry
and consumers so well

Non-food operations

Tesca's general merchandise business has been resilient despite the
challenges posed by weakening demand in a number of categanes - and
It rernains an important contributor to our growth as we iImprove our offer
for customers to drive market share Because our customers increasingly
recogrise the quality, breadth and value of our offer, Tesco non-food sales,
whilst growing less rapidly than in previous years, remained robust and
again grew faster than our core business, helped by a successful first full
season for Tesco Dwect

Sales growth in the UKwas 9% in the year, with total non-food sales
Increasing to £8 3bn (included in reported UK sales) Sales growth
moderated in the second half, but in reducing to 8% growth aftera

10% mncrease in the first half, we were able to outperform strongly the
market for general merchandise as a whole We saw particularly pleasing
growth in hardlines, whilst clothing sales, though well ahead of the market,
grew more slowly— by 6% 1n the year as a whole Including £3 5bn

in International, where sales grew by 20% at constant prces, Group
non-food sales rose 12% to £11 8bn
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Entertainment sales strengthened during the second half, helped by a
stronger programme of new DVD and games releases The transition to
In-house sourcing of our entertainment offer has gone well Health & beauty
also saw an improving wend  Consumer electronics saw very strong growth
(319%), with particularly large increases In the sales of flat-screen televistons,
laptop computers and digital cameras Other stsong categories include DIY,
furniture and books

Tesco Direct Qurnew general merchandise business, which 1s designed
to extend the reach of our non-foed offer by making 1t more available to
customers who cannot access one of our Extra stores, 1s now established
and thrmng We started Tesco Direct in a low-keyway — with initially 8,000
products offered online and 1,500 by catalogue, including new categories
such as furmiture and last March, we successfully launched a more
comprehensive offer

Our latest catalogue, the third of our big books, which was launched

last month, demonstrates the growing strength of our ¢ffer We have
11,000 products online and 7,000 in the catalogue The breadth of mange

15 similar but we have refined the mix of products, increasing the proportion
of hugher ticket items  Service levels and avaifability for customers have also
seen steady improvement.

Customer response has been very positve with order volumes nsing season
by season As well as wider ranges, Tesco Direct provides customers with the
choice of ordenng online, by phone or in selected stores and the option to
pick up items from some stores 1s proving very popular We have desks in
200 stores with plans to add a further 80 by the end of the year, which will
mean that most areas of the countrywill be served

Sales are growing well, and last year, we comfortably exceeded our plan to
generate tumover In excess of £150m — delivenng sales of almost £180m
Start-up costs and mitial operating losses on Direct were £25rm, up on last
year and we expect these to reduce this year to around £20m

Homeplus We are extending the tnal of our general merchandise-only
stores to a further ten large sites, including cur new store at Cribbs Causeway,
Bristol, which will open this surmmer, selling some Tesco Direct products
from stack

Dobbies The acquisition of a majonty share in Dobbies Garden Centres
PLC was completed at the end of the first half and with our 65 5%
ownership of the business we are now implementing the strategy we
outlined for the business at the ttme the offer was announced Dobbies
15 @ strong business, already a teading innovator in 1ts market and with
Tesco's resources, 1t will be able to expand more rapidly towards national
coverage It will also becorne a platform for the group to encourage green
consumption — by developing an offer for customers who are looking for
sustainable solutions — frorm water recycling, to wind and solar power

In Apnl 2008, Dobbies announced an open offer of new shares to raise
£150m of additional capital to fund expansion

Retailing services operations

Our efforts to bring simplicity and value to sormetimes complicated
markets are behind the success of our retailing services businesses
Underpinning our services strategy 1s a strong economic model, based
around leveraging existing assets — either our own or a partner's — so that
we can simultaneously price our services competitively for customers
and also achieve hugh retums for shareholders
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Tesco Personal Finance (TPF) TPF s ten years old this year and 2007/8
was a successful one for our Joint venture with Royal Bank of Scotland —
with T 7m new customers being attracted by a substantial increase in its
range to 26 products, spanning credit cards to pet insurance and bureaux
de change New products were launched in health insurance, dental
insurance and internet savings accounts Mest products are available
online, where gver 50% of new sales are now made, after a 20% nse in
internet business in the year The Tesco Compare website, which allows
customers to compare price and non-price product features across a wide
range of prowiders, has been very successful

Whilst profits were flat in the year, this was after absorbing £31m of
additional home insurance claims hnked to last summer’s severe fioods
n Yorkshire and the Thames and Severn valleys

Tesco com had another excellent year, with our online businesses achieving
a 31% inarease In sales to £1 6bn and a 49% increase in profit to £124m
(before inital operating losses on Tesco Direct), helped by improved order
picking productivity Customer numbers once again saw strong growth —
we saw 20% growth In new customers during the year leaving more

than one million active custormers by the yearend Product availability

has improved again, with more customers receving everything they

order, and this has been helped by the strong growth In bag-less delivery
to customers, which was launched only in the first half but which now
represents 40% of all crders We have also seen an improvement in delivery
slot avallability of more than 10% and our Croydon dotcom-only store 15
now profitable and handling orders with a value of over £1m per week

Tesco Telecoms Qur telecomns business made very good progress, with
promising growth in sales across our mobile, hore phone and branded
phone operations Tesco Mobile, our joint venture with Oz, moved from

a smali loss in 2006/7 to an encouraging level of profitability — n its fifth
year of operation Sales were up 39% marnly as a result of strong growth
N its customer base, which grew by a quarter of a million during the year;
the second highest net subscriber increase in its market. Mobile also
remaned the best service for overal! custormner satisfaction throughout
2007 Hardware sales, tncluding handsets, grew well in the year, dnving
over 35% growth in our branded telecomns hardware business

Resources and relationships

Customers Our custormers have told us what they want from an ‘Every
httle helps’ shopping trip and this year 300,000 shared therr ideas on
how to improve the shopping trp for all customers, including those

who attended our in-store Customer Question Time sesstons Clubcard
also helps us to understand what our customers want, whilst allowing us
to thank them for shopping wath us — this year we gave away over £380m
in Clubcard vouchers In the next yearwe plan to launch versions of
Clubcard in Thailand, Hungary, Turkey, Slovakia and the Czech Republic

We don't always get it nght but we try to make our customers’ shopping
tnp as easy as possible, reduce prices where we can to help them spend
less and give them the conventence of shopping when and where they
want — in small stores, large stores or online

Employees With over 440,000 staff in 13 countries, we play an mportant
rale in creating employment, fostering skills and generating economic
develapment. Qur people are our most iImportant asset Looking after

our staff 5o that they can ook after cur customers 1s one of the core values
of the business We are committed to providing market-leading working
conditions for our staff and we encourage our supplhers to do the same

In the UK, we offer our staff a market-leading package of pay and benefits

Employee share schemes Through share ownership and share incentive
schemes, over 170,000 of our pecple have a personal stake in Tesco Staff
were awarded shares worth a record £85m last May under our Shares m
Success scheme 52,000 staff were able to benefit when Save As You Eam
schemes matured in February, gvng themn access to shares worth £175m

Traiming and development We are committed to developing our people
te bring out the best in everyone and do what we can to enable all our
people to reach their potential All our staff have access to training
programmes and personal development planning to ensure that they
have the nght skills to de theirjocb

Diversity and inclustvity We stnive to provide an inclusive environment
where all difference 15 valued, pecple are able to be themselves, enjoy
coming to work and realise therr full potential, regardless of ther gender,
marital status, race, age, sexual preference and cnentation, colour, creed,
ethnic ongin, religion or belief, or disability

Suppliers To be a successful, sustainable business we have to ensure
that our drnive to bring cheaper prices 1s achieved without compromising
our standards, reducing quality, damaging the enwvironment or harming
the supphers and workers who produce the goods we sell Sowe take a
partnership approach to workingwith suppliers — shaning our knowledge
and listening to suppliers’ feedback This includes providing technicat
expertise, advice and insight into custorner trends and making regular
payments, on bme

We are one of four signatories to the UK Governments statutory
Supermarkets Code of Practice Since the Code’s introductien we have

run tailored training for all Tesco buyers to promote understanding and
compliance If problermns do anise in supplier relationships we aim to air and
resolve thern through constructive discussion To aid this process, three years
ago we appointed a Code Complance Officer to hear formal complaints,
confidentially If requested, and we hope that our annual Supplier Viewpoint
Survey encourages suppliers to give us more feedback on our relationships
Our target 1s for feedback to show that at least 90% of our UK suppliers
view Tesco as being trustworthy, rehable, consistent, clear, helpful and far

We camy out ethical audits and target ourselves to cover 100% of our high
nisk own brand suppliers and ensure all commercial teamns have receved
training on supply chain labourstandards This year we camed out
significantly more audits than the previous year — 455 compared to 221
However the nurnber of sites to be audited also increased significantly to
623 and were disproportionately allocated a high nskrating as the business
cantinues to expand Into non-foed areas The introduction of the Sedex
risk assessment teol In September 2007 also had an impact as a proportion
of medium nsk suppliers were redassified as high risk As these changes
did not occur untll late in the finanoial year and resources had already been
allocated to improving our auditng prograrmnme, we failed to meet our
target. To help us meet our target in future years, we have increased the
resource In our ethical trading team to cope with the higher number of
suppliers as our business grows

Community, environment and corporate responsibility

People tell us theywant us to use our size and reach to be a force for good
In society To help us meet this challenge we deaided in 2006 to introduce
a new Commumity Plan This 1s part of our Steering Wheel, setting out
objectives that the business will deliver It will ensure we provide the nght
resources, energy and focus to meet the expectations of our custorners and
other stakeholders in this area
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Business Review continued

We have made significant progress this year on the Community Plan

and on our key cbjectives of being a good neighbour in the communibes
we serve and being far, responsible and honest, particularly on the
environment. This has been recogmised through our continued inclusion
in FTSE4Good and Dow Jones Sustainability indices

Environment \We have made stndes towards a revolution in green
consumpticn = Incentvising the environmental opuon and making
1t affordable

> Through our unigue Green Clubcard scherme, we have reduced carner
bag use by over one billion, more than any other retaller, and we are on
track to save an extra billign bags in the next year We are also on target
to sell ten million energy-efficient lightbulbs i a year as part of the
Climate Group's ‘Together’ campaign

> We have halved our energy use per square foot since 2000, two years
ahead of target. In the UK, the carbon mntensity of our new stores opened
after 1 March 2006 has been reduced by 22% since last year Partly
through innovations like transporting wine by canal, we have cut aur
UK €Oz emissions per case delivered by over 10% over the past year

> We have invested £25m to create a Sustainable Consumption Institute at
Manchester University Bnnging together world-leading experts from vanous
disciplines, the Institute will help lead the way to a low-carbon ecanomy

> We opened our fourth UK environmental store in Shrewsbury in 2007,
and have now built environmental stores 1n six countnes outside the UK,
Our Shrewsbury store has a carbon footpnint 60% lower than a standard
store of a comparable size 1t makes use of more natural light, recycted
and re-useable matenals and the UK’s first fleet of battery-powered
home deliveryvans We have also invested significantly in energy-saving
technology in China, the Czech Republic, Hungary, Ireland, Poland,
Slovaksa, South Korea, Turkey, Thalland and the US

Nutrition We continued our roll-out of front-of-pack GDA nutntional
labeling across the group including Turkey, South Korea and Poland, where
33% of our products are now labelled, and ireland, which now includes
over 5,000 labelled food 1tems Customers tell us they find these labels very
helpful 1 making Informed choices n the UK, we are still the onfy supermarket
where all relevant products carry the (abels — over 7,000 in total - with

a further 13,000 now aiso carmed on manufacturer-branded goods

Community Our staff achieved our most successful ‘Chanty of the Year’
ever, raising £4 4m for the Briush Red Cross As well as donating £100,000
to the Bntish Red Cross flood appeal last surminer, our staff provided
essential hygiene, food items and much of the bottled water for affected
communities in key parts of the South-West

We have opened five new regional buying offices in England, joining the
existing offices in Scotland, Wales and Northem lreland We introduced
1,000 new local lines last year taking the total to over 3,000 We now sell
200,000 hitres of ‘localchaice’ milk each weekn the UK, helping customers
to support small dary farmers in therr local area

We have helped 1 5m pegple to get acuve this year, inciuding through

, Cancer Research UK’ Race for Life, which saw 665,000 people taking part

n 5km runs, including over 21,000 Tesco staif

We launched a new partnership with the Football Association (FA) as

part of our plan to help two mullion people get active in the run up to the
London 2012 Olympics The FA Tesco Skills Programme supports grassioots
foatball, tnspiring children between ages 5 and 11 to get actve in therr
local communities We have already delivered football coaching to over
250,000 chuldren
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We also continue to make a difference locally through our Computers for
Schools programme which now offers ‘eco-quiet’ PCs as part of & catalogue
of over 700 products Since the stant of the scheme 16 years ago we have
givert away over £118m worth of equipment. Through new store openings
and refits in China we have sponsored more than 7,000 disadvantaged
students to cover their schooling and textbooks In Poland, half the schools
(15,000) took part in their sixth year of Tesco for Schools, whilst in Hungary,
we set up local partnerships with schools and colleges, donating around
£50,000 and contnbuting recycled computers

This year, we have launched Community Plans in eight countnies bringing
together a @nge of community, environmental and health projects,
tailored 1o local market needs and the remaining three will be starting
soon A number of our more mature markets now have comprehensive
community and environment programmes En South Korea, for example,
we have 50 culture centres In our siores which offer up to 350 different
educational and cultural programmes ranging from dance to cookery
classes

The year ahead

> We will take the reduction of single-use carrier bags to the next level,
achieving a 50% reduction compared to 2006 by continuing to focus
on tncentives rather than penalties

> We wll faunch the first phase of our tnal for carbon labelling our products
in the coming weeks, in conjunction wath the Carbon Trust, and wili help
customers become familiar with the new currency of CO,

> We will appoint Community Champions to 50 stores These members
of staff are dedicated to making sure that our stores reach out to more
people n local communities

> We will support our new Charnity of the Year, Mane Cune Cancer Care,
to fund an additional 125,000 hours of nursing care for terminalty
ill patients

> We will build the largest privately-funded solar facility m the
Czech Republic at our Postnzin distnbution centre

Alcohol Earher this year we made an offer to government that we would
play a positive part in any discussions initlated by thern on measures

to ensure a responsible approach w alcohol pnang and promotions
Competition law prevents the industry from taking this forward n
collaboration We maintain this offer and have in the meantirne reinforced
our responsible ‘Think 21’ approach by giving staff further dedicated
training on responsible alcohof sales, with a particutar focus on the social
and health impacts of under-age dnnking We are also talking to customers
about the rale we can play in tackiing problem dnnking and how we can
better help them make responsible choices

Risks and uncertainties

Introduction Riskis an accepted part of doing business The real
challenge for any business 1s {o identify the principal nsks it faces and to
develop and monitor appropniate controls A successful nsk management
process balances nsks and rewards and relies on a sound judgement of
therr likelthood and consequence

The Board has overalt respansibility for nsk management and intemal
control within the context of achieving the Group’s objectives Our process
for identifing and managing nisks 1s set out in more detaill from page 22
of the Corporate Governance secton of this Annual Report and Financial
Statements The key nsks faced by the Group and relevant mitigating
factors are set out below

Business strategy If our strategy follows the wrong direction oris not
effectively comrmunicated then the business may suffer We need to
understand and properly manage strategic nisk in order to delver long-term
growth for the benefit of all our stakeholders Cur strategy 1s based on five
elements to grow the core UK business, be as strong in non-food as in
feod, develop retailing services, become a successful Intemational retailer
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and put the community at the heart of what we do Pursuit of this five-part
strategy has allowed the business to diversify and, at a strategic level,
diversification and pursuit of growth in emerging markets have the effect
of reducing overall nisk by avoiding reliance on a small number of business
areas However, by its very nature, diversification also introduces new

nisks to be managed in areas of the business that are less mature and

less fully understood

Ta ensure the Group continues to pursue the nght strategy, the Board
discusses strategic issues at every Board meeting, and dedicates two full
days ayear to reviewing the Group's strategy The Executive Committee
also holds spearfic sessions to discuss strategy on a regular basis We have
structured prograrmmes for engaging with all our stakeholders including
customers, employees, Investors, supphers, government, media and
non-governmental organisations We also invest significant resources in
ensuring our strategy Is communicated well and understood by the parties
who are key to delivering it. The business operates a Steenng Wheel -

a balanced scorecard process wherebywe set goals for different areas of
the business and assess our overall progress on a quarterly basis —in all
countries and significant business units such as Dotcom to help manage
performance and delver business strategy

Fimancial strategy and Group treasury risk The mamn financial nsks
of the Group relate to the availabiiity of funds to meet business needs,
the nisk of default by counterparties to financial transactions, and
fluctuations in interest and foreign exchange rates

The Treasury function 1s mandated by the Board to manage the financial
nsks that anse In relation to underlying business needs The function has
clear policies and operating parameters, and s activities are routinely
reviewed and audited The function does not operate as a profit centre and
the undertaking of speculative transactions 1s not permutted A description
of the role of the Finance Committee and Internal and External Audit 15 set
out in the Corporate Governance sectien on page 23

Operational threats and performance risk in the business There s a
risk that our business may not deliver the stated strategy in full, particularly
since, like all retailers, the business Is susceptible to economic downtum
that could affect consumer spending The continuing acquisition and
development of property sites also forms an intrinsic part of aur strategy
and this carries inherent risks

We try to deliver what customers want better than our competitors by
understanding and responding to their behaviour Al} of our busimess units
have stretching targets based on the Steenng Wheel and the performance
of busimess units 15 menitored continuatlly and reported regularly to the
Beard We manage the acquisiton and development of our property assets
carefully We consider and assess in detail every site at each stage of
acquisition and development and ensure that relevant action Is taken

to minimise any nsks

Chur aim is to have broad appeal to all customers i our different markets,
minimising the impact of changes to the economic chmate

Competition and consohdation The retail industry 1s highly cempetitive
The Group competes with a wide vartety of retailers of varying sizes and
faces increased competition from UK retaillers as well as intemational
operators in the UK and overseas

Failure to compete with competitors on areas including price, product
range, quality and service could have an adverse effect on the Group’s
financial results

We aim to have a broad appeal in price, range and store format in a way
that allows us to compete in different markets We track performance
against a range of measures that customers tell us are cntical to their
shopping trip expenence and we constantly monitor customer perceptions
of ourselves and cur competitors to ensure we can respond quickly if we
need to

People capabilities Our greatest asset s our employees Itis critical to
our success to attracy, retain, develop and motivate the best people with the
nght capabilities at all levels of operations We review our people policies
regularly and are committed to nvesting in training and developrment and
incentives for our people Our ‘Talent Planning’ process helps ndmduals
achieve ther full potential We also carry out succession planning to ensure
that the needs of the business going forward are considered and provided
for There are clear processes forunderstanding and responding to
employees’ needs through our Peaple Matters Group, staff surveys,
regular performance reviews, involvernent of trade umons in relevant
markets and regular communication of business developments

Reputational nisk As the largest retatler n the UK, expectattons of the
Group are high Failure to protect the Group’s reputation and brand could
lead to a loss of trust and confidence This could result in a decline in the
customer base and affect the ability to recruit and retain good people

Like other companies we must consider potential threats to our reputation
and the consequences of reputational damage Emotional loyalty to the
Tesco brand has helped us diversify Into new areas like retall services and
non-food and we recognise the commercial imperative to do the nght thing
for all our stakeholders and avoid the loss of such loyalty The ‘Tesco Values'
are embedded In the way we do business at every level and our Code of
Ethics guides our behaviour in our dealings with customers, employees

and suppliers

We engage with stakeholders in every sphere o take into account their
views and we try to ensure our strategy reflects them The launch of the
Community Ptan in 2006 has demonstrated our commitment to tackling
awide range of societal and envionmental issues We have high level
committees, including the Executive Commuttee, Corporate Responsibility
Committee and Compliznce Commuttee, to help guide and monitor

our policies

Environmental nsks Qur key environmental nsks are related to
mIniMising energy usage m stores and transportation, waste management
and our ability to respond to consumer cancerns th this area We develop
environmental policy through engaging with key stakeholders and experts
in this field to achieve sustainable growth and mininuse our environmental
impacts The Group’s appreach 1s brought together in a consistent manner
by the Executive Commiitee

Poltcy 1s reviewed regularly by the Executive Commuttee, Compliance
Commuttee and Corporate Respensibility Committee We recognise the
opportunities for competitive advantage through energy efficiency and
look for continuous improvement through innovations and better ways
to help customers act responsibly towards the environment.

Product safety The safety and qualty of our products 1s of paramount
importance to Tesco as well as being essential for maintaining customer
trust and confidence A breach in confidence could affect the size of our
customer base and hence financal results

We have detailed and established procedures for ensuring product integnty
at all imes, especially for our own-label products There are stnct product
safety processes and regular management reports We work in partnership
with supplers to ensure mutual understanding of the standards required
We also monitor developments in areas such as health, safety and nutnitton
in order to respond appropnatelyto changing customer trends and new
legislation We have clear processes for cnsis managemnent, pulling together
expert teams should we need to respond quickly on issues
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Business Review continued

Health and safety risks While the safety of our staff and customets 1s of
the utmost iImportance to us, If we are unable to provide safe environments
for our staff and customers this could lead to injunes or loss of Iife

We operate stringent health and safety processes in Iine with best practice
n our stores, distnbution centres and offices, which are monitored and
audited regulary KPIs for preventing health and safety moidents form an
intninsic part of our Steenng Wheels across the business, and performance
agamst these KPls 15 reported quarterly Our Group Comphance Committee
and the compliance committees in our intemational businesses monitor the
leve] of comphance with health and safety laws and our intemal pohicies on
aregular basis

Ethical nsks in the supply chain More than 1 8 rillion people in over
90 countnes work for direct supplers to Tesco and the supply chain 1s made
of complex relationships — from individual farmers and growers through to
processors, manufacturers and distnibutors At the heart of our values ts our
belief that we shauld treat people aswe like 1o be treated and we have a
responstbility to help workers in our supply chain enyjoy fair labour standards
We therefore require our suppliers to meet strict criteria on labour standards,
and as a founder member of the Ethical Trading Initative (ETI) we expect
all our supplrers to follow the ETI base code and guarantee their workers the
nghts set out within it. There 1s, however, a nsk that any part of the supply
chatn right not adhere to these hugh standards

To mimnimise this nskwe only work with suppiiers who can demonstrate that
they are commmutted to the ET1 code and share ourvalues We use Supplier
Ethical Data Exchange (SEDEX) to carry out nsk assessment of all our
direct suppliers and all medium and high-nisk suppliers must undergo an
extensive, Independent ethical audit We have in the last year introduced

a comprehensive pragramme of audit mprovemnents, including more
unannounced audits, a new Trading Fairly strategy and an industry-leading
Auditor Recogrution programme, which involves our use only of indmwdual
auditors who have been assessed for competence We have also sought to
involve more multi-stakeholder representatives on our audits to Improve
workforce engagement and enable activists to see and feedback on our
approach We workwith suppliers to identify any problems and, where they
exist, support them in taking action to improve standards for their workers

We have also invested heawvly in building the labour standards capabilities
of our supphers and cur own commercial teams in the last year, including
rolling out extensive training, to help them identfy and avoid 1ssues before
they anse We also workwith businesses, governments, Nen-governmental
organisations (NGOs) and others to tackle complex and systemic problems
that we cannot solve on our own As well as having a key role in the ETl we
also work closely with the Global Social Compliance Programme and other
groups n specific ndustres or regions, Including the Wine and Agneulture
Ethical Trade Association in South Afnca and the Environmental Justice
Foundation in Uzbekistan

Fraud and compliance As the business grows in size and geographical
spread, the nsk of occurrence of fraudulent behaviour by our employees
ncreases Whilst the vast majonty of our staff are completely honest, there
remains the potenual for fraud and other dishonest actwity at all levels of
the business from the shop floor to senior management

The Group takes extensive steps to reduce this nsk. Relevant accounting
and other procedures and controls at all levels are clearty set out and
audited across the business to reduce the nskof fraud The Group gives
clear guidance on behawiour to employees through the Tesco Values and
the Code of Ethics Internal Audit undertakes detailed investigations into all
areas of the business and highlights its findings to the Audit Commuttee
The Comphance Commuttee formulates and monitors the implementation
of, and compliance with appropnate policies on key areas of ethical
behaviour, including fraud
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Property We have stretching targets for delivening new space in the
UK and averseas, and may face challenges in finding suitable sites and
obtaining planning or other consents to enable sites to be acquired and
developed The complexity of many of our property developments is
increasing, especially the growing number of muxed-use schemes

We also have to complywith design and construction standards which
vary significantly from country to country

Our Property Acguisiiton Committees and other reflated committees in

the UK, Europe, Asia and the US dosely control all aspects of the property
acquisitien, planning and censtruction pracesses, 10 ensure that applicable
standards are met and financial nsks are minimised Our Group and
country compliance cormrmitiees also momitor compliance with applicable
legal and regulatory requiremnents in all aspects of our property actrities

Non-food risks As the proportion of our business represented by
non-food products increases, there 15 a nsk that a downturn in consumer
confidence may affect the level of demand for products which consumers
may regard as non-essential

We make every effort to ensure that our non-food products are
competitively priced to offer a broad range of products ranging from value
to the luxury end of the market, in order to cater for the needs of as wide
a range of customers as possible

IT systems and infrastructure The business 1s dependent on efficent
nformation technology (IT) systems Any sigrficant farlure in the IT
processes of our retall ocperations (e ¢ barcode scanning or supply chain
logistics) would 1mpact our ability to trade We recogrise the essential role
that IT plays across our operations in allowing us to trade efficiently and
so that we can achieve commercial advantage through implementing

[T innovations that improve the shopping tnp for customers and make life
easler for employees We have extensive controls in place to maintam the
tntegnty and effiaency of our IT infrastructure and we share systems from
across eur International operations to enswre consistency of delivery

Regulatery and political environment We are subject to a wide vanety
of regulations in the different countnes in which we operate because of
the diverse nature of our business Tesco may be impacted by regulatory
changes in key areas such as planning laws, trading hours, and tax rules as
well as by scrutiny by the competition authonties, who have been carrying
out enguines in the UK, Ireland and elsewhere We may also be impacted
by politicat developments in the countrtes in which we operate We consider
these uncertainties m the external emvironment when developing strategy
and reviewing performance We remain wigilant to future changes As part
of our day-to-day operations we engage with governmental and non-
governrmental orgarusations to ensure the views of our customers and
employees are represented and try to anticipate and contribute to
important changes in public policy wherever we operate

Activism and terronsm A major inadent or terrorist event incapacitating
management, systerns or stores could impact on the Group's ability to
trade In addition to contingency plans, we have security systems and
processes that reflect best practice

Pension risks The Group’s penston arangements are an Important part
of our employees’ overall benefits package especially in the UK. We see
themn as a strong contnbutor to our ability to attract and retain good people,
our Group’s greatest asset. Since the implementation of IAS 19 there 1s a
nsk that the accounting valuation deficit (which 15 recorded as a lability on
the Group Balance Sheet) could increase if returns on corporate bonds

are higher than the investment return on the pension scheme’s assets

The Group has considered its penston nsks and has taken actron by reducing
riskin Its investment strategy
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Joint venture governance and partnerships As we continue to enter
into new partnerships and joint ventures as well as developing existing
arrangements, there remains an inherent nsk 1 managing these
partnerships and joint ventures [t 1s more difficult to guarantee the
achievernent of joint goals that affect our partners and we rely on partners
to help achteve such goals We may also be impacted by reputational 1ssues
which affect our partners We choose partners with good reputations

and set out joint goals and clear contractual armangements from the

outset. We monitor performance and governance of our joint ventures

and partnerships

Financial review

The main financial nsks faced by the Group relate to the availability of
funds to meet business needs, the nisk of default by counterparties to
finaneial transactions, and fluctuatians In interest and foreign exchange
rates These risks are managed as described below The Group Balance
Sheet position at 23 February 2008 1s representative of the position
throughout the year

Funding and liquidity The Group finances its operations by a combination
of retained profits, long and medium-term debt, capital market issues,
commeraal paper, bank borrowmgs and leases The objective 1s to ensure
conttnuity of funding The policy 15 to smooth the debt matunty profile, to
amange funding ahead of requirements and to mainta:mn sufficent undrawn
committed bank facilities, and a strong credit rating so that maturing debt
may be refinanced as 1t falls due

The Group’s long-terrn credit rating remained stable duning the year Tesco
Group 1s rated A1 by Moody’s and A+ by Standard and Poors New funding
of £3 Obn was aranged dunng the year, including a net £0 9bn from
property transactions, £1 1bn from an issue of US denominated sentor
notes and £1 0bn from mediem-term notes (MTNs) At the year end, net
debt was £6 2bn (last year £4 9bn)

Interest rate nsk management The objective 15 to limit our exposure to
Increases n interest rates while retaning the opportunity to benefit from
interest rate reductions Ferward rate agreements, interest rate swaps,
caps and collars are used to achieve the desired mix of fixed and floating
rate debt.

The policy 1s to fix or cap a mimimum of 40% of actual and projected

debt interest costs At the year end, £2 5bn of debt was in fixed rate

form (last year £2 3bn) with a further £0 9bn of debt capped or collared,
therefore 55% (2007 - 67%) of net debt 1s fixed, capped or collared The
remaning balance of our debt 15 1n floating rate form The average rate of
interest paid on a historic cost basis excluding joint ventures and associates
this year was 4 5% (last year 4 8%}

Foreign currency nisk management Qur pnncipal objective 1s to reduce
the effect of exchange rate volatility on short-term profits Transactional
currency exposures that could sigmificantly impact the Group Income
Statement are hedged, typically using forward purchases or sales of foreign
currencies and currency options At the year end, forward foreign currency
transactrons, destgnated as cash flow hedges, equivalent to £1,198m were
outstanding (2007 — £764m} as detailed in note 20 We hedge the majonty
of our investments in our intemational subsidianes via foreign exchange
transactions in matching currencies Our objective 1s to maintain a low cost
of borrowing and hedge against materal movements in our Group Balance
Sheet value During the year, currency movernents increased the net value
of the Group’ overseas assets by £284m (last year increase of £77m)

We translate overseas profits at average foreign exchange rates which

we do not currently seek to hedge

Credit nsk The objective 15 to reduce the nsk of loss ansing from default
by parttes to finanaial transactions across an approved list of counterparties
of high credit quality The Group’s positions with these counterparties and
their credit ratings are routinely momtored

Tesco Personal Finance (TPF) TPF lending 1s predommantly to
individuals through its credit card and unsecured personal foan products
TPF has also developed a significant insurance business, with motor
insurance a mager component, TPF nsk s managed by ebserving and
adopting industry best practices and drawing upon the expertise and
systems of the Royal Bank of Scotland Group, including its subsidiary
Direct Line

All policies pertaining to nskwathin TPF are subject to the governance
procedures of the Royal Bank of Scotland Group and ratified by the TPF
Board, which has representation from both Tesco and the Royal Bank of
Scotland Group This has delivered a portfolio of products with strong asset
quahty This asset quality 1s mamtained through proactive nsk management,
both at the vme of acquisitton and ongoing account maintenance

The Tesco Group would support its 50% share of any further funding TPF
rmight require to sustain iquidity ratios However, we beheve that provisions
for bad debts and insurance losses (supported by re-insurance of significant
risks) are at prudent levels

Insurance We purchased Assets, Earrungs and Combined Liability
protection from the open insurance market at ‘catastrophe’ level only

The nsknot transferred to the msurance market 1s retained within the
business by using our captive Insurance companies, Tesco Insurance Limited
in Guemnsey and Valiant Insurance Company Limited in the Republic of
freland Tesco Insurance Limited <overs Assets and Eamings, while Vahant
[nsurance Company Limited covers Combined Liability

Statement of comphance

This Business Review has been prepared in accordance with the
requirements for a business review under the Companies Acts 1985
and 2006

The Business Review’s intent 15 to provide information to shareholders
and should not be relied on by any other party or for any other purpose

Cautionary statement regarding forward-looking information
Whera this review contains forward-looking statements, these are made
by the Directors in good faith based on the information available to them
at the time of their approval of this report. These statemnents should be
treated with caution due to the inherent nsks and uncertainties undertying
any such forward-looking information

The Group cautions investors that a number of important factors, including
those in this document, could cause actual results to differ matenally from
those contained in any forward-looking statement. Such factors include,
but are not limited to, those discussed under ‘Risks and uncertainties’

an pages 14 to 17 of this document.

Other information

Addittonat financial and non-finanaal information, including press
releases and year end presentations, can be accessed on our website
www tesco comiannualreport(8 and alse in our Corporate Responsibility
Review 2008
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General information

Principal activity, business review and future developments The
prnapal activity of the Group 1s retailling and associated actvities in the
UK, the Republic of Ireland, Hungary, Poland, the Czech Republic, Slovaka,
Turkey, Thafand, South Korea, Malaysia, Japan, China and the US

For a review of the bustness of the Group incleding a description of the
key activities, future developments and an analysis of the key risks and
uncertainties (Including financial nsk management strategy), see the
Business Review on pages 3 to 17 of this document

Group rasults Group revenue rose by £4 7bn to £47 3bn, representing
an merease of 11% Group profit before tax increased by £150m, to
£2,803m Profit for the year was £2,130m, of which £2,124m was
atiributable to equity holders of the Parent Company

Dividends The Directors recommend the payment of a final dvidend
of 7 70p per ordinary share, to be paid on 4 July 2008 to members on
the Register at the close of bustness on 25 Aprl 2008 Togetherwith the
interim dividend of 3 20p per ordinary share paid in December 2007, the
total dmdend for the year will be 10 90p compared with 9 84p for the
previous year, an (ncrease of 13 1%

Fixed assets Capital expenditure {(excluding business combinations}
amaunted to £3 9bn compared with £3 Obn the previous year In the
Directors’ opimion, the properties of the Group have a market value In
excess of the carmying value of £16 9bn induded in these financal
statements [n the yearwe received net proceeds of approximately £860m
from our new propetty joint venture with The British Land Company PLC
and property disposals to Prudential plc

Share capstal The authonsed and called-up share capital of the Company,
togetherwith details of the shares allotted and bought back during the
year, are shown In note 25 of the financial statements Detalls of treasury
shares held by Tesco PLC are shown in note 26 of the financial statements

Company's shareholders The Company has been notified that as at
the date of this report, the following shareholders own more than 3%
of the 1ssued share capital of the Company-

Legal & General Assurance (Pensions Management Limited) 4 97%
Barclays 4 29% (Barclays Global Investors — 1 72%, Barclays PLC - 2 57%)

Except for the above, the Company ts not aware of any ordinary
shareholders with interests of 3% or more in the 1ssued share capital
of the Company

Articles of Association The Company's Articles of Association may only
be amended by special resolution at a Generaf Meeting of the shareholders
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Directors and theirinterests The Directors who served during the
year were

> MrD E Reid, > MrDT Potts,

> MrRF Chase CBE, > Mr CLAllen CBE,

> SirTerry Leahy, > Mrs K Cook,

> MrR Brasher; > MrE M Dawvies CBE,
> MrPA Clarke, > DrH Emsmann,

> MrATHgginson, > MrKJ Hydon,

> MrT JR Mason, > Ms € McCall, and

» Miss LNewlle-Rolfe (MG

Ms McCall resigned fram the Board on 10 Apnl 2008

The biographical details of the present Directors are set out in the
separately published Annual Review end Summary Financial Statement 2008

Mr Allen, Mr Chase, Mrs Cook, Dr Einsmann, Sir Terry Leahy and Mr Mason
retire from the Board by retation and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election The interests of Directors and therr immedsate families in the
shares of Tesco PLC, along with detalls of Directors’ share options, are
contained in the Directors’ Remunertion Report set out on pages 25 to 38

At no time dunng the year did any of the Directors have a matenal interest
In any significant contract with the Company or any of its subsidianes

A qualifying third-party indemnity provision as defined in Section 309 B (1)
of the Companies Act 1985 15 in force for the benefit of each of the
Directors and the Company Secretary (who 15 also a Director of certain
subsidianes of the Campany) 1n respect of habilites incurred as a resuilt

of therr office, to the extent permitted by faw In respect of those habilities
for which Directors may not be indemnified, the Company maintained a
Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policy throughout the financial year

Employment policies The Group depends on the skills and commitment
of 1ts employees in order to achieve its objectives Staff at every level are
encouraged to make their fullest possible contnbution to the success of
Tesco A key business priority 1s to deliver an ‘Every Iittle helps’ shopping
experience for customers Cngoing trairung programmes seek to ensure
that employees understand the Group’s customer service objectives and
strive to achieve them The Group’s selection, training, development and
promaotion policies ensure equal opportunities for all employees regardless
of factors such as gender, marital status, race, age, sexual preference and
onentation, colour, creed, ethnic ongin, religion or belief, or disability

All decisions are based on merit.

Internal communications are designed to ensure that employees are well
informed about the business of the Group These include a new staff
newspaper ‘The One' and the equivalents in our overseas businesses,
wideos and staff briefing sessions Staff opinions are frequently researched
through surveys and store visits We work to delwver ‘Every Iittle helps’ for
all our people across the Group Employees are encouraged to become
irvolved in the financial performance of the Group through a vanety of
schemes, principally the Tesco employee profit-shanng scheme (Ghares in
Success), the savings-related share opton scheme (Save As You Eam) and
the partnership share plan (Buy As You Earn)
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Political and chantable denations Cash donations to chanties
amounted to £22,655,173 (2007 — £17,698,393) Contnbutions to
community projects incleding cause-related marketing, gifts-in-kind,

staff tme and management costs amounted to £54,542,913 (2007 —
£43,412,965) There were no political donations (2007 = £ml) During the
year, the Group made contributions of £45,023 (2007 - £41,608) in the
form of spensorship for political events Labour Party £13,040, Liberal
Democrat Party £5,850, Conservative Party £5,786, Scotush Labour Party
£500, Scottish National Party £2,000, Fine Gael £1,397, Plard Cymru £450,
trade unions £16,000

Suppler payment policy Tesco PLC 15 a signatory to the CBI Code

of Prompt Payment Copies of the Code may be obtained from the CBI,
Centre Point, 103 New Oxford Street, London WC1A 10U Payment terms
and conditions are agreed with suppliers in advance Tesco PLC has no
trade creditors on its Balance Sheet The Group pays its creditors on a
pay on time basis which varies according to the type of product and
temtory in which the suppliers operate

Gong concern The Directors consider that the Group and the Company
have adequate resources to remain in operation for the foreseeable future
and have therefore continued to adopt the going concern basis in prepanng
the financial statements As with all business forecasts, the Directors’
statement cannot guarantee that the going concem basis will remain
appropnate given the inherent uncertainty about future events

Events after the Balance Sheet date

On 9 Aprl 2008, Dobbies Garden Centres PLC, a majority owned subsidiary
of the Group, announced plans to raise £150m through an open offer

of shares Dobbies Garden Centres PLC wall seek shareholder approval at
an Annual General Meeting on 21 May 2008 to tssue up to 12 45 million
shares on a six for five basis at 1,200p per share Tesco PLC will underwrite
the offer

Auditers Aresclution to re-appont PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as
auditors of the Company and the Group will be proposed at the Annual
General Meeting

Directors’ statement of disclosure of information to auditors

Having made the requisite enquines, the Directors in office at the date

of this Annual Report and Financial Statements have each confirmed that,
so far as they are aware, there Is no relevant audit information (as defined
by Section 234 ZA of the Companies Act 1985) of which the Group’s
auditors are unaware, and each of the Directors has taken all the steps
he/she ought to have taken as a Director to make himselffherself aware

of any relevant audit information and to estabhish that the Group's
auditors are aware of that information

This confirmation 1s grven and shoudd be interpreted in accordance with
the provisions of Section 234 ZA of the Companies Act 1985

Annual General Meeting (AGM) A separate arcular explains
the specral business to be considered at the Annual General Meeting
on 27 June 2008
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Corporate governance

Directors’ report on corporate governance

Tesco PLC recognises that good governance helps the business to delver
strateqgy, generate shareholdervalue and safeguard shareholders’ long-term
interests, and we are committed to the highest standards of corporate
governance The Board considers that Tesco PLC comphed n all respects
with the Combined Code Pninaiples of Corporate Governance and Code

of Best Practice for the year ended 23 February 2008

Thus secton describes the Board's approach to corporate governance

Board composition and independence

As at 23 February 2008, the Board of Tesco PLC comprised seven Executive
Directors, seven independent Non-executive Directors and Mr D E Rerd,
Non-executive Chairman Mr R F Chase 1s Deputy Chairman and Semior
Independent Nan-executive Director

All Directors have to subrrut themselves for re-election at least every three
years If they wish to continue serving and are considered by the Board

to be eligible New Dhrectors are submitted for election by shareholders

in ther first year following appomntment,

Both MrC L Allen and Dr H Einsmann have served on the Board for
nine years The Chairman has conducted a thorough reviewwith each
Directer to assess his independence and contnbuttons to the Board

and confirmed that they both continue to be effective independent
Non-executive Directors Mr Allen brings extensive corporate operational
expertence and knowledge of the media industry and provides leadership
for the Remuneration Commuttee Through his wealth of business
experience Dr Einsmann contributes a valued dimension to the Board

In terms of international marketing, brand building and human resource
development Both Mr Allen and Dr Einsmann wiil retire and offer
themselves for re-election at this year's Annual General Meeting and
annually thereafter

The Chairman has primary responsibility for running the Board The Chief
Executive, Str Terry Leahy, has executive respensibilities for the operations
and results of the Group and making proposals to the Board for the
strategre development of the Group Clear dwmisions of accountabality

and responsibility exist and operate effectively for these positions

The Board requires all Non-executive Directors to be independent in
their )Judgement The structure of the Board and the integnty of the
individual Directors ensure that no single individual or group dominates
the deuston-making process

Biographies for the Directors can be found on pages 26 and 27 of the
Annual Review and Summary Financial Statement 2008

Board responsibilities

The Board normally meets eight umes a year, as well as annually devoting
two days to a Board strategy conference The Board has set out a clear
Schedule of Matters Reserved for Board Dedsion in order to ensure its
overall control of the Group’s affars These include the determination

of strategy, the approval of financial statements, major acquisitions and
dispesals, authonty levels for expenditure, treasury policies, nsk management,
Group governance policies and succession planning for senior executives
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All Directors have access to the semces of the Company Secretary and
may take independent professional adwice at the Company's expense

n conducting therr duties The Company prowvides insurance cover and
indemnities for its Directors and officers

All new Directors recewve a personalised inductton programme, tailored
to therr experience, background and particular areas of focus, which 1s
designed to develop their knowledge and understanding of the Group’s
culture and operations The programme will usually include an overview
of the business mode! and Board processes, meetings with the Executive
team and senior managers, site visits at home and abroad and briefings
on key issues (including soctal, ethical and environmental (SEE) 1ssues)
Directors will also receve an induction to those Board Committees he or
she will serve on

The nead for Director traiming 1s regularly assessed by the Board and regular
training sessions are arranged to provide an opportunity for upskilling

of the Direciors on a vanety of areas relevant to the Group’s business,
including SEE 1ssues In the coming year the Board proposes to hold
training sessions focusing, inter alia, on the Tesco Operating Model and
the imphcations of climate change on the business

The Board usually holds at least one meeting overseas each year to facllitate
the Directors’ understanding of the Group’s international operations

Board processes

The Board governs thraough a number of statutory Board Committees -
the Audit, Remuneration and Nominations Committees — to which certain
responsibilities and duties are delegated These Commuttees are properly
authansed under the consutution of the Company to take decisions and
act on behalf of the Board within the parameters laid down by the Board
The Board 1s kept fully informed of the work of these Committees and any
Issues requinng rasolution witl be referred to the full Board as appropnate
A summary of the operations of these Commuttees Is set out below

The effectiveness of the Audit, Remuneration and Nominations
Comrruttees is underpinned by ther Non-executive Director membership,
which prowides independent insight on governance matters Copies

of each Commuittee’s Terms of Reference are available on ourwebsite
www tesco comiannualreportQ8/boardprocess The Board is serviced by
the Company Secretary, who reports to the Chairman in respect of his
core duties to the Board

Nominations Committee The Nominations Commmuttee leads the process
for Board appointments and the re election and successton of Directors,
as well as making recommendatons for the membershup of statutory
committees The Committee 1s chaired by Mr Rerd and its members
dunng the year were Mr Allen, Mr Chase, Mrs Cook, Mr Davies,

Dr Ensmann, Mr Hydon, Ms McCall and Sir Terry Leahy The Company
Secretary also attends in his capacity as Secretary of the Committee
Where matters discussed relate to the Charman, the Senror Independent
Non-executive Director chairs the meettng The Nermnations Commuittee
met in April 2008 to discuss the ongoing shape and capability of the
Board Aswell as reviewtng the performance and development of the
Executive Directors and the semior executive levels below the Board,

the Commuttee also regularly reviews board structure, size, composition,
warking arrangements and capability, and considers successton plans

for Executive and Non-executive Directors

www tesco.comfannualreport08




Members’ attendance during the year ended 23 February 2008

Boad N
meetngs

Rem s
Commutiee

Audit

Committee? Commuttee

Number of meetings held

8 1 7 5

Non-executive Directors

Mr D E Reid {Chaimman)

Mr C LAllen CBE

Mr R F Chase CBE (Semior Independent Director)

Mrs K Cook

Mr E M Davies (BE

DrH Einsmann

|||~ ]
|

Mr K J Hydon

QN PN VNG N [P Y [

Ms C McCall

||~V |||

Executive Directors

S Terry Leahy

Mr RW P Brasher

Mr P A Clarke

Mr AT Higginson

MrT J R Mason

Miss L Neville-Rolfe (MG

Mr DT Potis

~|to|cof|o|tofto
|
|
|

Note Directors leave the meeting where matters relating to them are bemg discussed It 15 expected that all Directors attend Board and Commuttee meetings unless they are prevented from doing so

by prior commitments and that all Directors will attend the AGM

1 The Nominations Committee meeting for 2007/8 was held on 9 April 2008

Remuneration Committee The Remuneration Committee’s role 1s to
determme and recommend to the Board the remuneration of the Executive
Drrectors 1t moniters the levels and structure of remuneration for senior
management and seeks to ensure that they are designed to attract,
retain and motvate the Executve Directors needed to run the Company
successfully MrAllen chairs the Committee, which 1s composed entirely
of independent Non-executive Directors The other Committee members
for the year ended 23 February 2008 were Mr Chase, Mrs Cook, Mr Davies
and Dr Einsmann At the invitation of the Committee the Charman of the
Board normally attends meetings and the Chief Executive attends

as appropniate Representatives of the Group's Personnel and Finance
functions also attend as appropriate to provide support. The Company
Secretary also attends in his capacity as Secretary of the Committee

The Committee met seven times this year Each year it conducts a review
of the Commuttee's own effectiveness and its Terms of Reference The
responstbilities of the Remuneration Commuttee and an explanation of
how it apphes the Directors’ remuneration prnnciples of the Combined
Code, are set out In the Directors' Remuneration Report on pages 25 to 38

Audit Commttee The Audit Committee’s pnmary responsibilities are

to review the financial statements, to review the Group's intemal control
and nsk assurance processes, to consider the appointment of the external
auditors, their reports to the Committee and their independence, which
includes an assessment of their appropnateness to conduct any noen-audit
work, as well as to review the programme of Internal Audit. The membership
of the Commuttee 1s composed entirely of Independent Non-executive
Directors Mr Hydon, who has recent and relevant financial expenence,

1s the Chairman of the Commuttee The other Commuttee members for the
year ended 23 February 2008 were Mr Chase, Mr Dawvies and Ms McCall

At the invitation of the Committee, the Chaiman of the Board, the

Finance Director and his representatives, the Head of Internal Audit, the
Corporate and Legal Affars Director, other relevant Executive Directors
and representatives of the extemal auditors requlary attend meetings
The Company Secretary also attends n his capacity as Secretary of the
Committee The Committee met five times thisyear Each year the
Committee conducts a review of its own effectiveness and its Terms

of Reference

The Committee has regular private meetings with the external auditors
during the year The need for traming ts kept under review and the annual
agenda ensures time 1s dedicated to technical updates which are generally
provided by external experts This year training was provided on accounting
and reporting developments in IFRS, IFRIC, IAS, FRS, UITF and Audit
Standards Training 1s also provided to meet specific indvidual needs of
Comrmuititee members

Board performance evaluation The Board regularly reviews 1ts own
performance Dunng the year ended 23 February 2008, a formal evaluation
of the performance of the Board was conducted with the assistance of an
external iIndependent consultant. The process included in-depth interviews
with each Director and the Company Secretary and a detalled review of
the minutes and supporting papers for the meetings of the Board and 1ts
main Committees The review confirmed the high level of professionalism
in the strategic and entrepreneunal leadership of the Company, a sound
govermnance framework and practices compliant with the Combined Code

The Chief Executive reviews the performance of each Executive Director
The Chamman reviews the perfarmance of the Chief Executve and each
Non-executive Director Dunng the year, the Chairman met with the Non-
executive Directors, without the Executive Directors present, to discuss
Board 1ssues and how to build the best possible team The Semor
Independent Non-executive Dhrector met with the Non-executive Directors
in the absence of the Chairrnan, to assess the Chairman's effectiveness

The Board scheduled eight meetings in the year ended 23 February
2008 and ad hoc meetings were also convened ta deal with matters
between scheduled meetings as appropnate The table above shows the
attendance of Directors at regular Board meettngs and at meetings of
the Norinations, Remuneration and Audit Committees dunng the year
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Corporate governance continued

Management of the Group — Executive Committee

The Board delegates responsibility for formulating and implementing the
Group's strategic plan and for management of the Group to the Executive
Committee, which comprises the seven Executive Directors and 15 chaired
by the Chief Executive The Committee, which 15 not a statutory commuttee,
has authority for decision-making in all areas except those set out In the
Schedule of Matters Reserved for Board Decision and meets formally
everyweek A number of senior executives also attend the Committee

and their valuable operational expenence helps broaden the debate Therr
attendance also facilitates the communication of the Commitiee's decisions
to the rest of the Group The Company Secretary also attends 1n his capacity
as Secretary of the Commuttee

The Executive Committee 1s responsible for implementing Group strategy
and policy and for monitoning the performance and compliance of the
business, drawing on the work of relevant Committees, and reporting on
these matters in full to the Board

The Committtee has set up further non-statutory Commuttees — including
the Finance, Comphance and Corporate Responsibility Committees (which
are described in marte detad below) — and operational groups which have
respensibility for implementing the key elements of the Group’s strategic
plan and managing its UK and internaucnal operations, joint ventures,
property acquisitions, finance, funding and people matters These
Committees and groups have as members an appropnate muxture of
Executive Directors and sentor management from relevant functions

Rusk management and internal controls

Accountabiliies Accepting that nskis an inherent part of doing business,
our nsk managemnent systerns are designed both to encourage entrepreneunial
spint and also prowide assurance that riskis fully understood and managed
The Board has overall respensibility for nsk management and intemal
control within the context of achieving the Group's objectives Executive
management is responsible for implementing and maintaining the
necessary control systems The role of internal Audit1s to monitor the
overall internal control systems and report on ther effectiveness to
Execusive management, as well as to the Audit Committee, in order to
facilitate 1ts review of the systemns

Background The Group has a five-year rofling business plan to support
the delivery of its strategy of long term growth and returns for shareholders
Every business unit and support function derves 1ts objectives from the
five-year plan and these are cascaded to managers and staff by way of
personal ebjectives Key to delivenng effective nskmanagement is ensuning
our people have a good understanding of the Group's strategy and

our policies, procedures, values and expected performance We have a
structured internal commurications programime that provides emplayees
with a clear definition of the Group’s purpose and goals, accountabilities
and the scope of permitted activities for each business umit, as well as
individual hne managers and other employees This ensures that all our
people understand what 15 expected of them and that decision-making
takes place at the appropnate level
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We recognise that our people may face ethical difernmas in the normal
course of business so we provide clear guidance based on the Tesco Values
The Values set out the standards that we wish to uphold in how we treat
people These are supported by the Group Code of Ettucs which offers
guidance on relattonships between the Group and its employees, suppliers
and contractors The Company is a signatory to the DT1 Code of Conduct
and met its obligations for implementing the Code for the financial year
ended 23 February 2008

We operate a balanced scorecard approach that 1s known within the
Group as our Steenng Wheel This unites the Group's resources around

our customers, people, operations, community and finance The scorecard
operates at every level within the Group, from ground level business units,
through to country level operations It enables the bustness to be operated
and monitored on a balanced basis with due regard for all stakeholders

Risk management The Group maintains a Key Risk Register The Register
contains the key risks faced by the Group including their impact and
likelihood as well as the controls and procedures implemented to mitigate
these nsks The content of the Register 15 determined through reqular
drseussions wath senior management and review by the Execstive Commitiee
and the full Board A balanced approach allows the degree of controllability
to be taken into account when we consider the effectiveness of mitigation
recognising that some necessary actvitres carry inherent nskwhich may

be outside the Group’s control QOur nsk management process recognises
there are opportunities to improve the business to be built into our

future plans The key nsks and uncertainties we face are summarnsed on
pages 14 to 17 of the Business Review

The nskmanagernent process 1s cascaded through the Group with every
international CEQ and local boards maintaining their own nsk registers and
assessing their control systems The same process also applies functionally
in those parts of the Group requining greater overview For example, the
Audit Commttee’s Terms of Reference require 1t to oversee the Finance
Risk Register We also have a Corporate Responsibility Risk Register which
specifically considers SEE nsks Oversight of these nisks I1s the responsibility
of the Corporate Responsibiity Committee The Board assesses the
significant SEE nisks to the Group'’s short-terrn and long-term value, and
incorporates SEE risks on the Key Risk Register where they are considered
matenal or appropnate

We recognise the value of the ABI Guidelines on Responsible Investment
Disclosure and confirm that, as part of its regular nsk assessment procedures,
the Board takes account of the significance of SEE matters to the business
of the Group We recognise that a number of investors and other stakeholders
take a keen interest in how companes manage SEE matters and sowe
report more detall on our SEE policies and approach to managing matenal
nsks ansing from SEE matters and the KPls we use both on our website
(www tesco comitescople) and in our Annual Corporate Responsibility
Review 2008 (www tesco com/crreview(8) To prowide further assurance, the
Group’s Corporate Responsibility KPls are audited on a regular basis

by Internal Audit.
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Internal controls Accountability for managing nsk at an operational
level sits with management. We have a Group-wide process for clearly
estabhshing the nisks and responsibihtes assigned to each level of
management and the controls which are required to be operated

and monitored

The CEQs of subsidiary businesses are required to certify by way of annual
statements of assurance that the Board’s govemance policies have been
adopted both in practice and in spint. For certan jont ventures, the Board
places reliance upon the internal control systems operating within our
partners’ Infrastructure and the oblgations upon partners’ boards relating
to the effectiveness of their own systems

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the Company’s system
of internal controls and for reviewing the effectiveness of the system
Such a systern 1s designed to manage rather than eliminate the nsk of
fallure to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against materal misstatement or loss

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of internal controls
and 1s satisfied that the controls in place remain appropriate

Monitornng The Board oversees the monitonng system and has set
specific responsibilites for itself and the vancus Committees as set out
below The minutes of the Audit Committee and the vanious non-statutory
Commuttees (Finance, Comphance and Corporate Responsibility Comrmittees)
are distnbuted to the Board and each Commuttee submits a report for
forrmal discussion at least once a year These all provide assurance that the
Group 1s operating legally, ethically and in accordance with approved
finanual and operational policies We noted the updates to the Turnbull
Guidance and keep under review how the Turnbull Guidance has been
apphed In addition, both Internal Audit and our external auditors play key
roles In the monitoring process, as do several non-statutory Committees
the Finance Carmmmittee, Comphance Comrmittee and Corporate
Responsibility Committee

Audit Committee Annually, the Audit Committee reports to the Board
on 1ts review of the effectiveness of the internal control systems for the
accounting year and the penod to the date of approval of the financial
staternents Throughout the year the Committee also receves regular
reports from its external auditors covenng tomcs such as gquality of
earnings and technical accounting developments The Committee

also receves updates from Internal Audit and has dialogue with senior
managers on their control responsibilines It should be understood that
such systems are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against matenal musstatement or loss

Internal Audit The Intemal Audit department s fully iIndependent of
business operations and has a Group-wide mandate It operates a nsk-
based methodology, ensunng that the Group’ key nsks recerve appropnate
and regular examination Its responsibilities include mantaining the Key Risk
Regsster, reviewing and reporting on the effectiveness of nsk management
systemns and internal control with the Executive Committee, the Audit
Commuttee and ultimately to the Board Internal Audit facilitates oversight
of nisk and control systems across the Group through audit and comphance
Commuttees In each of our international businesses and our joint ventures
The Head of Internal Audit also attends all Audit Commuttee meetings

External Audit PricewaterhouseCoopers LLF, the Company’s external
auditor, contnbutes a further independent perspective on certain aspects
of ourintemal financial control systems ansing from its work, and reports
to both the Board and the Audit Committee

The engagement and independence of external auditors 1s considered
annually by the Audit Committee before 1t recommends i1ts selection to the
Board The Commuttee has satsfied itself that PncewaterhouseCoopers LLP
15 independent and there are adequate controls in place to safeguard its
objectmty One such measure I1s the requirernent to rotate audit partners
every five years This year the audit engagement partner, having served five
years on the Tesco audit, has been rotated We have a non-audit services
policy that sets out cnitena for employing external auditors and identifies
areas where It Is Inappropriate for PncewaterhouseCoopers LLP to work
Nen-audit services work carried cut by PncewaterhouseCoopers LLP:s
predominantly the review of subsidiary undertakings’ statutory accounts,
transaction work and corporate tax services PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
also follow their own ethical guidelines and continually review their audit
team to ensure their ndependence 1s not comprormsed

Finance Comruttee Membership of the Finance Committee, which 1s

not a statutory committee, includes Non-executive Directors with relevant
financial expertise, Executive Directors and members of senior management
The Commuttee usually meets twice a year and 1ts role 1s to review and
agree the Finance Plan on an annual basis, to review reports of the Treasury
and Tax functions, and to review and apprave Treasury imits and delegations

Compliance Committee Membershup of the Compliance Cormenittee,
which 1s not a statutory Commuttee, includes three Executive Directors and
members of senior management. The Committee normally meets six times
a year and 1ts rermit 1s to ensure that the Group complies with all necessary
laws and regulations in all of its operations worldwide The Committee

has established a schedule for the regular review of operational activities
and legal exposure Each international business i the Group has a local
compliance commitiee destgned to ensure comphance with local laws

and regulations as well as Group compliance policies, and each country
compliance committee reports to the Group Compltance Committee on

a regular basis

Corporate Responsibility Committee The Commuttee, which is not a
statutory committee, I1s chaired by the Corporate and Legal Affairs Director
and membership 1s made up of senior executives from across the Group

It meets at least four imes a yearto support, develop and monitor policies
on SEE issues, reviewing threats and opporturnities for the Group Progress
in developing Community Initiatives 1s monitored by the use of relevant
KPIs in the UK and our international businesses The Board forrmally
discusses the work of the Committee on a regular basis, including progress
in implementing our Community Plan

The Corporate and Legal Affairs department and the Trading Law and
Technical department provide assurance and advice on legal compliance,
health and safety, and SEE matters These functions report on theirwork
on a regular basis and escalate matters as appropriate

Management In our fast moving business, trading 1s tracked on a daily
and weekly basis, financial performance 1s reviewed weekly and monthly,
and the Steenng Wheel s reviewed quarterly Steenng Wheels are
operated 1n bustness units across the Group, and reports are prepared
of performance against target KPls on a guarterly basis enabling
management to measure performance

All major inivatives require business cases normally covenng a
minimum penod of five years Post-investment appraisals, carned out
by management, determine the reasons for any sigmficant vanance
from expected performance
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Corporate governance continued

Relations with stakeholders

We are commutted to hawving a constructive dialague with all stakeholders
to ensure we understand what I1s important to them and altow ourselves
the opportumty to present our positien Engagement helps us identify new
rtsks and opportunities to ensure that our long-term strategy is sustamable
In some instances we find that working with stakeholders in partnership
can help delver shared goals We might not be able to satisfy all stakeholder
concerns all the tme but through engagement we can do our best to
balance competing demands We know that customers need to be able to
trust our business and they will only trust us If we do the nght thing by all
our stakeholders Our programme of engaging with stakeholders including
customers, staff, suppliers, investors, non-govermmental organisations and
others, ts set out in more detail in the Corporate Responsibility Review and
on our website The additron of Community to our strategy this year and
our Community Plans in each country have helped to demonstrate our
commitment o tacking a wide range of societal and environmental 1ssues
We also camy out external research to help us understand how well we are
addressing stakeholder concerns

We are committed to maintaining a good dialogue with shareholders
through proactively organising meetings and presentations as well as
responding to a wide range of enquiries We seek shareholder views on

a range of 1ssues from strategy to corporate governance and SEE 1ssues
We recognise the importance of communicating appropnately any
significant Company developments This shareholder commurication

1s mainly co-ordinated by the Investor Relations department. Durning the
year, the Group met with most of our leading sharehelders representing
over 70% of the 1ssued shares of the Company To complement this
programme, the Chairman meets with major shareholders independently
from the Executive team Shareholders also have the opportunity to meet
with the Senior Independent Non-executive Director The Board 15 kept
updated of the views of stakeholders

it 1s normal that institutional shareholders may be in mare regular
contact with the Group than others, but care 1s exercised to ensure that
any price-sensitive Information 1s released to both insututional and private
shareholders at the same time, In accordance with applicable legal and
regulatory requirements
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The Annual General Meeting offers the opportunity to communicate
directly wath all shareholders The whole Board attends the meeting and
15 available to answer questions from shareholders present. To encourage
shareholder participation, we offer electromic proxy voting and voting
through the CREST electroric proxy appointment service At aur last
Annual General Meeting In June 2007, all resolutions were voted by way
of electronic poll This follows best practice guidelines and allows the
Company to count all votes, not just those of sharehclders attending

the meeting

Every shareholder may choose to recerve a full Annual Report and
Finanaal Statements or the Annual Review and Summary Financial
Statement, either in paper or electronig form These reports, together
with publicly made trading statements, are available on the Group's
website, www tesco comitescopic

By Order of the Board
Jonathan Lloyd
Company Secretary

28 April 2008
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Directors’ remuneration report

year ended 23 February 2008

This 1s the report of the Remuneration Committee on behalf of the Board

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Cornmittee (the Committee) ts governed by formal
Terms of Reference They are reviewed annually and are avallable
from the Company Secretary upen request or can be viewed at

www tesca com/annualreportO8/boardprocess

Composition of the Committee

The Committee consists entirely of Independent Non-executive Directors
The members of the Committee are Mr C L Allen (Chairman of the
Committeg), Mr R F Chase, Mrs K Cock, Mr E M Davies and BrH Emsmann
No member of the Remuneration Committee has any personal financial
interest in the matters being decrded, other than as a shareholder, nor any
day-to-day involvemnent in running the business of Tesco MrJ M Lloyd,
the Company Secretary, 15 Secretary to the Committee MrD E Reid,
Nen-executive Chairman, and Sir Terry Leahy, Chief Executive of the Group,
both attend meetings at the mvitation of the Committee They are not
present when their own remuneration 1s being discussed The Committee
1s supported by the Group Personnel and Finance funchions and has
continued to use the senaces of Delaitte & Touche LLP wham it appainted
as an external, independent advisor Deloitte & Touche LLP also provided
adwisory services In respect of corporate tax planning, share schemes,
international taxation, corporate finance and treasury to the Group during
the year Members’ attendance at Committee meetings is hsted in the
Corporate Governance section on page 21 of the Annual Report and
Financial Statements 2008

The role of the Commuttee
The Committee’s purpose 15 to

> determine and recommend to the Board the remuneration policy for
the Chairman and Executive Directars,

> ensure the level and structure of remuneration is designed to attract,
retain, and motwvate the Executive Directors needed to run ihe Company;
and

> monitor the level and structure of remuneration for senicr management

The Committee also ensures that the remuneration relationship between
the Executive Directors and senior executives of the Company below this
level 1s appropnate In particular, the Commuittee 1s advised of any exceptional
remuneration arrangements for senior executives

Actrvities of the Committee

The Commuttee normally meets at least four times a year and circulates
minutes of its meetings to the Board Dunng the financial year ending

23 February 2008 the Commuttee met seven tmes The rolling schedufe

for the Committee includes a review of overall remuneration arrangements,
an overview of best practice, Executive salary and total remuneration
benchmarking, the review of Chairman's remuneration, consideration of the
relationstup of reward between Executive Directors and senior managers,
deterrmiming the level of awards and grants to be made under the Group
incentve plans, agreeing targets far the forthcaming year, considenng
feedback from shareholders, and an annual review of its own effectiveness

Executive Directors' remuneratton policy

Tesco has a long-standing policy of rewarding talent and expenence

We also seek to provide incentives for delrvering high growth and high
returns for shareholders The Committee belteves that a significant
proportion of total remuneration should be performance-related and
delivered largely n shares to closely 2lign the interests of shareholders
and Executive Directors In determiming the balance between the fixed
and vanable elements of the Executive Directors’ remuneration packages,
the Committee has regard to both policy and market practice

The remuneration strategy for Executive Directors and other key executives
1s tailored to emphasise the delvery of strong year-on-year earmings

growth as well as sustained performance m the longer term Long-term
performance 1s rewarded through delvery of shares and short-term
performance through a combination of cash and an element of compulsory
deferred shares This ensures contnued emphasis on strong annual
performance combined with long-term executive share ownershiup,
providing a strong hnk between the incentives recerved and shareholder
value delivered A diagram illustrating the balance between fixed and
vanable reward I1s shown later in this report on page 26

Tesco operates in a highly competiive and rapedly changing retail
environment Business success depends on the talents of the key team,

but outstanding business performance comes from teamwork Tesco has

a stable and successful management team and building and retaining that
team at seror levels within Tesco s important to our continued success

We believe our incentives should support the continued progress within

the existing business, the strengthening of our returns from the International
business and the creation of significant new businesses, such as the

US venture

In the pastyear the Commuttee reviewed the Group’s existing remuneration
arrangements in light of these requirements and concluded that a
rebalancang of incentives was required, which resulted in the introducticn
of several new elements to the Executive remuneratign structure

> the establishment of a Group Mew Business Incentve Plan which focuses
on long-term business development {four to seven years into the future),

> the introduction of an additional element into our current three-year
Performance Share Plan which targets the performance of our existing
nternational busimess, and

> the adoptton of a new US Long-Term Incentrve Plan for our US Executive
team to ensure that we can attract great talent to burid our US business

The Group New Business Incentve Plan and the US Leng-Term Incentive
Plan were both approved by shareholders at last year's AGM

Participation i the vanous efements 1s governed by the Remuneration
Commuttee and individual Executives are awarded incentives under the
elements which are most refevant to their sphere of responsibility

The Group CEQ, Sir Terry Leahy, has responsibility for delivenng the
continued success of our cere business, developing our intemattonal
busingss and also lzying the foundations of major new businesses

His incentives therefore reflect these three responsibilities the core

reward, an award under the Performance Share Plan focused on improving
international ROCE, a one-off award under the new Group New Business
Incentive Plan, and participation m a New Business short-term bonus for
the next three years of 50% of salary based on achievernent of financral
and strategic milestenes for new business development The one-off award
under the Group New Business Incentive Plan will only pay out in fulhif both
challenging new business performange targets over the penod 2010/11

1o 201314 are met and stretching Group and intemational ROCE targets
are also met over the penods 2007/8 to 2011/12

The US venture 1s currently the most developed new business imitiative with
significant opportunity to generate long-term shareholdervalue SirTerry
Leahy 1s the architect of the concept and format of the new US business,
and his continued leadershup and dnve are critical to the success of this
start-up business Payment of his award under the Group New Business
Incentive Plan will therefore mitially be focused on the new US business,
however, the Remuneration Comimittee will have flexibility to constder and
include other new bustness develcpment opportunities withun the propesed
sttucture, If appropnate
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

MrTJ R Mascn, the US CEQ, 1s responsible for delivering the successful
rofl-out of the US business He has therefore been made a one-off award
under the new US Long-Term Incentive Plan He 15 also participating in

a US short-term annual bonus plan, under which payouts, in the start-up
phase, will be subject to performance against strategic and financial
milestones Payouts under the US Long-Term Incentive Plan will be based
on the delvery of a strong profitable US bustness for Tesco shareholders
and that success will be measured by a combination of EBIT and ROCE
targets Awards will be earned over the fouryears 2010/11 to 2013/14
and will be in the form of Tesco PLC shares

Members of the US senior management team will also partiapate in the
US incentive arrangements

The other Executive Directors have responsibility both for delivenng
continued success of our core business and developing cur iIntemational
businesses They therefore receive an incremental award under ther
Performance Share Plan which 1s focused on improving intematonal ROCE

Total remuneration

The total remuneration levels of Executive Directors are reviewed annually
by the Committee The Committee considers external independent
remuneration surveys to ensure It has proper regard to competitve market
practice We are conscious of the nsks involved in paying unjustified
amounts and therefore monitor carefully the basic salary and totat
remuneration that each Director receives The Executive Directors’ total
remuneration package comprses, IN varying degrees, the folfowing elerments

> base salanes determined by the responsibilities, skills and experience
of the individual agamst a benchmark determined by reference to other
large retailers, major FTSE 100 comparnies and international comparator
companies,

> annual bonuses paid part in cash and part i shares with a compulsory
deferral of the share element for three years,

> the Performance Share Plan with payout conditional on the achievement
of stretching Group and International ROCE targets,

> for the US CEQ, the US Long-Term incentive Plan, with payout
conditonal on the achievernent of stretching targets based on
US EBIT and ROCE,

> for the Group CEO, the Group New Business Incentive Plan with payout
condiional on the achievernent of stretching targets based on both
US EBIT and ROCE and Group and Internabional ROCE,

> performance-related share option awards via the Discretionary Share
Opuon Plan open to all sentor managers,

> benefits (which compnse car benefits, Iife assurance, disability and health
insurance and staff discount), and

> pensions

Executive Directors are also eligible to participate in the Company’s all-
employee savings related share option scheme (SAYE), Shares in Success
and Buy As You Earn scheme on the same terms as all other UK employees

The diagram below shows the targeted balance of fixed and performance
related elements for different levels of petformance

When setting the remuneration of Executive Directors, the Commuttee
has discretion to consider the Group’s performance on environmental,
soaal and governance (ESG) matters Speafic ESG performance targets
are applied to certain elements of the remuneration structure, In order
to resnforce positive and responsible behaviour by serior management

Basic pay

Basic pay 1s designed to attract and retain talented indwiduals It needs

to reflect individual capability and any changes in responsibilites as

the Company faces new opportunities and challenges As the Company
continues o diversify Into new product areas and services, as well as
expanding internationally, 1t seeks to reflect this in the benchmarking that
15 used We aim to reflect salary levels at the top performing retailers, the
leading FTSE companies and ensure consideration 1s given to international
competitors In order to attract the best people and maintain excellent
performance We also take into account pay conditions throughout the
Company in deciding annual salary increases Basic salanes are typically
increased with effect from 1 July each year With effect from 1 July 2007
Sir Terry Leahy’s base salary was £1,320,600, the base salary for the other
Executive Directors other than Miss LiNeville-Rolfe was £753,900 and
Miss Neville-Rolfe’s base salarywas £495,000

Annual cash benus and deferred annual bonus

The Company operates an annual bonus scheme which 15 delivered part
mn cash and part in shares The Remuneration Committee has typically
made awards of up to 100% of salary paid in cash at the end of the year
and a maximum of 100% of salarypaid in shares with compulsory deferal
for three years The cash elernent s eamed through achievement of EPS
growth targets and specific corporate objecttves [n addition to these
targets, the share element 1s also based on an assessment of shareholder
returns (TSR) The Committee sets performance targets annually and
confirms achievement of performance and awards to be made

We are not able to disclose future targets for reasons of commercial
sensitivity By way of illustration of the approach to target-setting, the
corporate objectives are based on our balanced scorecard, the Steering
Wheel Corporate objeciives for the awards made i the financal year
2007/8 included increasing sales frorm new space, specific profit targets
for nternational businesses and for retailing services, like-for-ke sales
growth and the development of the non-food business, focus on
developing trading models internationally and in non-food, enhanang
talent management and capability; and embedding the new Community
Plan and implementtng international community-related strategies

Fixed element

Performance-related elements

Short-term Long-term
performance performance
Base salary
Deferred Performance s Group New
eferre Share Plan are Business
Cash bonus share bonus Group & options us LTip Incentive
International Plan

¢.12%-33% depending on
indmdual ncentive arrangements
and performance

¢ 67%-88% depending on indmdual incentive arrangements and performance
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The Committee considers TSR performance agamst the FTSE 100 and a
comparator group of intemational retailers that includes Ahold, Carrefour,
J Sainsbury, Meitro, Marnsons, Safeway Inc, Target and Walmart.

In order to motivate short-term performance and delwery of success in

the start-up phase of the US business, the Committee agreed last year

to increase the potential short-term bonus opportunity for the US CEG,

Mr Mason, from 100% to 150% of salary in cash and an equal amount

in deferred shares Mr Mason's total short-term opportunity 1s subject to

a combination of Group and US-specific performance conditions In order
to incentivise and reward early stage success against financial and strategtc
milestones for new business ventures, the potential opportunity under the
share element of the short-term bonus for the Group CEQ, Sir Terry Leahy,
was also increased last year from 100% to 150% of salary (with his potential
cash bonus opportunity remaining at 100%) The additional awards to

Mr Masen and Sir Terry Leahy are subject to perfermance conditions which
measure the successful progress of the US busmess including leadership
and dehvery of financial and strategic objectives and factors such as site
acquisitions, store openings, agreed capital expenditure, infrastructure,
early turnover and financial milestones for returns from store openings
Share awards will continue to be deferred for three years before release

Following the Remuneration Cornrmittee’s consideration of the extent to
which the vancus performance measures in respect of the 2007/8 award
have been achieved, the Executive Directors have been awarded 90%

of the cash element and 83% of the deferred shares elerent of that part
of their annual bonus which 1s measured by reference to Group targets

In addition, Mr Mason has been awarded 90% of the cash and deferred
shares elemnents of that part of his annual bonus which 1s measured by
reference to US-specific targets, and Sir Terry Leahy has been awarded
90% of the deferred shares element of that part of his annual bonus
which 1s measured by reference to US-speafic targets

Performance Share Plan

The Performance Share Plan (PSP) provides the opportunity to eam
rewards for achieving supenor long-term performance By ensuring a focus
on longer-term business success and encouraging the Executive Directors
to build up a shareholding in the Company, the Plan further aligns the
interests of shareholders and Executive Directors

The rules of the PSP allow awards to be made over shares up to 150%
of salary In the year ended 23 February 2008, awards were made to all
the Executive Directors except Mr Mason over Tesco PLC shares equal to
150% of salary An award was made to MrMason over Tesco PLC shares
equal to 100% of salary

For all the Executive Directors, awards over up to 100% of salary will vest
(together with reinvested dividends) subject to the achievement of Group
ROCE targets The awards over the equivalent of a further 50% of salary
made to the Executive Directors other than Mr Mason will vest (together
with reinvested dwidends) subject to the achievernent of targets based
on Intermational ROCE to incentivise and reward delivery of hugher returns
from invested capital outside the UK (but excluding the US}

The first 79% of the awards will vest on a straight-line basis at the end

of the three-year performance period, with 25% vesting for baseline
performance and the full 75% vesting for maxirmum performance against
target The target n respect of the first 75% of the 2007/8 PSP award 1s
achievernent of 14 2% Group ROCE and 8 1% Intermational ROCE (based
on profit before interest less tax) at the end of the three-year performance
penod in 200910

The remaining 25% of the award will vest for supenor Return on Capital
performance The Committee has agreed that 1t 15 appropniate to exercise
Judgement on whether vesting should occur to encourage Executives to
make investrnent decisions m the long-term interests of the business
without being unduly influenced by the impact on the ROCE target When
determining whether some, or all, of the remaining 25% of the award wiil
vest, the Committee will take into account a number of factors including

> the level of ROCE achieved,
> the expected ROCE for additional and existing capital investment,

> whether capital spend 15 in ine with strategic objectives and balances
shart-term and long-term mvestment needs,

> sales growth and underlying profit growth, and
> whether this reflects other developments in the marketplace

If the Commuittee exercises 1ts jJudgernent to allow some, or all, of the
remaining 25% of the PSP awards to vest, we will describe in the Directors’
Remuneration Report those factors taken into account in determining the
level of the award which would vest

There 1s no re-testing of performance in respect of any targets

Shareholder approval was obtained at last year's AGM for the removal
of the requirement for any vested shares to be retained for a further
12 months

Following the completion of the three-year performance period for the
2005/6 PSP award, the Commuttee considered the ievel of performance
against the target for the first 75% of the PSP award of achieving post-tax
Group ROCE of 11 7% by the end of FY 2007/8 Post-tax ROCE at the

end of FY 2007/8 was 12 9%, sc full vesting wall occur in respect of the

first 75% of the award The Committee also exercised its judgement as

to the extent to which the remaining 25% of the PSP award shou'd vest
as a result of supenor ROCE performance, taking into account factors
including the level of ROCE achieved, the expected ROCE for additional
and existing capital investment, whether capital spend was in line with
strategic objectives and balanced short-term and long-term investment
needs, the level of sales and undetdying profit growth and whether this
reflected other developments in the marketplace Having constdered these
factors in detail the Committee concluded that the whole of the remaining
25% of the award should vest

US Long-Term Incentive Plan

The Group Is seeking to build a substantial presence in the US which

in time has the potential to become a significant drniver of value for our
shareho!ders Entegral to the success of this strategywill be recruring

and retaining high quality management to run this stigrificant business
The Tesco PLC US Long-Term Incentive Plan 2007 (the US LTIP) has been
designed to dehver reward onlyif the US business delivers sigmificant value
for sharehaolders

The US CEQ and other senior members of the US management team
have been made awards under the US LTIP No cther Executive Directors
will participate in the Plan The maximum number of shares which may
be awarded under the US LTIP 15 2 million shares to the US CEO and

15 mitlon shares to any other participant An award of 2 mullion shares
was made to Mr Mason, US CEQ, in November 2007 Awards may be
adjusted to take account of any dvidends paid or that are payable tn
respect of the number of shares earned

The extent to which awards will vest under the US [FIPwill be conditonal
on the financial performance of the Company’s US business, based on
the achievernent of stretching eamings before interest and tax (EBIT)
and return on capital employed (ROCE) targets set by reference to the
US long-term business plan
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A percentage of the EBIT of the US business for the relevant years may be
allocated to an EBIT pool (the ‘profit pool” The profit pool will be capped
at 10% n any one year and Is expected to be approximately 5% of
cumulative EBIT over the four measurement years (2010/11 to 2013/14)

The portion of an award which may vest will be determined by reference
to the value of the EBIT pool as well as performance against the ROCE
hurdles for the relevant year, as outlined in the table headed 'Summary
of US business performance conditions’ below

To the extent that the ROCE hurdles for any one year are met (either in
full or in part), but there 1s insufficient value in the profit pool to fund the
vesting of awards, then the actual vesting i that year will be scaled back
so that the profit pool 1s not exceeded That portion of the award that has
not pa:d out In thatyear due to the profit pool being restricted mayvest
in future years, provided that the profit pool in any later year permuts this

The targets for the US LTIP have been based on the business plan in
respect of the imtial phase of the US business The Remuneration
Comrmittee has the responsibility to review these targets 1 Iight of the
scale and scope of the US business in order to ensure that they remain
appropnate and challenging In particular, the Remuneration Committee
will seek the input of the Audit Committee and the new Governance
Qversight Committee (descnbed below) in order to ensure that financal
performance against the targets 1s indicative of strong and robust
business performance

Any matenal adjustrments made 1n respect of the targets will be reviewed
and approved by the Audit Commuttee and will be disclosed in the
Company's Remuneration Report.

Group New Business Incentive Plan

A key part of the Group's long term strategy 15 to consider new business
ventures which have the potential for significant long term value creation
for our shareholders It s important to incentivise executives to encourage
entrepreneunalism where this 1sn the best long term interests of
shareholders, and the Group New Business Incentive Plan {Group Plan)
supports this imtiative Initially only the Group CEQ will participate in the
Group Plan However, awards may be made to other employees at the
discretion of the Committee In the future where this I1s appropriate to

do so in order to suppart the Group's new business ventures

The maximum number of shares which may be awarded under the rules of
the Group Plan 15 2 5 mullion shares to the Group CEQ and 2 million shares
to any other participant. An award of 2 5 rmillion shares was made to the
Group CEQ in November 2007 Awards may be adjusted to take account
of any divdends paid or that are payable in respect of the number of
shares eamed

The vesting of the award made to the Group CEO under this Plan will be
conditional upon achievemnent aganst Group and Intemationa! performance
conchtions The performance conditions under this award will be aligned
with the targets set for awards made under the PSP 1n each of the years
2007 to 2009, which will become capable of vesting between 2010 and
2012 The targets set for awards made under the PSP are referred to in
the section above headed ‘Performance Share Plan’

Summary of US business performance conditions

If less than threshold perfarmance 1s achieved for each of these PSP awards
then no portton of the Group Plan award will become capable of vesting

if maximum Group and Internationa!l performance 1s achieved for each of
these PSP awards (1 e the 2007 — 2009 PSP awards vest in full in 2010 —
2012), then the whaole of the Group Plan award will become eligible for
vesting, subject to achievernent of the appropnate new business performance
targets referred to below If Group and International performance for any

of these PSP awards 1s between threshold and maximurn levels then the
Group award will become ehgible forvesting on a pro rmta basis, subject
ahlways to the achievement of the appropriate new business targets

referred to below

Once perfarmance against the Group and International targets has been
determined, the extent to which the award made to the Group CEQ
under this Plan 1s capable of vestingwill be conditional en the finanoal
performance of the specfied new business ventures, as determined by the
Comimuttee As the Company’s US venture 15 currently the most developed
new business imitiative, the award made to the Group CEQ under the Group
Plan wll inially be focused on the perfformance of the US venture, based
on the perfermance targets set outin the section headed ‘US Long-Term
Plan’ above, although the Commuttee will have the flexibility to consider
and include other new business development opportunities within the
proposed award In addition, the Commuttee will consider the findings

of the Governance Quersight Committee (descnbed below) and opinions
of the Audit Committee as to whether the level of ROCE achieved reflects
the underlying financial performance of the Company when considering if,
and the extent to which, the award made to the Group CEQ wall vest

Awards made to other partrcipants will vest based on the financial
performance of new business ventures, as determined by the Committee
at the tme of any award

Governance Oversight Committee

In Iight of the mtroduction of, and the potential future payouts under, the
new long term incentive arrangements, 1t has been decided to establish

a Governance Oversight Commuttee (the GOC) to review and report at

the end of each financaal year on the allocation of capital and other Group
resources The GOC will comprise the Senior Independent Director of the
Company (who will chair the GOCQ), the Chairman of the Audit Committee
of the Company and the Chairman of the Remuneration Commuttee of
the Company The Company Chaiman will attend the GOC and the
Company Secretary will serve as its secretary

The GOC will report its findings to the Remuneration Committee each year
Fhe Remuneration Committee will take these nto account along with the
view of the Audit Commutiee to ensure that financial performance aganst
targets 15 Indicative of strong and robust business performance If appropnate,
vesting under the plans may be adjusted by the Remuneration Commuttee
(in respect of Executive Directors) or the Board (in respect of all other
employees who are participants) In accordance with the Combined Code,
any such adjustrments to vesting for Executive Directors will be reported

to shareholders in the Remuneration Report at the relevant tme

ROCE hurdle? 2010011 20112 201213 201314
Maximum performance 6% ROCE 9% ROCE 11% ROCE 12% ROCE
Target performance 4% ROCE 6% ROCE 8% ROCE  10% ROCE

Vesting percentage (% of maximum award)

Vesting levels at maximum performance

Upw25% Upto50% Upto75% Upito 100%

Vesting level at target performance

Upto625% Upto10% Upto125% Upto 18 75%

1 ROCE targets have been calaufated on the basis of an assurmed tax rate of 30%
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Share options

Options over shares with a value of 200% of salary are granted to the
Executive Directors on an annual basts Options are granted with an
exercise price equal to the market value at the date of grant and any gain

1s therefore dependent on in¢reasing the share pnce between the date of
grant and exercise Vesting of the options Is condibonal on the achieverment
of earnings per share performance conditions, with the first 100% subject
to the achievement of EPS growth of at least RPI plus 9% over three years
and the balance vesting for achieving EPS growth of at least RPI plus 15%
There 1s no re-testing of performance

Following the Remuneration Commitiee's consideration of the extent
to which the earnings per share performance conditions for the options
granted to the Executive Directors in 2005/6 have been achieved, these
options will vest in full

Share options are an iImportant part of the incentive framework for
hundreds of senior managers within Tesco The Committee recognises
that some companies are moving away from share options and

has again considered the appropnateness of retaming this scheme
The Commitiee remains highly confident that the share option plans
remain 10 the best interests of shareholders as they provide a clear,
simple iIncentive arrangement for a large group of seror management,
including Executive Directors, and they reward increases tn absolute
shareholdervalue

Funding of awards

Executive incentive arrangements are funded by a mix of newly 1ssued
shares and shares purchased in the market, Where shares are newly
1ssued the company complies with ABI dilution guidelines on their 1ssue

Share ownership guidelines

Executive Directors are normally expected to build and maintain a
shareholding wath a value at least equal to their basic salary New appomntees
will typically be allowed around three years to establish this shareholding
Full paruapation in the PSP s conditional upon this All Executive Directars
currently sauisfy this requirernent

Summary of remuneration elements

All awards made to Executive Directors under the Annual Benus, PSP,

US LTIP and Group New Business Incentive Plan, and all opttons granted
under the Discretonary Share Option Plan are subject to the satisfaction
of performance conditions If performance 1s lower than the maximum
targets, the short-term bonus and long-term incenuves will reduce accordingly
The Committee has reviewed the performance conditions for each of the
mcentive arrangements against the Group’s business strategy, 1ts growing
glabal leadership, its position as one of the nsing companies at the top of
the FTSE 100 and increasing competition from private equity in the sector
and has concluded that they prowde a set of comprehensive and robust
measures of management’s effort and success in creatmg shareholder value
A summary of the elements of the package and the applcable performance
measures is set out in the table below

Elerment of remuneration

Performance measure

Purpose

Base salary

Individual contnbution to the business success

To attract and retain talented people

Annual cash bonus
(Up to 100% of salary)

{Additional potential of up to
50% of salary for US CEQ}

For all Executives, earnings per share and specified
corporate objectives

For the US CEO, objectives relatung to early-stage progress
n establishing the US operations

Matnates year-on-year earnings growth and
delivery of strategic business prionties

Incentvises entrepreneurial spint and early
stage progress of US business

Annual deferred share element
(Up to 100% of salary)

(Addticnal potential of up to
50% of salary for Group CEO
and US CEC)

For all Executves, total shareholder retum, EPS and
specified corporate objectives

Objectives relating to early-stage progress in establishing
new business ventures for the Group CEQ, and relating
10 the successful start-up of the US operations for the
Us CEO

Generates focus on mediumn-term targets and,
by incentrising share price and dwvidend growth,
ensures alignment with shareholder interests
Incentivises entrepreneunal spint and early
stage progress of US business

Performance Share Plan

(Up to 150% of salary

100% for Group performance, and
50% for International performance®)
* IJS CEO not eligible for the 50%
relating to [ntematonal performance

Group performance Group ROCE
[ntermational performance International ROCE

The Committee wilf also take account of sales growth and
underlying profit growth m determiming levels of vesting

Assures a focus on lorng-term business success
and shareholder returns

US Long-Term Incentive Plan
{One-off award to US CEC
of 2 million shares, pays out in
four tranches 2010 to 2014)

US performance US EBIT and ROCE

Incentvises establishment of a successful
US business over the long term

Group New Bustness Incentive Plan
{One-off award to Group CEQ of

2 5 million shares, pays out In

four tranches 2010 to 2014)

New Business Performance imtially just US EBIT/ROCE,
but no payout unless Group and Intermational ROCE
targets are also achieved

Incentvises establishment of a successful new
businesses over the long termn, but ensures
continued focus on the Group as a whole

Share options

EPS relative to retail pnce index

Incentmses earnmngs growth and Executive
Director shareholding
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Other elements

> Shares [n Success The Group operates a profit-sharing scheme (Shares
1N Suecess) for the benefit of UK employees including Executive Directors
The scheme 1s availabie to empioyees with at least one year's service
at the Group's year end and 15 recogrused as a powerful incentive and
retention tool for all employees Shares in the campany are allocated
to participants In the scheme on a pro rata basis to base salary earned
up to HMRC approved lirmits {currently £3,000 per annum) The amount
of profit allocated to the scheme Is determined by the Board, taking
account of Company performance

> Save as You Earn Since 1981, the Group has operated a HMRC
approved savings-related share option scheme {SAYE) for the benefit of
employees including Executive Directors Under this scheme, employees
save up to a limit of £250 on a four-weekly basis wa a bank/building
society with an opuion to buy shares in Tesco PLC at the end of a three-
year or five-year penod at a discount of up to 20% of the marketvalue
There are no perforrnance conditions attached to SAYE options

> Buy as You Earn Since January 2002, the Group has operated the
partnership shares element of a HMRC approved share investment plan
for the benefit of employees including Executive Directors Under thes
scherme, employees save up to a mit of £110 on a four-weekly basis
to buy shares at market value in Tesca PLC

Penstons

The retention of key management s entical to the future success of the
business and to the growth of shareholdervalue Pension provision is
central to our ability to foster loyalty and retain expenence which 1s why
Tesco wants to ensure that the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme 1s a highly
valued benefit

All Executive Directors are members of the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme
which provides a pension of up to two-thirds of base salary on retirement,
normally at age 60, dependent on service The Final Salary Scherne 15 now
closed to new entrants but has been replaced throughout the argaruisation
by a different defined-benefit pension scheme which accumulates each
year and 1s based on career average earnings

Since Apnl 2006, following implementation of the regulations contained
within the Finance Act 2004, Executive Directors have been eligible to
receive the maximum pension that can be provided from the registered
pension scheme The balance of any pension entitlement 15 delivered
through a secured unapproved retirement benefits scheme (SURBS)
Except for Mr Mason, the SURBS Is ‘secured" by using a fixed charge over

a cash deposit in a designated account. This provides no greater secunty
than under the registered scheme In particular, in the unlikely event that
the registered scheme were to be wound up with a deficit, members would
be no better off under the SURBS amrangernents than those paid out of the
registered scheme Under these crcumstances, to ensure party, members
of the SURBS wouid receive the same proportion of therr total entitlement
as those in the registered scheme

Cver the last few years penston contributions by our Executive Directors
have been increasing progressively in 200718 the level of contnbution was
7% of salarywhich 1s in line with senior management’s contnbution levels

Further details of the pension benefits eamed by the Dwectors can be
found on page 32
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Performance graph

The graph below highlights the Group’ total shareholder return
performance over the last five finanaal years, relative to the FTSE 100 index
of companies This index has been selected to provide an established and
broad-based comparater group of retatl and non-retall companies of similar
scale to Tesco

Total shareholder return (TSR) 1 March 2003 to 28 February 2008
TSR s the notonal retum from a share or index based on share price
movemnents and declared dividends

Service agreements

The Executive Directors all have rolling service agreemenis with no fixed
expiry date These contracts are temwnated on notice of 12 months by the
Company and six months’ notice by the Executive

If an Executive Director's employment 15 terminated (other than pursuant

to the notice provisions In the service agreement or by reason of resignation
or unacceptable performance or conduct} the Company will pay a sum
calculated on the basis of basic salary and the average annual bonus

paid for the last two years No account will be taken of pension

Termination payments will be subject to rmitigation This means that
amounts will be paid i instalments to permit mitigation [ the termmation
occurs within one year of retirement, the termination payment will be
reduced accordingly

To reflect his length of service with Tesco and the early age of his
appointment as CEQ, Sir Terry Leahy's service agreement provides for
hrs full penston entitierment to become available on retirement on or
after hes 57th birthday

The Cormmittee has agreed that new appaintments of Executive Dwectors
will normally be on a notice period of 12 months The Committee reserves
the nght to vary this pencd to 24 manths for the iutial penad of
appointment and for the notice penod te then revert to 12 months

The service agreements are available to sharehelders to view on request
from the Company Secretary

Outside appointments

Tesco recognises that its Executive Directors may be invited to become
Non-executive Directors of other companies Such non-exeartve duties
can broaden expenence and knowledge which can benefit Tesco Subject
to approval by the Board, Executive Directors are allowed to accept
non-executive appointments and retamn the fees received, provided that
these appomiments are not likely to lead to conflicts of Interest. Executive
Directors® bingraphies can be found in the Annual Review and Summary
Financial Staternent 2008 on page 27 and fees retained forany
non-executive directorships are set out below

Compary i which Fee retaned by

non-exenstve Durector in
Director directorstup held 2007/8 {£000)
Mr P A Clarke Whitbread Group PLC 55
MrATHigginson BSkyB 60
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Non-executive Directors

Non-executive Directors have letters of appomntment setting out their duties
and the tme commitment expected The letters are available to sharehalders
to view from the Company Secretary upon request The Chairman meets
with each Non-executive Ditector separately to review indwvidual performance
All Non-executive Directors are subject to re-efection by shareholders every
three years at the Annual General Meeting and their appomiment can

be terminated by either party without notice Mr Allen and Dr Einsmann,
each having served aver nine years, will going forward submit themselves
for re-election every year subject to the Chairman having reviewed their
performance and concluded that they continue to add value

The remuneration of the Non-executive Directors 1s determined by the
Chairman and the Executive Commuttee after considenng external market
research and indwidual contnbution Non-executive Directors receive a
basic fee of £55,000 per annum The Chairs of the Audit and Remuneration
Committees recerve £30,000 (in addition to their basic non-executive fee)
and Non-executive Directors who are members of these Committees receve
£12,000 for each Commuttee The Senior Independent Non-executive
Director, Mr R F Chase, who 1s also the Deputy Chairman, receives a fee

of £118,000 per annum

Tables 1-11 are audited information

Table 1 Directors’ emoluments

Fixed emoluments

The Remuneration Committee determines the Chairman’s remuneration,
having regard to time comrmitment and packages awarded to Chairmen
of other companies of a similar size and complexity Mr D E Reid,
Non-executive Chairman, received an annual fee of £585,000 this year
and has the benefit of a company car and chauffeur

Comphance

In carrying out its duties, the Committee gives full consideration to best
practice The Commuttee was constituted and operated throughout the
period In accordance with the pnnciples outlined in the Listing Rules

of the Financial Sermces Authonty denved from Schedule A and B of the
Combined Code Principles of Comorate Governance and Code of Best
Practice The auditors’ report, set out on page 41, covers the disclosures
referred to 1n this report that are speafied for audit by the Financial Services
Authority This report also complies with disclosures required by the Director
Rermuneration Report Regulations 2002 Details of Directors’ emnoluments
and mterests, ncluding Executive and savings-related share options, are set
out on pages 31 to 38

Charles Allen
Chairman of the Remuneration Commutte

Performance relsted emoluments

Share Short-term
Incentive Short-term deferred Total Total
Salary Allowances Benefits® Plan cash shares iong-term? 20078 200647
£000 £000 E£000 £000 £000 £600 £000 £000 £000
Executive Directors

Mr R Brasher 721 - 87 3 679 626 - 2,116 2,004
Mr P A Clarke 738 - 64 3 679 626 639 2,749 2,631
Mr A THigginson 738 - 94 3 679 626 670 2,810 2,661
Sir Terry Leahy 1,293 - 95 3 1,189 1,690 1,202 5,472 4,618
MrT.J R Mason! 738 260 17 3 1,018 991 670 3,797 3,765
MrTJ R Mason® 200 - - - 270 263 - 733 —
Mr T J R Mason - total 938 260 17 3 1,288 1,254 670 4,530 3,765
Miss L Neville-Rolfe? 485 - 106 3 446 411 - 1,451 239
MrD T Potts 738 - 33 3 679 626 639 2,718 2,574

MNon-executive Directors
MrC LAllen 85 - — - - - - 85 68
Mr R F Chase 118 - = - — - - 118 109
Mrs KCook 67 - - - — - - 67 62
Mr E M Dawvies 79 - -~ - - ~ - 79 70
Dr H Esnsmann 67 - - - - - - 67 62
Mr K J Hydon 85 - — - — - - 85 69
Ms C McCall 67 - - - — - - 67 62
Mr D E Reid (Chairman) 581 - 94 - - — - 675 612
Total 6,800 260 690 21 5,639 5859 3,820 23,089 19,607

1 MrMason’s salary consists of a base salary and & non-pensionable salary supplement (shown separately) in respect of certain localisation costs ncluding accommedation and schoal fees Allowances
are made up of compensation payments for addibanal tax due on eguity awards made pnor to Mr Mason's move to the US MrMason's benefits are made up of <ar, travel, medical and tax-related

costs and services

PN N

Miss Neville-Rolfe was appomnted on 14 December 2006 The 2006/7 figure 1n Table 115 calculated from the date of her appomtment.
With the excepuon of Mr Mason, benefits are made up of car benefits, chauffeurs, disability and health insurance, staff discount and gym/eisure club membership
The Long-term bonus figures shown in Table 1 relate to the additional 12.5% enhancements aflacated in May 2007 on short-term and long-term awards under the old bonus scheme The long-term

bonuses awarded on 14 Novernber 2007 under the Performance Share Plan were awarded in the form of nil cost options with the exception of Mr Mason who recened an unfunded promise to

deliver shares Details of these awards are shown in Table &
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Table 2 Pension details of the Directors
Executive Directors are members of the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme which prowides a pension of up to two-thirds of base salary on retirement, normally
at the age of 60, dependent upon service The Scheme also provides for dependants’ pensions and lump surms on death m service The Scheme 1s a

defined-benefit pension scheme, which 1s approved by HMRC
@

Increase in Transfer Transfer
accrued Transfer value value
Total Increase pension value of (a) of total af total Increase
accrued n accruad dunng at 23 February accrued acerued 0 ransfer
pension at pension theyear 2008 (tess pension at pension at value {less
Age at Years of 23 February dunng {net of Cirectars 24 february 23 February Drrector's
23 February Compary 200812 the year inflation)  contributions) 2007 2008  contnbutions)
2008 sernce £000 ECOO £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Mr R Brasher 46 21 293 52 43 408 2,559 2,767 208
Mr P A Clarke 47 33 331 36 24 244 2,364 3,343 (21)
Mr AT Higginson 50 10 252 43 32 370 2,711 2,882 171
Sir Terry Leahy3 51 29 705 78 53 1,006 9,350 10,141 791
MrT J R Mason 50 26 361 39 26 294 4,132 4,123 &)}
Miss L Newlle-Rolfe 55 10 166 41 37 543 1,885 2,444 559
Mr D T Potts 50 35 364 38 26 305 4,281 4,285 4

1 The accrued pension s that which would Be paid annually on retrement at 60 based on service to 23 February 2008
2 Some of the Executive Directors’ benefits are payable from an unapproved pension arrangement, some of which are secured by a fixed and floatng charge on a cash deposit.
3 SirTerryLeahy 1s entitled to retire at the age of 57 to 60 mdusive with an immediate pension of two-thirds of base salary

All transfer values have been calculated in accordance with Actuanal Guidance Note GN11

Table 3 Gains made on share options
Value realisable?

Number of Option Market

Date Date Date of options price pnze at 2007/8 200657

of grant exercisable exercise exercised {pence) exercise Total £000 £000

Mr R Brasher - - - - - - - - 465
Mr P A Clarke 3004 2004 3004 2007 0805 2007 434,353 25325 468 500 434,353 935 1,026
Mr AT Higginson - - - - - - - - 2,266
Sir Terry Leahy - - - - - - - - -
MrT J R Mason - - - - - - — - 1,023
Miss L Newville-Rolfe 30042004 30042007 08052007 128,350 25325 466 875 128,350 274 -
Mr D T Potts 3004 2004 3004 2607 0805 2007 434,353 25325 473 250 434,353 956 820
Total 997,056 997,056 2,165 5,600

1 Thevalue realisable fromn shares acquired on exerase 1s the difference between the market value at exercise and the exercise price of the option, although the shares may have been retained
The share pnce at 23 February 2008 was 400 25p The share price dunng the 52 weeks to 23 February 2008 ranged frorm 386 75p ta 492 00p

2 Gains made on Save As You Eam share options are not included above These are detailed in Table §

3 (Gains made on nil cost options awarded under the Perfarmance Share Plan are not included above These are detailed in Table 6
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Table 4 Share options held by Directors and not exercised at 23 February 2008
Executive share option schemes (1994) and (1996) and discretionary share option plan (2004)

Options as at Options Options  Qptlons as at Exercise Data from
24 February granted exercsed 23 February price which Expiry
Date of grant 2007 Inyear n year 2008 (pence) exercisable date
Mr R Brasher 26 06 2000 106,613 - - 106,613 2050 26062003 26062010
2604 2001 104,215 - - 101,215 2470 26042004 260420M
1504 2002 100,386 - — 100,386 2590 15042005 15042012
14 04 2003 151,900 - - 151,900 1875 14042006 14042013
3004 2004 296,150 - - 296,150 25325 30042007 30042014
22 04 2005 255,795 -~ - 255,795 31275 22042008 22042015
0805 2006 345,261 - - 345,261 31860 08052009 08052016
08 05 2007 - 278,627 - 278,627 47375 08052010 08052017
Total 1,357,320 278,627 - 1,635,947
Mr P A Clarke 3004 2004 454,353 ~ 434,353 - 25325 30042007 30042014
22 04 2005 379,856 - - 379,856 31275 22042008 22042015
08 05 2006 404,896 - - 404,896 31860 08052009 (8052016
08 05 2007 - 298,844 - 298,844 47375 08052010 08052017
Total 1,219,105 298,844 434353 1,083,596
Mr AT Higginson 30 04 2004 434,353 - - 434,353 25325 30042007 30042014
22 04 2005 379,856 - — 379,856 31275 22042008 22042015
08 05 2006 404,896 - ~ 404,896 31860 08052009 (8052016
08 05 2007 - 298,844 - 298,844 47375 08052010 08052017
Total 1,219,105 298,844 - 1,517,949
Sir Terry Leahy 3009 1998 126,832 - - 126,832 1640 30092001 30092008
30111999 228,901 - - 228,901 1730 30112002 30112009
2004 2000 17,673 - - 17,673 2095 20042003 20042010
26 06 2000 780,487 - — 780,487 2050 26062003 26062010
26 04 2001 647773 - — 647,773 2470 26042004 26042011
15 04 2002 642,471 - - 642,471 2590 15042005 15042012
14 04 2003 939,747 - - 939,747 1975 14042006 14042013
3004 2004 766,041 - - 766,041 25325 30042007 30042014
22 04 2005 658,673 - - 658,673 31275 22042008 22042015
08 05 2006 709,353 — -~ 709,353 31860 08052009 08052016
08 05 2007 - 523,556 - 523,556 47375 08072010 0805 2017
Total 5,517,951 523,556 - 6,041,507
MrT J R Mason 1504 2002 358,301 - - 358,301 2590 15042005 15042012
30 04 2004 434,353 - - 434,353 25325 30042007 30042014
2204 2005 379,856 - - 379,856 31275 22042008 22042015
08 05 2006 404,896 - - 404,896 31860 08052009 08052016
1008 2007 - 333,319 — 333,319 42475 10082010 10082017
Total 1,577,406 333,319 - 1,910,725
Miss LNewvlle-Rolfe 3004 2004 128,350 - 128,350 - 25325 30042007 30042014
22 04 2005 108,050 - - 108,050 31275 22042008 22042015
08 05 2006 116,133 - - 116,133 31860 08052009 08052016
08 05 2007 - 189,973 - 189,973 47375 (08052010 08052017
Total 352,533 189,973 128,350 414,156
MrDT Potts 3004 2004 434,353 - 434,353 - 25325 30042007 30042014
22 042005 379,856 - = 379,856 31275 22042008 22042015
08 05 2006 404,896 — - 404,896 31860 08052009 08052016
08 05 2007 - 298,844 - 298,844 47375 08052010 08052017
Total 1,219,105 298,844 434,353 1,083,596
Total 12,462,525 2,222,007 997,056 13,687,476

1 Executive share options are subject to performance conditrans measurad over three years as set out on page 29 EPS growth forthe penod 03/4 to 06/7 exceeded RPi by 26.6%, therefore share
options awarded on 30 Apnl 2004 vested in full on 30 Apnl 2007 Executives have untl the tenth annversary of the date of grant to exeruse thar options.

2 No optons lapsed in the year

3 The market pnce at exerase 15 shown inTable 3
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Table 5 Share options held by Directors and not exercised at 23 February 2008
Savings-related share option scheme (1981}

Value Vahie
As at Options Opuons As at Exerase realisable realisable
24 February granted exercised 23 February price 200778 260657
Date of grant 2007 In year In year 2008 (pence} £000 £000
Mr R Brasher 08 112002 2,066 - 2,066 - 1590 5 -
06112003 1,625 - - 1,625 1950 - -
04 11 2004 1,424 - - 1,424 2320 — -
0211 2005 1,298 — — 1,298 2480 — -
08 11 2006 1,066 - - 1,066 3070 - -
07 11 2007 - 819 - 819 4100 - -
Total 7,479 819 2,066 6,232 5 4
Mr P A Clarke 08 11 2002 2,066 - 2,066 - 1590 5 -
06 11 2003 1,625 — - 1,625 1950 - -
04 11 2004 1,424 - - 1,424 2320 - -
02 1% 2005 1,298 - - 1,298 2480 - -
08 11 2006 1,066 - - 1,066 3070 - -
0711 2007 - 819 - 819 4100 - -
Total 7,479 819 2,066 6,232 5 4
Mr AT Higginson 08 11 2002 2,066 - 2,066 - 1590 5 -
06 11 2003 1,625 - - 1,625 1950 - -
04 11 2004 1,424 - - 1,424 2320 — -
02 11 2005 1,298 - - 1,298 2480 - -
08 11 2006 1,066 - - 1,066 3070 - -
07 11 2007 — 819 - 819 4100 — -
Total 7,479 819 2,066 6,232 5 4
Sir Terry Leahy 08 11 2002 2,066 - 2,066 - 1590 5 -
06 11 2003 1,625 - - 1,625 1950 - -
0411 2004 1,424 - - 1,424 2320 — -
02 11 2005 1,298 - — 1,298 2480 — —
08 11 2006 1,066 - - 1,066 3070 - -
07112007 - 819 - 819 4100 -
Total 7,479 819 2,066 6,232 5 4
MrTJ R Mason 08 11 2002 2,066 - 2,066 - 1590 5 -
06 11 2003 1,625 - - 1,625 1950 - -
04 11 2004 1,424 - - 1,424 2320 — -
02 11 2005 1,298 - - 1,298 2480 — -
08 11 2006 1,066 = — 1,066 3070 — —
07 11 2007 - 819 - 819 4100 =
Total 7,479 819 2,066 6,232 5 2
Miss L Neville-Rolfe 08 11 2002 2,066 - 2,066 - 1590 5 -
06 11 2003 1,625 - -~ 1,625 1950 - -
0411 2004 1,424 - - 1,424 2320 - -
02 11 2005 1,298 - - 1,298 2480 - -
08 11 2006 1,066 — - 1,066 3070 - -
07 11 2007 - 819 - 819 4100 — -
Total 7,479 819 2,066 6,232 5 —
Mr D T Potis 08 11 2002 2,066 - 2066 - 1590 5 -
06 11 2003 1,625 - - 1,625 1950 - -
0411 2004 1,424 - - 1,424 2320 - -
02 11 2005 1,298 - - 1,298 2480 - -
08 11 2006 1,066 - - 1,066 3070 - -
07 112007 - 819 - 819 4100 - -
Total 7,479 819 2,066 6,232 5 4
Towl 52,353 5733 14,462 43,624

1 Save As You Eam 15 an all employee share scheme Optiors are not subyect to performance conditions All options are exercisable from 1 February in the year whach 15 s years from the year of grant.
All optiens expire sixmonths from therr exercise date (fe on 1 August of the relevant year) All directors exercised options on 1 February 2008 when the market price was 416 75p No options lapsed
in the year
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Table 6 Long-Term Performance Share Plan

Options Date of
Share pnce As at  Shares awarded/ exeraised! As at releasa/date
Date of award/ on award date 24 February  options granted  shares released 23 February from which Expiry
grant (pence) 2007 In year In year 2008 exercisable date
Mr R Brasher 2807 2004 25345 118,367 — - 118,367 28072008 28072014
12102005 30275 187,050 4515 - 191,565 12072009 12102015
2007 2006 34625 192,168 4,639 - 196,807 20072010 2007 2016
14112007 47110 - 240,045 ~ 240,045 14072010 14112017
Total 497 585 249,199 - 746,784
Mr P A Clarke 2807 2004 253 45 175,774 = - 175,774 28072008 2807 2014
12 10 2005 30275 219,359 5,295 - 224,654 12072009 12102015
20 07 2006 34625 206,111 4975 ~ 211,086 20072010 2007 2016
14 11 2007 47110 - 240,045 - 240,045 14072010 14112017
Total 601,244 250,315 - 851,559
Mr AT Higginson 28 07 2004 253 45 175,774 - - 175,774 28072008 28072014
12102005 30275 219,359 5,295 - 224,654 12072009 12102015
20 07 2006 34625 206,111 4,975 - 211,086 20072010 2007 2016
1411 2007 47110 - 240,045 - 240,045 14072010 14112017
Total 601,244 250,315 - 851,559
Sir Terry Leahy 28 07 2004 253 45 304,794 - - 304,794 28072008 2807204
1210 2005 30275 384,304 9,278 - 393,582 12072009 12102015
2007 2006 346 25 361,093 8,717 - 369,810 20072010 20072016
1411 2007 47110 - 420,484 - 420,484 14072010 14112017
Total 1,050,191 438,479 - 1,488,670
MrT J R Mason? 28 07 2004 253 45 175,774 - 85,343 90,431 28072008 28072014
12 10 2005 30275 219,359 5,295 - 224,654 12072009 12102015
25 08 2006 346 25 206,111 4,975 - 211,086 2007 2010 -
1411 2007 47110 - 160,030 - 160,030 1407 2010 -
Total 601,244 170,300 85,343 686,201
Miss L Newville-Rolfe? 18 01 2006 31225 29,623 197 - 29820 1807 2008 -
20 07 2006 34625 57,039 378 - 57,417 2007 2009 -
1411 2067 47110 - 157,610 - 157,610 14072010 14112017
Total 86,662 158,185 - 244,847
Mr D T Potts 28 07 2004 25345 175,774 - - 175,774 2807 2008 28072014
12 102005 30275 219,359 5,295 - 224,654 12072009 12102015
20 07 2006 34625 206,111 4,975 - 211,086 20072010 2007 2016
14 11 2007 47110 - 240,045 - 240,045 14072010 14112017
Total 601,244 250,315 - 851,559
Total 4,039,414 1,767,108 85,343 5,721,179

1 MrMason’s 2006 and 2007 awards were rmade in the form of an unfunded promise Foliowing approval by the Remuneration Comeruttee Mr Mason part exercised his 2004 award on 23 August 2007
at a share price of 405 00p in order to fund a US tax liabilty

2 Miss LNewille Rolfe’s 2006 awards were made i the form of restricted shares under the semer management performance share plan

3 The Performance Share Plan replaced the Long-Term Exgcutive Incentive Scheme The first award under the new Plan was made m 2004 All awards except those descnibed in notes 1 and 2 above
have been made in the form of il cost options

4 The awards are subject to performance conditions based on Retum on Capital Employed (ROCE) targets, The Group ROCE for 2006/7 was 12 €%, therefore tangets for PSP awards granted on

28 July 2004 were met 1n full and these awards vested Executives are required to retain these vested awards fora further 12 months with the exception of Mr Mason {see note 1)

The awards are increased ta reflect dvdends equivalents as each dwadend 15 paid with the exception of the 2004 awand on which na dridends accrue

No options lapsed in the year under this Plan.

o
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Table 7 Group New Business Incentive Plan

Share price on As at Cptions Options As at Date fram

Date of award date 24 February granted exercised 23 February which Expiry
grant (pence) 2007 nyear nyear 2008 exercisable date
Sir Terry Leahy 1411 2007 482 00 - 2,500,000 - 2,500,000 Four 14112017
tranches
2011-2014
Total 2,500,000 - 2,500,000

1 The Group New Business Incentive Plan (2007) was approved by shareholders on 29 June 2007 The awards made under this plan wall normallyvest in four tranches, four, five, six and seven years
after the date of award for nil consideration Vesting will normally be cenditional on the achievement of speaified performance targets related to the retum on capital employed over the seven-year
plan The award 15 in the form of rul cest options

Table 8 US Long-Term Incentive Plan

Share prnce on As at Shares Shares Asat
Date of award date 24 February awarded released 23 February Date of
award {pence) 2007 myear In year 2008 release
MrT J R Mason 1411 2007 482 00 - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 Four
tranches
2011-2014
Total - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000

1 The US Long Term Incentive Plan (2007) was approved by shareholders on 29 June 2007 The awards made underthis Plan will nermally vest in four tranches, four, five, six and sevenyears after the
date of award for il consideration Vesting will normally be condibonal on the achievement of specified performance targets related to the return on capita! employed in the US business over the
seven year Plan

Table 9 Executive Incentive Plan

Share price Asat  Shares awarded!  Shares released/ As at relealsjt:'t;a?:
Date of award/ on award date 24 February  optons granted  apbons exerased 23 February fromwhich Expiry
grant (pence) 2007 inyear inyear 2008 exercisable date

Mr R Brasher 2005 2005 31100 100,203 2433 - 102,636 20052008 20052015
2605 2006 31850 168,869 4,076 - 172,945 26052009 26052016
2405 2007 45675 - 145,594 - 145,594 24052010 24052017

Total 269,072 152,103 - 421,175

Mr P A Clarke 2005 2005 311060 148,802 3613 — 152,415 20052008 20052015
26 05 2006 31850 198,037 4,780 — 202,817 26052009 26052016
2405 2007 45675 - 156,159 — 156,159 24052010 2405 2017

Total 346,839 164,552 - 511,37

Mr AT Higginson 20 05 2005 31100 148,802 3613 - 152,415 20052008 20052015
2605 2006 318 50 198,037 4,780 - 202,817 26052009 26052016
2405 2007 456 75 - 156,159 - 156,159 24052010 24052017

Total 346,839 164,552 - 511,391

Sir Terry Leahy 2005 2005 31100 258,025 6,265 - 264,290 20052008 20052015
2605 2006 31850 346,950 8,376 — 355,326 26052009 26052016
2405 2007 45675 ~ 273,581 - 273,581 24052010 24052017

Total 604,975 288,222 - 893,197

MrTJ R Mason 2005 2005 31100 148,802 3,613 - 152,415 20052008 20052015
2405 2007 45675 -~ 177,470 - 177,470 24052010 -

Total 148,802 181,083 - 329,885

Miss L Newille-Rolfe 24 05 2007 45675 - 74,452 = 74,452 24052010 24052017

Total - 74,452 - 74,452

MrD T Potts 2005 2005 31100 148,802 3,613 = 152,415 20052008 2005 2015
2605 2006 31850 198,037 4,780 — 202,817 26052009 26052016
24052007 45675 - 156,159 - 156,159 24052010 24052017

Total 346,839 164,552 - 511,391

Total 2,063,366 1,189,516 - 3,252,882

1 The Exaautve Incentve Plan replaced the Short-term Executive Incentive Scherne The first award under the new Plan was made in 2005

2 The awards are subject to performance conditions based on TSR, eamings per share and corporate objectives

3 MrMason's 2007 award was made i the form of an unfunded promise His 2005 award was made m the form of nil cost options

4 The awards are increased to reflect dnadends equivalents as each dandend 15 pad

5 No options lapsed in the year under the Executive Incentive Plan
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Table 10 Directors’ interests in the Long-Term Incentive Plan

Number of Numbaer of Value of
shares as at Shares Shares  shares zs at shares Marke: price
Year of Award 24 February awarded released 23 February released Release on release
release date 2007 N year m year 2008 £000s date {pence)
Mr R Brasher? 2008 270504 39,7116 915 40,631 - 163 150208 400 4
Total 39,716 915 40,631 - 163
Mr P A Clarke 2008 110401 94,502 14,068 108,570 - 435 150208 400 4
2008 090403 381,436 56,786 438,222 - 1,755 150208 400 4
2008 040504 175,832 4,052 - 179,884 — 040508 -
2009 100402 143,218 21,320 = 164,538 - 1004 09 -
2009 040504 296,715 4417 - 340,886 - 04 0509 -
2010 090403 190,108 28,302 - 218410 - 090410 -
Total 1,281,811 168,699 546,792 903,718 2,190
Mr AT Higginson 2008 110401 109,830 16,350 126,180 - 505 150208 4004
2008 090403 398,389 59,307 457,696 - 1,833 150208 400 4
2008 040504 175,832 4,052 - 179,884 - 040508 -
2009 100402 156,362 23,277 — 179,639 - 10 04 0% —
2009 040504 296,715 44171 - 340,886 - 04 0509 -
2010 090403 198,559 29,560 — 228,119 - 090410 -
Total 1,335,687 176,717 583,876 928,528 2,338
Sir Terry Leahy 2008 110401 204,335 30,420 234,755 - 940 150208 400 4
2008 090403 715,103 106,459 821,562 - 3,289 1502 08 400 4
2008 040504 310,105 7,145 — 317,250 - 040508 —
2009 100402 280377 41,740 - 322,117 - 100409 -
2009 040504 523,304 77,906 - 601,210 - 04 05 09 -
2010 090403 356,411 53,060 - 409471 - 090410 -
Total 2,389,635 316,730 1,056,317 1,650,048 4,229
MrT J R Mason 2008 110401 109,830 16,350 126,180 - 505 150208 400 4
2008 090403 398,389 59,307 457,696 - 1,833 150208 400 4
2008 040504 175,832 4,052 - 179,884 - 040508 -
2009 100402 156,362 23,277 - 179,639 - 100409 -
2009 040504 296,715 44,771 - 340,886 - 040509 -
2010 090403 198,559 29,560 - 228,119 - 090410 -
Total 1,335,687 176,717 583,876 928,528 2,338
Miss L Neville-Rolfe? 2008 270504 33,016 759 33,775 - 135 150208 400 4
2008 120505 54,538 1,256 55,794 - 223 150208 400 4
2009 240506 56,631 1,304 - 57,935 — 240509 -
Total 144,185 3,319 89,569 57,935 358
Mr D T Potts 2008 110401 94,502 14,068 108,570 - 435 150208 400 4
2008 090403 381,436 56,786 438,222 - 1,755 150208 400 4
2008 040504 175,832 4,052 - 179,884 — 040508 -
2009 100402 143,218 21,320 - 164,538 - 100409 -
2009 040504 296,715 44471 — 340,886 — 040509 -
2010 09 0403 190,108 28,302 - 218,410 - 090410 -
Total 1,281,811 168,699 546,792 903,718 2,190
Total 7,808,532 1,011,796 3,447,853 5,372,475 13,806

1 Bonus shares shown for Mr R Brasher and Miss L Neville-Rolfe were awarded under the senior management bonus scheme before they joined the Board These shares cannot be retamned foran

addiional three-year pened and enhanced
2 This Plan has been replaced by the Performance Share Plan and Executive Incentve Plan The |3t awards under this Plan were made in May 2004

3 Long-term awards from 2002 are classed as four year cycles and short-term awards from 2004 are classed as two-year cycles as no election for enhancement 1s possible yet. Long-term awards

can be enhanced from the fourth year, extending the cycle to seven years. Short-term awards can be enhanted frorn the second year, extending the cycle to five years

Date of award 110401 100402 090403 040504 270504 120505 240506
Award pnce (pence) 25925 24500 197 25 24875 249 88 30988 31688
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Table 11 Disclosable interests of the Dhrectors, including farmily interests

13 February 2008 24 February 2007
Optlons Options
to acquite 10 acguie
Ordinary ordinary Ordinary ordinary
shares® shares? shares® shares?
Executive Directors
Mr R Brasher 184,221 2,810,138 195,483 2,131,456
Mr P A Clarke 1,438,855 2,452,778 1,491,104 2,174,667
Mr AT Higginson 1,384,926 2,887,131 1,674,052 2,174,667
Sir Terry Leahy 6,067,985 10,929,606 6,161,039 7,180,596
MrT.J R Mason 3,882,995 2,584,457 1,963,153 2,128,820
Miss L Newille-Rolfe 227,650 652,450 255,883 360,012
Mr D T Potts 1,803,574 2,452,778 1,843,088 2,174,667
Non-executive Directors
Mr C LAllen - - - -
Mr R F Chase - - 52,653 -
Mrs K Cook - - - -
Mr £ M Davies 2,400 - 2,400 -
Dr H Einsmann 246,054 - 209,353 -
Mr K J Hydon 30,093 - 30,093 -
Ms C McCall 6,556 - 6,408 -
Mr D E Reid (Chairman) 193,515 - 193,347 -
Total 15,468,804 24,569,338 14,078,056 18,324,885

1 Ordinary shares shown in this table include shares held as part of incentive plans shown in Table 10 and shares held under a promise as part of the Performance Share Plan shown in Table 6,
US Long-term Incentve Pian shown in Table 8 and Executive Incentive Plan shown in Table 9 Between 23 February 2008 and 28 April 2008, 378 shares were purchased by Executive Directors ag part
of the Buy As You Earm scheme

2 Options to acqurre ordinary shares shown above compnse options held under the Executrve Share Option schemes and Discretionary Share Option Plan shown m Tabile 4, Save As You Earmn scheme
shown n Table 5, and ™ cost options held under the Performance Share Plan, Group New Business incentve Plan and Executve Incentive Plan shown w Tables &, 7 and 9 respeciely
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are required by the Companies Acts 1985 and 2006 to
prepare financial staternents for each financial year which give a true and
fair view of the state of affarrs of the Company and the Group as at the
end of the financal year and of the profit or loss of the Group for the
financial year Under that law the Directors are required to prepare the
Group financial statements in accordance wath International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Uruon (EU) and
have elected to prepare the Company financial statements in accordance
with UK Accounting Standards

In preparing the Group and Company finanaal statements, the Directors
are required to

> select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently,

> make reasonable and prudent judgements and esttmates,

> for the Group financial statements, state whether they have been
prepared in accardance with IFRS as adoptad by the EU,

> for the Company financial statements state whether appiicable UK
Accounting Standards have been followed, and

> prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis, unless it1s
mapproprate to presume that the Group and the Companywill continue
m business

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above requirements
In prepanng the financial statements

Tesco PLC Annual Report and
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The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time, the financial pesition of the
Company and Group, and whuch enable them to ensure that the financial
statemnents and the Directors’ Remuneration Report comply with the
Compantes Acts 1985 and 2006, and as regards the Group financial
statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

The Business Review includes a fair review of the business and important
events impacting It, as well as a description of the princpal nsks and
uncertainties of the business

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integnty of the
Annual Review and Summary Financial Statement and Annual Report
and Financial Statements pubbshed on the Group's corporate website
Legislation in the UK concerning the preparation and dissermination

of financial staternents may differ from legislation in other junsdictions

The Directors have general responsibility for taking such steps as are

reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and
of the Company and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregulanties
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Tesco PLC

We have audited the Group financial statements of Tesco PLC for the year
ended 23 February 2008 which compnse the Group Income Statement,
the Group Balance Sheet, the Group Cash Flow Statement, the Group
Statemnent of Recogrised Income and Expense and the related notes
These Group financial statements have been prepared under the
accounting policies set out therein

We have reported separately on the Parent Company financial statements
of Tesco PLC for the year ended 23 February 2008 and on the information in
the Drrectors’ Remuneration Report that 1s described as having been audited

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors

The Drectors' responsibilities for prepanng the Annual Repert and

the Group financial staterments m accordance with applhicable law and
Intemattonal Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
European Union are set out in the Statemnent of Directors’ Responsibihties

Qur responsibility 15 to audit the Group financial statements n accordance
with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and [ntermational Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) This report, including the opinion, has been
prepared for and anly for the Company’s membaers as a body in accordance
with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other purpose

We do not, in gnang this opirion, accept or assume responsibility for any
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report 1s shown or into
whose hands It may come save where expressly agreed by our pnor consent
In wnting

We report to you our apimion as to whether the Group financial statements
give a true and fairview and whether the Group financial statements have
been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation We also report 10 you whether in our opinion
the information given in the Directors’ Report 1s consistent with the

Group financial statements

In addition we report to you If, in our opinion, we have not received all

the information and explanations we require for our audit, or If Information
specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration and other transactions
1s not disclosed

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflacts the
Company’s compliance with the rmine prowisions of the Combined Code
(2006) specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services
Authonty, and we report if 1t does not We are not required to consider
whether the Board's statements on internal control cover all nsks and
controls, or form an opinron on the effectiveness of the Group's corporate
govemance procedures or its nsk and control procedures

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider
whether it 15 consistent with the audited Group financial staterments

The other information compnses only the Financal highlights, the Chief
Executve'’s statement, the Directors’ report, the Corporate governance
statement, the unaudited part of the Directors’ remuneration report and
the Five Year Record We constder the implications for our report if we
become aware of any apparent misstatements or matenal Inconsistencies
with the Group financial statements Qur responsibilities do not extend
to any other information

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit In accordance with International Standards

on Audiing (UK and Ireland) 1ssued by the Auditing Practices Board

An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to
the ameounts and disclosures in the Group financial statements It also
Includes an assessment of the significant estmates and judgements made
by the Directors in the preparaton of the Group financial statements,
and of whether the accounting policies are appropnate to the Group's
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed

We planned and performed our audit 50 as to obtam all the information
and explanations which we considered necessary m order to prowide

us with sufficient ewidence to gve reasonable assurance that the Group
financial statements are free from matenal misstaternent, whether caused
by fraud or other imegulanty or emor !n forming our opinion we also evaluated
the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the Group
financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion

> the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, m accordance
with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, of the state of the
Group’s affairs as at 23 February 2008 and of its profit and cash flows
for the year then ended,

> the Group financral statements have been properly prepared in
accordance wath the Companies Act 1985 and Artcle 4 of the
IAS Reqgulation, and

> the infermation given in the Directors’ Report I1s consistent with the
,ﬁ‘roup financial statements

PrnicewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London 28 Apnl 2008
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Group income statement
year ended 23 February 2008

2008 2007
notes £m £m
Continuing operations
Revenue (sales excluding VAT 2 47,298 42,641
Cost of sales (43,668) (39,401)
Pensions adjustment — Finange Act 2006 24 - 258
Impairment of the Gerrards Cross site - (35)
Gross profit 3,630 3,463
Administrative expenses (1,027) (907)
Profit ansing on property-related items 273 188 92
Operating profit 2 2,791 2,648
Share of post-tax profits of joint ventures and associates
{including £nil on property-related iterns (2006/7 — £47m gan)) 13 75 106
Profit on sale of iInvestments In assocates 13 - 25
Finance mcome 5 187 90
Finance costs 5 (250) (216)
Profit before tax 3 2,803 2,653
Taxation [3 (673) (772)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 2,130 1,881
Discontinued operation
Profit for the year from discontinued operation 7 - 18
Prafit for the year 2,130 1,899
Attributable to
Equity holders of the parent 26 2,124 1,892
Minonity interests 26 6 7
2,130 1,899
Earnings per share from continuing and discontinued operations
Basic 9 26 95p 23 84p
Diluted 9 26 61p 23 54p
Earnings per share from continuing operations
Basic 9 26 95p 23 61p
Diluted 9 26 61p 2331p
Non-GAAP measure underlying profit before tax
2008 2007
nates £m £m
Profit before tax (excluding discontinued opetation) 2,803 2,653
Adustrnents for
1AS 32 and IAS 39 “Finanaal Instruments’ — Fairvalue remeasurements 5 (49) 4
1AS 12 Incorne Statement charge for pensions 24 414 432
‘Normal’ cash contributions for pensions 24 (340) 321}
1A5 17 “Leases’ — impact of annual uphfts in rent and rent-free periods 1 18 -
Exceptional items
Pensions adjustment - Finance Act 2006 24 - (258)
Imparment of the Gerrards Cross site 1 - 35
Underlying profit before tax 1 2,846 2,545

The notes on pages 46 to 95 form part of these financial statements
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Group statement of recognised income and expense

year ended 23 February 2008

2008 2007
nates £m £m
Loss on revaluation of avallable-for-sale ivestments 14 4) (4]
Foreign currency translation differences 38 {65)
Total gain on defined benefit pension schemes 24 187 114
Gainsf{losses) on cash flow hedges
Net fairvalue gains/(losses) 66 (26)
Reclassified and reported in the Group Incorne Statement {29) {12)
Tax on items taken directly to equity 3 123 12
Net income recogrused directly in equity 381 22
Profit for the year 2,130 1,899
Total recogmised income and expense for the year 26 2,511 1,921
Autnbutable to
Equity hotders of the parent 2,500 1,520
Minority interests 11 1
2,511 1,921
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Group balance sheet
23 February 2008

2008

2007

notes £m £m
Non-current assets
Goodwill and other mtangible assets 10 2,336 2,045
Property, plant and equipment 11 19,787 16,976
Investment property 12 1,112 856
Investrments 1n Joint ventures and assocates 13 305 314
Other investments 14 4 8
Denvative financial instruments 20 216 -
Deferred tax assets 6 104 32
23,864 20,231
Current assets
Inventortes 15 2,430 1,931
Trade and ather receivables 16 1,311 1,079
Denvative financial instruments 20 97 108
Current tax assets 6 8
Short-term investments 360 -
Cash and cash equwalents 17 1,788 1,042
5,992 4168
Non-curent assets classified as held for sale 7 308 408
6,300 4,576
Current habihities
Trade and other payables 18 (7,277) (6,046)
Financial hiabilities
Borrowings 19 (2,084) (1,554)
Denvative financial Instruments and other habihities 20 (443) 87
Current tax liabilities (455) (461)
Provisions 22 4 (4)
(10,263) (8,152}
Net current habihties (3,963) (3,576)
Non-current habilities
Financial habilines
Borrowings 19 (5,972) (4,146)
Denvative financial instruments and other habilities 20 (322) (399)
Post-employment benefit obligations 24 (838) (950)
Qther non-current payables 18 (42) 29
Deferred tax liabilities 6 (802) (535)
Prowvisions 22 (23) (25)
(7,999) {6,084)
Net assets 11,902 10,571
Equity
Share capital 2526 393 397
Share premuum account 26 4,511 4376
Other reserves 26 40 40
Retained earnings 26 6,871 5,693
Equity attnbutable to equity helders of the parent 11,815 10,506
Minority interests 26 a7 65
Total equity » 11,902 10,571

SirTerry Leahy
Andrew Higginson

Directors
The financial statements on pages
at the Annual General Meeting on 2
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Group cash flow statement
year ended 23 February 2008

2008 2007
Ees £m £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 29 4,099 3,532
Interest paid (410) (376)
Compomtion tax pad (346) (545)
Net cash from operating activities 3,343 2,611
Cash flows from investing actiities
Acquisition of subsidianes, net of cash acquired (169) (325)
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary, net of cash disposed - 22
Proceeds from sale of joint ventures and associates - M
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and investment property (3,442) (2,852)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1,056 809
Purchase of intangible assets (158) (174)
Increase in loans to joint ventures (36) 21
Invested In Joint ventures and associates (61) (49)
Invested in short-term investments (360) -
Dmdends receved 88 124
Interest receved 128 82
Net cash used Iin investing activities (2,954) {2,343)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital 138 156
Proceeds from sale of ordinary share capital to minenty interests 16 -
Increase in bomowings 9,333 4,743
Repayment cf borrowings (7,593) (4,559)
New finance leases 119 59
Repayment of obligations under finance leases (32) (15)
Dvdends patd (792) (467)
Dwidends pard to minonty interests (2) -
Qwn shares purchased (775) (490)
Net cash from/(used in) financing actrvities 412 (533)
Net increasel{decrease) in cash and cash equvalents 809 (265)
Cash and cash eguivalents at beginning of year 1,042 1,325
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (55) {18)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 17 1,788 1,042

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt note

2008 2007

notes £Em £m

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equwalents 801 (265)
Net cash inflows from debt and lease finanaing (1,827 (268)
Short-term Investments 360 -
Movement in joint venture loan recervables 36 38*

Other non-cash movements (691) 18
Increase in net debt n the year (1,329) 477
Opening net debt 30 (4,861) {4,509)
Adjustment for joint venture loan recevables 30 - 125*
Adjusted opening net debt 30 (4,861) (4,384)
Closing net debt 30 (6,182) {4,861)

*  The measurement of net debt has been revised to mclude loans recervable from joint ventures Going farward net debt wall be stated inclusive of the loan recevables from joint venitires

NB The reconaliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt note & not @ prmary statement and does not farm part of the cash flow statement.
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Notes to the Group financial statements

Note 1 Accounting policies

General information

Tesco PLC 1s a public mited company incorporated and domiciled in the
United Kingdom under the Companies Act 1985 (Registration number
445790) The address of the registered office Is Tesco House, Delamare Road,
Cheshunt, Hertfordshire, EN8 95L, UK

As described in the Directors’ Report, the mam activity of the Group 1s that
of retalling and associated actmues

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with [nternational Financial Reporting Standards {(IFRS) and International
Financial Reporting Interpretation Commuttee (IFRIC) interpretations as
endorsed by the European Union, and those parts of the Companies Acts
1985 and 2006 as applicable to companies reporting under [FRS

Basis of preparation

The financial statements are presented in Pounds Sterling, rounded to the
nearest millon They are prepared on the histoncal cost basis, except for
certain financial iInstruments, share-based payments and pensions that
have been measured at fairvalue

The accounting policies set out below have been apphed consistently
to all pencds presented in these consolidated financial statements

Basis of consolidation

The Group financial statements consist of the financal statements
of the ultsmate Parent Company (Tesco PLO), all entities controlled by
the Company (its subsicharies) and the Group’s share of its interests
in Joint ventures and associates

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidhanes, joint ventures and associates to bring the accounting policies
used into ine wath those of the Group

Subsidianes
A subsidiary1s an entity whose operating and financing policies are
controlled, directly or indirectly, by Tesco PLC

The accounts of the Parent Company's subsidiary undertakings are
prepared to dates around the Group yearend Dobbies Garden Centres PEC
{‘Dobbies™ has a different year end to the Group, as 1t Is yet te be aligned
with the Group year end following its acquisition in August 2007 However
the results of Dobbies from the date of acquisitron to 28 February 2008
have been Included in the Group's results for the year

The financial statements of subsidianes are included in the consolidated
financial staternents from the date that control commences until the date
that control ceases

Intragroup balances and any unrealised gains and losses or income and
expenses ansing from intragroup transactions, are eliminated in prepanng
the consolidated finanaal statements

Joint ventures and assodates

A joint venture 15 an entity n which the Group holds an interest on a
long-term basis and which 15 jointly controlled by the Group and one
or more otherventurers under a contractual agreement.
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An associate 15 an undertaking, not being a subsidary or joint venture,
overwhich the Group has significant influence and can particspate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the entity

The Group's share of the results of joint ventures and assocates i1s included
in the Group Income Statement using the equity method of accounting
Investrents in joint ventures and associates are carmed m the Group
Balance Sheet at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of
the net assets of the entity, less anyimpaimment invalue The camying values
of Investments n joint ventures and associates include acquired goodwall

If the Group's share of losses in a joint venture or associate equals or
exceeds Its Investment in the joint venture or associate, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations to do so
or made payments on behalf of the joint venture or associate

Unrealised gains ansing from transactions with joint ventures and
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the entity

Use of assumptions and estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estmates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilites,
income and expenses The estimates and assocated assumptions are
based on histoncal experience and vanous other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making judgements about carrying values of assets and habihities
that are not readily apparent from other sources Actual results may differ
from these estimates

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis Rewvisions to accounting estimates are recogmised in the pertod In
which the estimate I1s revised 1f the revision affects only that peniod, or in
the penod of the rewision and future penods if the rewision affects both
current and fliture penods

Cntical estmates and assumptions are made in particular with regard

to estabhshing uniform depreciation and amortisation penods for the
Group, mpairment testing, assumptions for measunng pension provisions,
determination of the far value of obhigations to purchase minonty interests,
classtfication of leases as operating leases versus finance leases (including
on sale and leasebacks), the likelihood that tax assets can be realised and
the classification of certain operations as held for sale

Revenue
Revenue consists of sales through retaill outlets

Revenue 15 recorded net of retumns, relevant vouchers/offers and value-added
taxes, when the sigmificant risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred to the buyer Relevantvouchers/offers include money-off
coupons, conditional spend vouchers and affers such as buy cne get one
free (BOGOF) and 3 for 2

Comimssion income 15 recerded based on the terms of the contracts
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Note 1 Accounting policies continued

Clubcard and loyalty initiatives

The cost of Clubcard 1s treated as a cost of sale, with an accrual equal to
the estmated fairvalue of the points issued recogmsed when the onginal
transaction occurs On redemption, the cost of redemptron is offset against
the accrual

The fairvalue of the ponts awarded 1s determined with reference to the
cost of redemption and considers factors such as redemption via Clubcard
deals versus money-off in-store and redemption rate

Computers for Schools and Sport for Schoals and Clubs vouchers are
1ssued by Tesco for redemption by participating schoolsficlubs and are part
of our overall Community Plan The cost of the redemption (1 e meeting
the obligation attached to the vouchers) 1s treated as a ¢ost rather than
as a deduction from sales

Other income
Finance income 1s recognised in the period to which it relates on an
accruals basis Dividends are recognised when a legal entitlement to
payment anses

Qperating profit
Operating profit 15 stated after profit ansing on property-refated items but
before the share of results of jomt ventures and associates, finance income
and finance costs

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation 1s a component of the Group’s business that
represents a separate line of business or geographical area of operation
Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or earlier,
If the operation meets the cnteria to be classified as held for sale, under
IFRS 5 ‘Non-current assets held for sale’

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment assets are carned at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any recogrised impairment in value

Property, plant and equipment assets are depreciated on a straight-lne
basis to their ressdual value over therr anticipated useful economic lives

The following deprecration rates are appled for the Group

> Freehold and leasehold bulldings with greater than 40 years unexpired -
at 2 5% of cost,

> Leasehold properties with less than 40 years unexpired are depreciated
by equal annual Instalments over the unexpired penod of the lease, and

> Plant, equipment, fixtures and fitings and motor vehicles - at rates
varying from 9% to 33%

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over ther expected useful
lives on the same basis as owned assets or, when shorter, over the term of
the relevant lease

All tangible fixed assets are reviewed for mparment in accordance with
IAS 36 ‘Impairment of Assets’ when there are indrcations that the camying
value may not be recoverable

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attnbutable to the acquisition or construction of
quahfying assets are capitalised Qualifying assets are those that necessarly
take a substantial penod of time to prepare for their ntended use All other
borrowing costs are recogrised in the Group Income Statement In the
penod mn which they occur

Investment property

Investment property 1s property held to eamn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation rather than for the purpose of Group operating
activities Investment property assets are carned at cost less agcumulated
depreciation and any recognised impairiment in value The depreciation
policies for investment property are consistent with those descnbed for
owner-occupled property

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantally all the nsks and rewards of ownership to the fessee
All otherleases are cfassified as operating leases

The Group as a lessor

Amaounts due fram lessees under finance leases are recorded as recevables
at the amount of the Group’s net investment in the leases Finance lease
income 1s allocated to accounting peviods 5o as to reflect a constant
penodic rate of return on the Group's net nvestment in the lease

Rental income from operating leases 1s recognised on a straight-line basis
over the term of the relevant lease

The Group as a lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group

at their farvalue or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease
payments, each determined at the inception of the lease The comresponding
hability 1s included in the Group Balance Sheet as a finance lease obligation
Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction
of the [ease obligations so as to achieve a constant rate of Interest on the
remaining balance of the hability Finance charges are charged to the

Group Income Statement.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the Group Income
Statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease

Sale and leaseback

A sale and leaseback transaction 15 one where a vendeor sells an asset and
immediately reacquires the use of that asset by entering into a lease with
the buyer The accounting treatment of the sale and leaseback depends
upon the substance of the transaction (by applying the lease classification
prnciples descnibed above) and whether or not the sale was made at the
asset’s fairvalue

For sale and finance leasebacks, any apparent profit or loss from the

sale 15 deferred and amortised over the lease term For sale and operating
leasebacks, generally the assets are sold at fawr value, and accordingly the
profit or loss from the sale 15 recognised immediatety

Following initial recogrution, the lease treatment Is consistent with those
prinaples descnbed above

Tesco PLC Annua! Report and
Financral Statements 2008

47




Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 1 Accounting poheies continued

Business combinations and goodwill
All business combinations are accounted for by appiving the purchase method

On acquisition, the assets (including intangible assets), liabilities and
contmgent liabilites of an acquired entity are measured at their farrvalue
The interest of minonty shareholders is stated at the minority's proportion
of the fair values of the assets and liabilities recognised

The Group recogrises intangible assets as part of business combinations
at farvalue at the date of acquisiion The detemrmination of these fair
values 1s based upon management’s jJudgement and incdludes assumptions
on the tirming and amount of future Incremental cash flows generated

by the assets acquired and the selectton of an appropriate cost of capital
The useful Iives of intangible assets are estimated, and amortisation
charged on a straight-line basis

Goodwill arnistng on consohdation represents the excess of the cost of an
acquisition over the fair value of the Group's share of the net assetsinet
hiabihties of the acquired subsidiary, Joint venture or associate at the date of
acquisition |f the cost of acquisiien is less than the farrvalue of the Group's
share of the net assets/net liabilities of the acquired entity (1 e a discount
on acquisition) then the difference 1s credited to the Group Income Statement
In the penod of acquisition

At the acquisition date of a subsidiary, goodwall acquired 1s recognised as
an asset and i1s allocated to each of the cash-generating units expected to
benefit from the business combination's synergies and to the lowest leve!
at which management monitors the goodwll Goodwill ansing on the
acquisition of Joint ventures and associates is included within the carrying
value of the investment.

Goodwil! 1s reviewed for impairment; at least annually by assessing the
recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit to which the goodwill
relates The recoverable amount is the higher of fairvalue less costs to sell,
and value in use When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit 1s less than the camying amaunt, an impaiment loss 15 recognised

Any impairment Is recognised immediately in the Group Income Statement
and 15 not subsequently reversed

On disposal of a subsidiary, joint venture or associate, the attributable
amount of goodwill 1s included in the determination of the profit or loss
on disposal

Goodwill ansing on acquisitions before 29 February 2004 (the date of
transition to IFRS) was retained at the previous UK GAAP amounts subject
to being tested for imparment at that date Goodwill wntten off to reserves
under UK GAAP prior to 1998 has not been restated and will not be
included in determining any subsequent profit or loss on disposal

Intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets, such as software, pharmacy licences and brands,
are measured initially at cost and are amortised on a straight-line basis
over therr estimated useful lwes, usually at 2%-25% of cost per annum
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Internaliy-generated mtangible assets — Research and development
expenditure
Research costs are expensed as incurred

Development expenditure incurred on an indmidual project Is carmed forward
only If all the cntena set out In 1AS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’ are met, namely:

> an asset 15 created that can be identified (such as software or new
processes),

> 1t1s probable that the asset created will generate future economic
benefits, and

> the developrment cost of the asset can be measured reliably

Following the initial recogrution of development expenditure, the cost Is
amortised over the project’s esumated useful bife, usually at 14%-25%
of cost per annum

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill

At each Balance Sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its
tangible and intangible assets tq determine whether there 15 any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss If such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset 15 estimated in order to determine the
extent of the rmpairment loss {If any) Where the asset does not genermate
cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs

The recoverable armount 1s the higher of fairvalue less costs to selt, and
value inuse If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating urit)
1s estimated to be less than its canying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or cash-generating unit) 1s reduced to its recoverable amount
An rmpairment loss 15 recogmised as an expense immediately

Where an imparment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset (or cash-generating unit) 1s increased to the revised estimate of
the recoverable armount, but so that the increased carrying amoeunt does
not exceed the camyng amount that would have been determined if no
impairment loss had been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating
unit) in prioryears A reversal of animpairment loss 1s recognised as
Income smmedtately

Inventories

Inventories cormprise goods held for resale and properttes held for, orin
the course of, development and arevalued at the lower of cost and farr
value less costs to sell using the weighted average cost basis

Short-term investments
Short-term investments in the Group Balance Sheet consist of deposits
with money market funds

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equvalents in the Group Balance Sheet consist of cash
at bankand in hand and short-term deposits with an onginal matunty
of three months or less

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale iIf their
camying amount will be recovered through sale rather than continuing use
This condition 1s regarded as met only when the sale 1s highly probable and
the asset (or disposal group) 1s avallable forimmediate sale in iis present
condiion Management must be committed to the sale and it should be
expected 1o be completed wathin one year from the date of classificavon

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are
measured at the Jower of carrying amount and fairvalue less costs to sell
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Note 1 Accounting policies continued

Pensions and similar obligations
The Group accounts for pensions and other post-employment benefits
{pnncipally private healthcare) under [AS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’

In respect of defined benefit plans, obligations are measured at discounted
present value (using the projected unit credit method) whilst plan assets
are recorded at farvalue The operating and financing costs of such plans
are recognised separately in the Group Income Statement, service costs

are spread systernatically over the expected senice lives of employees and
financing costs are recognised in the periods n which they anse Actuanat
gains and losses are recognised immediately In the Group Statement of
Recognssed Incorme and Expense

Payments to defined contribution schemes are recognised as an expense
as they fall due

Share-based payments

Employees of the Group receive part of their remuneration in the form

of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render services
in exchange for shares or rights over shares (equity-settled transactions}
orin exchange for entitlements to ¢ash payments based on the value of
the shares {cash-settled transactions)

The farvalue of employee share option plans 1s calculated at the grant
date using the Black-Scholes model In accordance with IFRS 2 'Share-based
payment’, the resulting ¢ost 15 charged to the Group Income Statement
over the vesting penod The value of the charge 1s adjusted to reflect
expected and actual levels of vesting

Taxation
The tax expense included in the Group Income Statement consists of
current and deferred tax

Current tax 1s the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the Balance Sheet date
Tax 15 recogrused in the Group Income Statement except to the extent that
1t relates to items recogrised directly in equity, In which case it 1s recognised

n equity

Deferred tax 15 provided using the Balance Sheet liability method,
providing for temporary differences between the carmyng amounts of
assets and habilvties for financial reporting purposes and the amounts
used for taxation purposes

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the Balance Sheet date Deferred tax 1s charged
or credited in the Group Income Statement, except when it relates to itemns
charged or credited directly to equity, in whech case the deferred tax s also
recognised In equity

Deferred tax assets are recogrnised to the extent that it 1s probable that
taxable profits will be avallable agamnst which deductible temparary
differences can be utiised

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each Balance
Sheet date and reduced to the extent that it 1s no longer probable that
suffictent taxabte profits will be available to allow alt or part of the asset
1o be recovered

Deferred tax assets and habities are offset against each other when

there 1s a legally enforceable rnght to set-off current taxation assets agamst
current taxation habilities and 1t 1s the intention to settle these on a

net basis

Foreign currencies

Transactions In foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate on
the date of the transaction At each Balance Sheet date, monetary assets
and labilities that are denormnated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevalling on the Balance Sheet date All differences are taken
to the Group Income Staternent for the period

The financial staterments of foreign subsidiaries are translated into Pounds
Sterling according to the functional currency concept of 1AS 21 ‘The Effects
of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates’ Since the majority of consolidated
companies operate as independent entities within their local econormic
environment, their respective loca! currency 1s the functional currency
Therefore, assets and habilites of overseas subsidianes denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the date
of the Group Balance Sheet, profits and losses are translated into Pounds
Sterling at average exchange rates for the relevant accounting periods
Exchange differences ansing, If any, are classified as equity and transferred
to the Group’s translauen reserve Such translation differences are
recognised as income or expenses I the period in which the operation

15 disposed of

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a
foreign entity are treated as assets and lrabiiines of the foreign entity and
translated at the closing rate

Financial instruments

Financal assets and financial liabilities are recogmsed on the Group's
Balance Sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisiens of the instrument

Trade receivables

Trade recevables are non interest-bearing and are recognised imitially
at fair value, and subseguently at armortised cost using the effective
interest rate method, reduced by appropnate allowances for estimated
irecoverable amounts

Investments
Investments are recognised at trade date Investments are classified as
either held for trading or available-for-sale, and are recogrised at fair value

For held for trading investments, gains and losses ansing from changes
in fairvalue are recognised in the Group Income Staternent

For avallable-for-sale investmnents, gains and losses ansing from changes
in fairvalue are recognised direcily in equity, until the secunty 1s dispesed
of or1s determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or
loss previously recognised in equity 1s included in the net result for the penod
Interest calculated using the effective interest rate method 1s recognised

in the Group Income Statement Diadends on an available-for-sale equity
nstrument are recegnised in the Group Income Statement when the
entity’s nght to receve payment is estabhshed

Financial habilities and equity

Finanaal liabihities and equity instrtuments are classified according to
the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into An equity
Instrument 15 any contract that gives a residual interest 1n the assets of
the Group after deducting all of its habilities

Tesco PLC Annual Report and
Financial Statements 2008

49




Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 1 Accounting policies continued

Interest-beanng borrowings

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially recorded at fair value,
net of attnbutable transaction costs Subsequent 1o iniial recognition,
interest-beaning borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference
between cost and redemption value being recognised in the Group Income
Staternent over the penod of the borrowings on an effective interest basis

Trade payables
Trade payables are non interest-beanng and are stated at amortised cost.

Equity instruments
Equity snstruments 1ssued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct 1ssue costs

Dernvative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group uses denvative finanaal instruments to hedge its exposure to
foreign exchange and interest rate nsks ansing from operating, financing
and investment activites The Group does not hold orissue denvative
financial Instruments for trading purposes, however if denvatves do not
qualify for hedge accounting they are accounted for as such

Denvative financial instruments are recognised and stated at fairvalue

The fairvalue of derivative financial Instruments 1s determined by reference
to market values for similar financial instrurnents, by discounted cash flows,
or by the use of option valuation models Where denvatives do not quahfy
for hedge accounting, any gains or losses on remeasurement are Immediately
recognised in the Group Income Statement Where denvatives qualify for
hedge accounting, recognition of any resultant gain or loss depends on

the nature of the hedge relationship and the item being hedged

In order to qualify for hedge accounting, the Group is required 1o document
from inception the relationship between the item being hedged and

the hedgmg mstrument. The Group 1s also required to document and
demanstrate an assessment of the relationship between the hedged item
and the hedging instrument, which shows that the hedge will be tnghly
effective on an ongoing basis This effectiveness testing 1s performed at
each penod end to ensure that the hedge remains highly effective

Financial instruments with matunty dates of more than one year from
the Balance Sheet date are disclosed as non-curmrent.

Fair value hedging

Dervative financial mstruments are classified as fairvalue hedges when
they hedge the Group’s exposure to changes in the fairvalue of a
recogmsed asset or liability Changes in the fair value of denvatves that
are designated and gualfy as fairvalue hedges are recorded in the Group
Income Statement, together with any changes i the far value of the
hedged itern that 15 attributable to the hedged nsk.

Denvative financial instruments quahifying for fairvalue hedge accounting
are principally interest vate swaps (including cross currency swaps)
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Cash flow hedging

Dernvative financial instruments are dassified as cash flow hedges when
they hedge the Group's exposure tovanability in cash flows that are either
attributable to a particular nsk assouated with a recogrused asset or hability,
or a highly probable forecasted transaction

The effectrve element of any gain orloss from remeasuring the denvative
instrument 1s recogrused directly in equity

The assocated curmulative gain or loss I1s removed from equity and
recognised in the Group Income Staternent in the same penod or periods
dunng which the hedged transaction affects the Group Inceme Statement
The classification of the effective portion when recogrised in the Group
Income Statement 1s the same as the classification of the hedged transachon
Any element of the remeasurement of the denvative instument which does
not meet the critena for an effective hedge 1s recognised immediately in the
Group Income Statement within finance income or costs

Denvative Instruments qualifying for cash flow hedging are pnncipally
forward foreign exchange transactions and currency options

Hedge accounting 15 discontinued when the hedging instrument exptres or
15 sold, terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting
At that paint in ime, any cumulative gain or less on the hedging instrument
recognised in equity 1s retained In equity until the forecasted transaction
ocaurs If a hedged transaction 1s no lenger expected to occur, the net
cumuiative gain or loss recognised in equity 1s transferred to the Group
Income Staternent

Net investment hedging

Denvative finanaal instrurments are classified as net investment hedges
when they hedge the Group’s net investment in an overseas operation
The effective element of any foreign exchange gain or loss from
remeasunng the derivative is recognised directly in equity Any ineffective
element 1s recogrised immediately in the Group Income Statement.
Gatns and losses accumulated in equity are included in the Group Income
Staternent when the foreign operation 1s disposed of

Dervative Instruments qualifying for net investment hedging are pnncipalty
forward foreign exchange transactions and currency options

Treatment of agreements to acquire MINOTILY INterests
The Group has entered into a number of agreements to purchase the
remaining shares of subsidianes with minonty shareholdings

Under IAS 32 ‘Financial Instrurments Dhsclosures’, the net present value of
the expected future payments are shown as a financial iability At the end
of each period, the valuation of the hiability 1s reassessed with any changes
recogmised in the Group Income Statement within finance income or costs
for the year Where the bability 15 in a cumency other than Pounds Sterling,
the hability has been designated as a net investment hedge Any change
in the value of the hability resulting from changes in exchange rates 15
recognised directly in eguity
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Note 1 Accounting polictes continued

Provisions

Prowisions for onerous leases are recogrused when the Group believes

that the unavotdable costs of meeting the lease obligations exceed the
economic benefits expected to be recerved under the lease Where matenal
these leases are discounted to their present value

Recent accounting developments
Standards, amendments and interpretations effective for 2007/8 or
issued and early adopted

In preparing the Group finanaezl statements for the current year, the
Group has adopted the following new IFRS, amendments to IFRS and
IFRIC Interpretations which have not had a sigmficant impact on the
results or net assets of the Group

> IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instrurnents Disclosures’ and amendments to 1AS 1
‘Presentation of Financial Statements — Capital Disclosures’ These
amendments revise and enhance previous disclosures required by 1AS 32
and |AS 30 ‘Disclosures i the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar
Financial Institutions’ The adoption of IFRS 7 has had no effect on the
results or net assets of the Group

v

Rewised guidance on implementing IFRS 4, ‘Insurance Contracts’

\Y

IFRIC 6 ‘Liabilises Ansing from Participating in a Specific Market — waste
electrical and electronic equiprent (WEEEY, effective from 1 July 2007
(date from which the WEEE Dhirective became apphcable in the UK}

v

IFRIC 7 ‘Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29 Financial
Reporting in Hypennflatienary Economics’, effective for accounting
penods beginning on or after 1 March 2006

v

IFRIC 8 ‘Scope of IFRS 2, effective for accounting penods beginning
on or after 1 May 2006

IFRIC 9 ‘Reassessiment of Embedded Denvatives', effective for
accounting penods beginning on ar after 1 June 2006

v

v

IFRIC 10 ‘Intenms and Imparment’, effective for accounting penods
beginning on or after 1 November 2006

IFRIC 11 'Group and Treasury Share Transactrons', effective for accounting
penods beginring on or after 1 March 2007 was early adopted by
the Group

v

Standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effective, but not
expected to have a sigmificant impact on the Group

> IFRS 8 *Operating Segments' was issued in November 2006 and 15
effective for accounting periods beginming on or after 1 January 2009
This new standard replaces 1AS 14 ‘Segment Reporting’ and requires
segrmental disclosures to be presented on the same basis that
management uses to evaluate performance of its reporting segments in
1ts managernent reporitng We do not expect the adoption of IFRS 8 to
have a significant iImpact upon the results or net assets of the Group

> Amendment 1o IAS 23 ‘Borrowing Costs® was issued 1n March 2007,
and becomes effective for accounting penods beginning on or after
1 January 2009 The standard has been revised to require capitahisation
of borrowing costs when such costs relate to a qualifying asset.
We do not expect the adaphion of the amendments to LAS 23 to have
a significant impact upon the results ar net assets of the Group

> IFRIC 12 ‘Service Concession Amangements’ was 1ssued in November
2006 and becomes effective for accounting penods beginning on or
after 1 January 2008 Thus interpretation apples to public sector senice
concession operators and explains how to account for the obligatrons
undertaken and nghts recenved In service concession amangements
No member of the Group 1s a public sector operator and hence this
interpretation will have na impact on the Group

> |FRIC 14 ‘'The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Mimmum Funding
Requirements and their Interacton’ was tssued in July 2007 and becomes
effective for accounting penods beginning on or after 1 January 2008
This interpretation provides quidance on how to assess the imit on the
amount of surplus in a defined benefit scheme that can be recognised
as an asset under IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ The Group expects
that this interpretation will have no mpact on the financial position ar
performance of the Group as all defined benefit schemes are currently
in defict

Standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effective and under
review as to theirr impact on the Group

> Amendment to IAS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements’, effective
for accounting penods beginning on or after 1 January 2009

> Amendment to IAS 32 ‘Finznaal Instrurnents Presentation’ and [AS 1
‘Presentation of Financial Statements — Puttable Instruments and
Instruments with Obligations Ansing on Liquidation', effective for
accounting penods beginning on or after 1 January 2009

> Amendrnent to IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment’, effective for accounting
penods beginning on or after 1 January 2009

> Amendment to 1AS 27 ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’,
effective for accounting penods beginrng on or after 1 July 2009

> Amendments to IFRS 3 ‘Business combinations’, effective for accounting
periods begimning on or after 1 January 2010

> |FRIC 13 ‘Customer loyalty programmes' was 1ssued in June 2007 and
becomes effective for accounting penods beginming on or after 1 Julty 2008
This interpretation requires customer loyalty award credits to be accounted
for as a separate component of the sales transaction in which they are
granted and therefore part of the fairvalue of the consideration received
15 allocated to the award credits and deferred over the penod that the
award credits are fulfilled

Use of non-GAAP profit measures — underlying profit before tax

The Directors believe that underlying profit before tax and underlying
diluted earmings per share measures provide additional useful information
for shareholders on underlying trends and performance These measures
are wsed for intemal performance analysis Underlying profit 1s not defined
by IFRS and therefore may not be directly comparable with other companies’
adjusted profit measures 1t1s not intended to be a substitute for, or supenor
to IFRS measurements of profit.
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 1 Accounting policies continued

The adjustments made to reported profit before tax are

> 1AS 32 and IAS 39 'Financial instruments' — fair value remeasurements —
Under 1AS 32 and IAS 39, the Group apphes hedge accounting toits
various hedge relationships when allowed under the rules of [AS 39 and
when practical to do so Sometimes the Group 1s unable to apply hedge
accounting to the arrangements, but continues to enter into these
arrangements as they provide certainty or active management of the
exchange rates and interest rates applicable to the Group The Group
beheves these arangernents rermnain effecuve and econormcally and
commeraally vable hedges despite the inability to apply hedge accounting

Where hedge accounting 1s not applied to certain hedging arrangements,
the reported results reflect the movement in fairvalue of related
denvatives due to changes in foreign exchange and interest rates In
addition, at each period end, any gain orloss accruing on open contracts
15 recogrused in the Group Income Statement for the period, regardless
of the expected outcome of the hedging contract on termination This
may mean that the Group Income Statement charge 15 highlyvolatile,
whilst the resulting cash flows may not be as volatile The underlying
profit measure removes this volatility to help better identify underlying
business performance

> IAS 19 Income Statement charge for pensions — Under [AS 19 ‘Employee
Benefits', the cost of providing pension benefits in the future 1s
discounted to a present value at the corporate bond yield rates applicable
on the last day of the previous financial year Corporate bond yield rates
vary over time which in turn creates volatuhty in the Group Income
Statement and Group Balance Sheet 1AS 19 also increases the charge
for young pension schemes, such as Tesco’s, by requinng the use of rates
which do not take into account the future expecied retumns on the assets
held in the pension scheme which will fund pension liabilities as they
fall due The sum of these two effects makes the IAS 19 charge
disproportionately lugher and more volatile than the cash contrbutions
the Group 1s required to make m erder to fund all future habilities

Therefore, within underlying profit we have included the ‘normal® cash
contributions for pensions but excluded the voladle element of IAS 19

to represent what the Group believes to be a fairer measure of the cost
of providing post-emptoyment benefits

> JAS 17 ‘Leases’ = impact of annual uplifts in rent and rent-free penods —
The amount charged to the Group Income Statement 1n respect of
operating lease costs and incentives 1s expected to Increase significantly
as the Group expands its International business The leases have been
structured in a way to Increase annual lease costs as the businesses
expand [AS 17 ‘Leases’ requrres the total cost of a lease to be recognised
on a straight-ne basis over the term of the lease, irespective of the
actual timing of the cost The impact of this treatment in 2007/8 was an
adverse charge of £18m to the Group Income Statement after deducting
the impact of the straight-lne treatment recognised as rental income
within share of post-tax profits of joint ventures and associates The
comparatives have not been revised to reflect this as the amounts
the prioryear are broadly simitar and are considered immatenal
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> Exceptional items — Due to therr significance and special nature, certain
otheritems which do not reflect the Group’s underlying performance
have been excluded from underlying profit. These gains or losses can
have a significant iImpact on both absolute profit and profit trends,
consequently, they are excluded from the underlying profit of the Group
There are no exceptional ttems in 2007/8 In 2006/7, exceptional items
were as follows

- Pensions adjustment relauing to the Finance Act 2006 — Following
changes inroduced by the Finance Act with effect from Aprl 2006
{Pensions A-Day), Tesco's UK approved pension schemes have
implemented revised terms for members exchanging pension at
retirement date, allowing them the option to commute {convert) a
larger amount of their pension to a tax-free lump sum on retirement
Accordingly, the assumptions made in calculating the defined benefit

pension lability have been revised, and a gain of £250m was recognised

In the Group ncome Statement dunng the year Changes to scheme
rules i the Republic of lreland affecting early retrement have reduced
pension habilities by a further £8m, which was also recogrused in the
Group Income Statement Rewisions to the commutation assumption
will be reflected within the Group Statement of Recognised Income
and Expense from 2007/8

- Impaiment of the Gerrards Cross site — We faced continuing uncertainty
m 2006/7 in respect of our Germards Cross site as a result of the
complex legal situation following the tunnel collapse However, dunng
200677 we wrote off the carrying value of our existing asset there
{an impairment charge of £35m) No decision has yet been taken
about the future of this site

Segmental trading profit

Segmental trading profit 1s an adjusted measure of operating profit,
which measures the performance of each geographical segment before
exceptional items, profit/(loss) ansing on property-related items, iImpact
on leases of annual uplifts in rent and rent-free periods, and replaces the
IAS 19 pension charge with the ‘nommal’ cash contriibutions for pensions
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Note 2 Segmental reporting

The Board has determined that the pnmary segmental reporting format 1s geographical, based on the Group’s management and intemal reporting
structure Secondary information 1s reported by a single business segment, retall and associated actvities

The UK reporting segment includes the start-up operations in the United States of Amenca (US), which are not material The results of the US business
will be reported as a separate reporting segment within Intemational from our interim results for 2008/9

The Rest of Europe reporting segment includes the Republic of Ireland, Hungary, Poland, the Czech Republic, Slovakia and Turkey

The Asia reporting segment includes Thailand, South Korea, Malaysia, China and Japan Following its disposal dunng 2006/7, the Tawanese business
(previcusly included wathin the Asia segment) was classified as a discontinued operaton in the prioryear

Segment results, assets and babibties include items directly attnbutable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis
Unallocated items comprtse mainly Interest-bearing borrowings and taxation related assets/liabilities

Inter-segment turnover between the geographical areas of business 1s not matenal

Geographical segments

UK ER::OI:: Asia Total
Year ended 23 February 2008 fm £m £m £m
Continuing operations
Revenue
Sales {excluding VAT) to external customers 34874 6,872 5,552 47,298
Result
Segment operating profit 2,097 400 294 2,791
Share of post-tax profit of joint ventures and associates 75 - -~ 75
Net finance costs (63)
Profit before tax 2,803
Taxation 673)
Profit for the year 2,130
Reconciliation of operating profit to trading profit
Uk gmﬁ;:ef Asia Total
£m £m £m £m
Operating profit 2097 400 294 2,71
Adjustments for
{Profit)loss ansing on property-related itemns (186) (3) 3 (188)
1AS 19 Income Statement charge for pensions 446 5 10 461
‘Normal’ cash contnbutions for pensions (328} 3) [£5))] @40)
IAS 17 ‘Leases’ — impact of annual uplfts in rent and rent-free periods 21 - 6 27
Trading profit 2050 397 304 2,751
Trading margin 59% 58% 55% 58%
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 2 Segmental reporting continued

Rest of Other/
UK Europe Asia unallocated Total
£m fn fm £m £m
Assets and habilities
Segment assets 19,245 6,093 4,247 274 29,859
Investmments in point ventures and associates 293 1 11 - 305
Total assets 19,538 6,094 4,258 274 30,164
Segment habilities (6,514) (1,229 (1,314) (9,205) (18,262)
Total net assets 11,902
Other segment information
Capital expenditure {(including acquisitions through business combinations)
Property, plant and equipment 2,548 696 662 - 3,906
Investment property - 13 37 - 50
Goodwill and other ntangible assets 219 18 22 - 259
Depreciation
Property, plant and equipment 536 188 136 - 860
Investment property - 9 7 - 16
Amortisation of intangible assets 99 12 5 - 116
Impairment losses recognised m the Group Income Statement 48) (25) (4) - (7N
Reversal of prior period impairment losses through the Group Income Statement 48 36 3 - 87
Profit/(loss) ansing on property-related items 186 3 (3) - 188
Rest of
UK Europe Asia Total
Year ended 24 February 2007 £m £m £m £m
Continuing operations
Revenue
Sales (excluding VAT) to external customers 32,665 5,559 4,417 42,641
Result
Segment operating profit 2,083 324 241 2,648
Share of post-tax profit/(losses) of joint ventures and associates 114 — (5) 106
Profit on sale of investments in assocates 25 - - 25
Net finance costs (126)
Profit before tax 2,653
Taxation 772)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 1,881
Discontinued operation
Profit for the year from discontinued operation 18
Profit for the year 1,899
Reconciliation of operating profit to trading profit
UK ERS:;:: Asiz Total
£m £m £m £m
Operating profit 2,083 324 241 2,648
Adjustments for
(ProfitWloss ansing on property-related items 98 - 6 (92)
1AS 19 Income Statement charge for pensions 457 5 ¢] 466
‘Normal* cash contnbutions for pensions (308) 3) 10 (G321
Pensions adjustment — Finance Act 2006 {(250) ® - (258)
Impairment of Gerrards Cross site 35 - - 35
Trading profit 1,914 318 246 2,478
Trading margin 59% 57% 56% 58%

54 Tesco PLC Annual Report and
Finanaial Statements 2008

www.tesco comfannualreport08




Note 2 Segmental reporting continued

Rest of Gther/
UK Europe Asia unallocated Total
£m fm £m £m £m
Assets and lrabilities
Segment assets 16,323 4552 3,397 221 24,493
Investments 1n joint ventures and associates 307 2 5 — 314
Total assets 16,630 4,554 3,402 221 24,807
Segrnent habilities (5,602) {(903) (1,031 (6,700) {14,236)
Total net assets 10,571
Other segment information
Capital expenditure (iIncluding acquisitions through business combinations})
Property, plant and equipment 1,765 786 516 - 3,067
Investment property - 36 22 - 58
Goodwill and other intangible assets 197 52 420 — 669*
Depreciation
Property, plant and equipment 520 155 99 - 774
Investrment property - 7 4 - 11
Amortisation of intangible assets 79 8 6 - 93
Impairment losses recogrised in the Group Income Staterment (44) (35) (3) - (82)
Reversal of prior period imparrrment losses through the Group Income Statement 17 46 - - 63
Profit/(loss) arising en property-related items 98 - ©) — 92
* Includes £166m of goadwil transferred in from joint ventures, following the acquistion of additional shares in dunnhumby and Hymatt
Business segments
The Group has one busmess segment, retall and associated actmties
2008 2007
£m £m
Revenue 47,298 42,641
Segrnent assets 29,859 24,493
Segment labilities (18,262) {14,236)
Capital expenditure iIncluding acquisiions through business combinations) 4,215 3,794
Note 3 Income and expenses
2008 2007
From continuing operations Em £m
Profit before tax s stated after charging/(crediting) the following
Profit arising on property-related items {188) (92)
Rental income, of which £211m (2007 — £166m) relates to investment properties {267) 210)
Direct operating expenses ansing on rental eaming investment propesties 54 47
Costs of inventones recognised as an expense 35,279 31,104
Stock losses 700 581
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and investment property 876 785
Net {reversal of impairment)fimpairment of property, plant and equipment (10) 19
Amornsation of internally-generated development intangible assets 87 69
Amortisation of other intangibles 29 24
Operating lease expenses® 520 394

{a) Operabng lease expenses include £88m (2007 - £89m) for hire of plant and machmery
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 3 Income and expenses continued

Dunng the year, the Group {including 1ts overseas substdianes) obtained the following services from the Group's auditor, PncewaterhouseCoopers LEF, and

network firms
2008 2007
£m £m
Audit services
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Parent Company and Group financial statements 0.6 06
Non-audit services
Fees payable to the Company's auditor and network firms for other sernices
the audit of the accounts of the Company’s subsidianes pursuant to legislation 2.5 23
other services pursuant to such legislation 0.1 02
other senaces relating to taxation 1.2 23
other services relating to corporate finance transactions 03 02
all other services 0.3 -
Total auditor remuneration 50 56
In addition to the amounts shown above, the auditors received fees of £0 1m (2007 — £0 1m) for the audit of the main Group pension scheme
A descnption of the work of the Audit Committee 1s set out in the Corporate Governance Report on page 21 and includes an explanation of how
objectivity and independence 1s safeguarded when non-audit services are provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Note 4 Employment costs, including Directors’ remuneration
2008 2007
£Em £m
Wages and salaries 4,246 3,794
Social secunty costs 349 377
Post-employment benefits (see note 24) 470 215
Share-based payments expense 228 209
5,293 4,595

The average number of employees by geographical segment dunng the year was

Average number

Average number of

of employees full-tirme equivalents

2008 2007 2008 2007

UK 282,868 270,417 193,917 184,461
Rest of Europe 83,705 74017 77,267 67,351
Asia 77,554 68,627 74,570 66,471
Total 444,127 413,061 345,754 318,283

56 Tesco PLC Annual Report and
Financial Statements 2008

www tesco com/annualreport8



Note 5 Finance income and costs

2008 2007
£ £m

Finance income
Bank interest recenable and similar income on cash and cash eguivalents 91 56
Net pension finance ncome (note 24) 47 34
Total finance income (an historical cost basis) 138 90
IAS 32 and |AS 39 ‘Financial instrurments’ — Fair value remeasurements 49 -
Total finance income 187 90
Finance costs
Interest payable on short-term bankloans and cverdrafts repayable within five years 47) (3G
Finance charges payable under finance leases and hire purchase contracts (13) €))
4% 125m GBP unsecured deep discount loan stock 2006 - 5
6% 150m GBP Medium Term Note (MTN) 2006 - v
0 7% 50bn JPY MTN 2006 - [4)]
7 5% 258m GBP MTN 2007 (8) (22)
6% 125m GBP MTN 2008 7)) (11)
5 25% 500m EUR MTN 2008 (18) (18)
5125% 192m GBP MTN 2009 (10) (13)
6 625% 150m GBP MTN 2010 (10) (10)
475% 750m EUR MTN 2010 (25) (25)
3 875% 500m EUR MTN 2011 (13 (12)
4% RPI GBP MTN 2016} (20) (16)
5 5% 850m USD Bond 2017 (12) -
5 5% 350m GBPMTN 2019 (19) (19
5% 415m GBP MTN 2023 (18) (16}
3.322% LPI GBP MTN 2025 (19) (15}
6% 200m GBPMTN 2029 (12) (12)
5 5% 200m GBP MTN 2033 (11) (1)
1982% RP| GBP MTN 2036@ (11) (11}
615% 1,150m USD Bond 2037 (18) -
5% 300m GBP MTN 2042 (15) (4
5 125% 600m EUR MTN 2047 (21) -
5 2% 500m GBP MTN 2057 (13) -
Other MTNs (13) (1)
Capitalised interest 103 78
Total finance costs (on historical cost basis) (250} (212)
IAS 32 and IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments’ — Fair value remeasurements - (4)
TJotal finance costs {250) (216)

{a) Interest payable on the 4% GBP ursecured deep discount loan stack 2006 mcludes £nil (2007 - £3m) of discount arnortisaiion
{b) Interest payable on the 4% RP1 GBP MTN 2016 indudes £40m (2007 - £7m) of RPi related amortisation.

{c) Interest payable on the 3 3229 LP1 GEP MTN 2025 ncludes £11m (2007 — £7m) of RPI related amortisation

{d) Interest payable on the 1 982% RPI GBP MTN 2036 mciudes £7m (2007 — £7m) of RPI related amortisation

There were na amounts recognised tn finance <osts relating to hedge ineffectiveness dunng the year 2007 — £rul}
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 6 Taxation

Recognised in the Group Income Statement

2008 2007
£m £m
Current tax expense
UK corporation tax 853 505
Foreign tax 78 88
Adjustments In respect of prioryears (278) {61)
Benefit of tax losses recognised — adjustments in respect of prior years (56) -
597 532
Deferred tax expense
Ongination and reversal of temporary differences 54 147
Benefit of tax losses recognised - (2)
Benefit of tax losses recogrused — adjustments in respect of prior years 28 -
Adjustments in respect of pnoryears 63 95
Change 1n tax rate (69) —
76 240
Total income tax expense 673 772

UK corporation tax s calculated at 30% (2007 - 30%) of the estmated assessable profit for the year Texation in other junsdictions 1s calculated at the

rates prevailing In the respective junsdictions

Reconcihation of effective tax charge for continuing operations

2008 2007

£Em £m

Profit before tax 2,803 2,653
Effective tax charge at 30% (841) (796)

Effect of

Non-deductible expenses {180) (22}
Differences in overseas taxation rates 41 48
Adjustments In respect of prior years 215 (34)
Share of results of joint ventures and associates 23 32
Change in tax rate 69 -
Total income tax charge for the year from continuing operations (673) 772)
Effective tax rate 24.0% 29 1%

The 2008 Finance Bill iIncludes a proposal to reduce the UK corporate incormne tax rate from 30% to 28% with effect from 1 Apnl 2008 The deferred tax
asset and hability as at 23 February 2008 are stated at the reduced rate of 28% During the year, agreement was reached with Her Majesty’s Revenue and

Customs (HMRC) on substantially all open 1ssues relating to years up to February 2006 including capital allowance daims

Tax on items charged to equity

2008 2007
£m £m
Current tax creditf(charge) on
Foreign exchange movements 250 (20)
Share-based payments 5 19
255 n
Deferred tax credit/(charge) on
Share-based payments (57) 47
Pensions (75) (34)
(132) 13
Total tax on items credited to equity {(note 26) 123 12
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Note 6 Taxation continued

Deferred tax
The followng are the major deferred tax assets{liabilives) recognised by the Group and movements thereon dunng the current and prieryear

Accelerated Retrernent Short-term Cther prefpost
tax benefit Share-based ammg lAS32and tax temporary
depreciation obhgation payments differences Tax losses 1AS 39 differences. Total
£m £m £m £fm fm £m £m £m
At 25 February 2006 {839) 364 105 32 8 22 -~ (308)
(Charge)fcredit to the Group Income Statement {193) {46) {16) 17 (D] (N - (240)
(Charge)credit to equity - (34) 47 - - - - 13
Acquisition of subsidianes 9 - - 3 17 - - 29
Foreign exchange differences 4 — - (1)) - - - 3
At 24 February 2007 (1,019 284 136 51 24 21 - (503)
{Charge)credit to the Group Income Statement (83) 22 (3) (2) (13) (8) 11 (76)
Charge to equity - {7s) 57 - - - — {132)
Acquisition of subsidianes (18) - - - - - - (18)
Foreign exchange differences 52 2 - 24) 1 - - 31
At 23 February 2008 (1,068) 233 76 25 12 13 11 (698)

Certain deferred tax assets and habilities have been offset. The following 1s the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial
reporting purposes

2008 2007

£m £m

Deferred tax assets 104 32
Deferred tax iabilities (802) (535)
(698) (503)

No deferred tax is recognised on the unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries and joint ventures, because the earnings are continually reinvested by
the Group and no tax 1s expected to be payable on them in the foreseeable future The temporary difference unrecogrised at the year end amounted to
£1,053m {2007 - £565m)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items, because 1t 15 not probable that future taxable profits will be available

against which the Group can utilise the benefits
2008 2007

£m £m
Deductible temporary differences 2 1
Tax losses 38 12
40 13

At the Balance Sheet date, the Group has unused trading tax losses of £146m (2007 — £131m) available for offset agarnst future profits A deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of £9m (2007 - £98m) of such losses No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaiming £137m
(2007 — £33m) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams Included in unrecognised tax losses are iosses of £39m (2007 — £10m 1n 2011} that will
exptie in 2012 and £57m (2007 - £22m in 2027) that will expire in 2028 Other losses will be camed forward indefinitely

In additon, the Group has UK capital losses of £350m, which were agreed with HMRC during the year
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 7 Discontinued operation and assets classified as held for sale

Discontinued operation
On 31 May 2006, the Group sold its business operation in Taiwan to Carrefour as part of a transaction to acquire Camrefour’s Czech business

The net result of the Tawanese business has been presented as a discontinued operation in the Group Income Statement for the proryear

The table below shows the results of the Taiwan business that are included In results of the Group far the pnor penod and included within
discontinued operation

Income Statement

2008 2007
£m £m
Revenue - 46
Cost of sales - (36)
Adminstrabive expenses - (14)
Operating loss before tax of discontinued operation - (4
Profit on disposal of discontinued pperation - 22
Profit for the year from discontinued operation - 18
The table below shows the amounts relaung to the disconttnued operation that are included wathin the Group cash flows for the pnoryear
Cash Flow Statement
2008 2007
£m £m
MNet cash flows from operating acuvities - (7)
Net cash flows from investing actvities - (2)
Net cash flows from financing actvities - 11
- 2
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Note 7 Discontinued operation and assets classified as held for sale continued

The table below shows the net assets disposed of and consideration receved

Balance Sheet

31 May
2006
£m
Property, plant and equipment 39
Investment property 17
Investment In subsidiary 4
Investment in joint ventures and associates 10
Deferred tax asset 2
Irventories 7
Trade and other receivables 6
Cash and cash equivalents 4
Bankloans and overdrafts (18}
Trade and other payables 67)
Tax labilities (1
Net identifiable assets and liabilities disposed of 3
Consideration received, satisfied in cash 28
Costs associated with disposal {3)
Profit on disposa! 22
Non-current assets classified as held for sale
2008 2007
£m £m
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 308 408
The non-current assets classified as held for sale consist mainly of properties held for sale
Note 8 Dividends
2008 2007 2008 2007
pencefshare pence/share £m £m
Amounts recognised as distnbutions to equity holders in the year
Final dvidend for the prior financial year 683 610 541 482
Intenm dvidend for the current financial year 320 281 251 224
1003 891 792 706
Proposed final dvidend for the current finanaal year 770 683 605 542

The proposed final dwidend was approved by the Board of Directors on 14 Apnl 2008 and s subject to the approval of shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting The proposed dvidend has not been included as a lability as at 23 February 2008, in accordance wath IAS 10 ‘Events after the balance sheet
date’ It will be patd on 4 July 2008 to shareholders who are on the register of members on 25 Apnl 2008
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 9 Earnmings per share and diluted earnings per share

Basic earmings per share amounts are calculated by dmviding the profit attnbutable to equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number

of ordinary shares in 1ssue durning the year

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dnviding the profit attnbutable to equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number

of ordinary shares in 1ssue during the year (adjusted for the effects of potentiaily ditutive options}

The dilution effect 15 calculated on the full exercise of all ordinary share options granted by the Group, induding performance-based options which

the Group considers to have been earmned

2008 2007
Potentially Potentally
dilutive dilutrve
Basic share options Dihuted Basikc  share opuions Diluted
Profit (Em)
Continuing operations 2,124 - 2,124 1,874 - 1,874
Discontinued operation - - - 18 - 18
Total 2,124 - 2,124 1,892 - 1,892
Woeighted average number of shares {(milhon) 7,881 102 7,983 7,936 102 8,038
Earnings per share (pence)
Continuing operations 26 95 (034) 26 61 2361 030 2331
Disconunued operation - - - 023 - 023
Total 2695 (0 34) 26 61 2384 {030) 2354

There have been no transactions invelving ardinary shares between the reporting date and the date of approval of these financial staterments which would

significantly change the earnings per share calculations shown above

Reconciliation of non-GAAP underlying diluted earnings per share

2008 2007

£m  pencefshare £m pencefshare
Profit
Earnings from continuing operations 2,124 26 61 1,874 2331
Adjustments for
I1AS 32 and IAS 39 'Financial Instruments’ — Fairvalue remeasurements (49) (0.61) 4 005
Total [AS 19 Income Statement charge for pensions 414 519 432 537
‘Narmal’ cash contibutions for pensions (340 (4 26) G21) (399
Pensions adjustment - Finance Act 2006 - - (258) {3 21)
1AS 17 ‘Leases’ — impact of annual uphifts in rent and rent-free periods 18 022 - -
Impairment of the Gerrards Cross site - - 35 044
Tax effect of adjustments at the effective rate of tax (2008 — 24 0%*, 2007 — 29 1%) (10 (013) 31 039
Underlying earnings from continuing operations* 2,157 27 02 1,797 22 36

* Rernowing the one-¢ff wnpact of setting pnor year tax tems with HMRC, undertyng diluted earmings per share was 25.28p and grew by 13 1% on a nomnalised tax rate of 28 9%.

62 Tesco PLC Annua! Report and
Financal Statements 2003

www.tesco.comfannualreport08




Note 1¢ Goodwill and other intangible assets

Intermally

Phammacy

generated and Other
development software intangible
costs  ~  lheences assets Goodwill Total
£m £m £m £m £m

Cost
At 24 February 2007 583 233 39 1,684 2,539
Foreign currency translation 2 18 - 151 17
Additions 128 29 2 22 181
Acquisitions through business combinations - ~ 8 70 78
Reclassification across categories 1 1 1) - 1
Disposals {23) (3} - - (26)
At 23 February 2008 691 278 48 1,927 2,944
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses
At 24 February 2007 263 128 5 98 494
Foreign currency translation - 9 - - 9
Amortisation for the year 87 27 2 = 116
Reclassification across categories 1 - - - 1
Disposals (11) (1 - - (12)
At 23 February 2008 340 163 7 98 608
Net carrying value
At 23 February 2008 351 115 4 1,829 2,336
At 24 February 2007 320 105 34 1,586 2,045
Cost
At 25 February 2006 458 193 43 1,235 1,929
Foreign currency translation {2) 2) 3) 44) (51)
Additicns 129 44 1 1 175
Acquisitions through business combinations - — 1 493 494
Reclassification across categories (2) 1 ()] - (2}
Disposals - (3) (2) (1) 6
At 24 February 2007 583 233 39 1,684 2,539
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses
At 25 February 2006 194 109 3 98 404
Foreign curency translation - O] - - (1}
Amortisation for the year 69 22 2 - 93
Disposals - 2) - - (2)
At 24 February 2007 263 128 5 98 494
Net carrying value
At 24 February 2007 320 105 34 1,586 2,045
At 25 February 2006 264 84 40 1,137 1,525

There are no intangible assets, other than goodwill, with Indefinite useful lives
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 10 Goodwll and other intangible assets contmued

Impairment of goodwill

Goodwill ansing on business combmattans i1s not amortised but 1s reviewed for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if there are indications
that goodwill may be impaired Goodwill acguired 1n @ business combination is allocated to groups of cash-generating urnuts accarding to the level at
which management monitor that goodwill

Recoverable amounts for cash-generating units are based on the higher of value In use and fairvalue less costs te self Value in use 1s calculated from cash
flow projections for five years using data from the Group’s latest internal forecasts, the results of which are reviewed by the Board The key assumptions
for the value In use calculations are those regarding discount rates, growth rates and expected changes in margins Management estimate discount rates
using pre-tax rates that reflect the current market assessment of the time value of money and the nisks specific to the cash-generating units Changes in
selling prices and direct costs are based on past expenence and expectations of future changes in the market,

The recoverable amounts of China, Japan and Turkey were based on fair value less costs to sell Farvalue less costs to sell 1s the amount for which the
cash-generating unit could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction less costs to sell Management undertakes
an assessment of relevant market data including, where available, recent market transactions for similar assets in the retail industry Fawrvalue is also
calculated from cash flow projections for five years using data from the Group's latest intema] forecasts, Including future capital expenditure, the results

of which are reviewed by the Board The key assumptions for the fairvalue calculations are those regarding discount rates, growth rates, expected changes
It margins and capital expenditure Management estimate discount rates using post-tax rates that reflect the current market assessment of the time value
of money and the nsks specific to the cash-generating umits Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past experience and expectations of
future changes in the market

The forecasts are extrapolated beyond five years based on estimated long-term average growth rates of generally 3%-4% (2007 3%-4%)
The pre-tax discount rates used to calculate value in use range from 8%-24% (2007 10%-17%) The post-tax discount rates used to calculate fairvalue
less costs to sell range from 5%-20% These discount rates are denved from the Group's post-tax weighted average cost of capital as adjusted for the

speaific nisks relating to each geographical region

fn February 2008 and 2007 impairment reviews were performed by companng the camrying value of goodwll with the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating units to which goodwilt has been allocated Management determimed that there has been no impairment

The components of goodwill are as follows

2008 2007
£m £m
LS 571 501
Thailand 124 3
South Korea 48 29
Japan 129 115
Chena 376 346
Malaysia 65 64
Poland 194 322
Czech Republic a4 34
Turkey 54 47
QOther 24 15
1,829 1,586
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Note 11 Property, plant and equipment

Land and
buildings Other® Total
£m £m £m

Cost
At 24 February 2007 16,540 5,389 21,929
Foreign currency translation 545 231 776
Additions® 2,802 925 3,727
Acquisitions through business combinations 153 26 179
Reclassification across categories (50) (95) (145)
Classified as held for sale (295) (5) (300)
Disposals (485) (131) {616)
At 23 February 2008 19,210 6,340 25,550
Accumulated depreciation and imparrment losses
At 24 February 2007 1,942 3,011 4,953
Forergn currency translayion 52 117 169
Charge for the year 353 507 860
Reclassification across categories 34 {40 (6)
Classified as held for sale (44) Q) (43)
Disposals 47 (111 (158)
Impairment losses 77 - 77
Reversal of imparment losses (87) — (87)
At 23 February 2008 2,280 3,483 5,763
Net carrying value(@(d{e
At 23 February 2008 16,930 2,857 19,787
At 24 February 2007 14,598 2,378 16,976
Capital work in progress included above®
At 23 February 2008 1,058 112 1170

{a) Other assets consist of plant, equipment, fixtures and fitings and motor vehicles

(b) Inchudes £103m (2007 - £78m) in respect af interest capstahsed, pnncipally relating 1o land and bullding assets The capitalisation rate used to determune the amount of finance costs capitalised
durng the yearwas 5 1% (2007 — 5 19%) Interest capitalised 15 deducted in determimung taxable profit in the yearin which st 15 ncurred

{c) Net carmying value inchudes.
(i} Capitalised interest at 23 February 2008 of £790m (2007 — £716m)
(i) Assets hetd under finance leases which are analysed below

2008 2007
Land and Land and
buildings Othert= butldings Qther
£m £m £m £m
Cost 96 723 9N 662
Accurmulated depreciation
and impaiment losses {20) (441) (16) (480)
Net camying value 76 282 75 182

These assets are pledged as secunty for the finance lease habihities

(d) The net carrying value of land and bulldings comprises.

2008 2007

£m £m

Freehold 15,209 13,267
Long leasehold — 50 years or more 892 657
Short leasehold - tess than 50 years 829 674
Net carrying value 16,930 14,598

(e} Carrying value of land and buildings includes £6rm (2007 — £8m) relating to the prepayment
of lease prermiums.
{f} Capital workin progress does not inckade land
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 11 Property, plant and equipment continued

Land and
buildings Other® Total
£m £m £m

Cost
At 25 February 2006 153,563 4,707 20,270
Foreign currency translation {(176) (46) (222)
Additions® 1,925 864 2,789
Acgquisitions through business combinations 247 31 278
Reclassification across categones (100) 1 (99)
Classified as held for sale (391) (13) (404)
Disposals (528) (155) (683)
At 24 February 2007 16,540 5,389 21,929
Accumulated depreciation and impawrment losses
At 25 February 2006 1,815 2,573 4388
Foreign currency translation (8) (17) (25)
Charge for the year 240 534 774
Reclassification across categornes 2 (3) 1
Classified as held for sale (40 7N (47N
Disposals (86} (69) (155)
Impairment losses 82 - 82
Reversal of impaiment losses (63} — {63)
At 24 February 2007 1,942 3,011 4953
Net carrying value @i
At 24 February 2007 14,598 2378 16,976
At 25 February 2006 13,748 2,134 15,882
Capital work in progress included above®
At 24 February 2007 872 158 1,030

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
The Group has determined that for the purposes of impairment testing, each store is a cash-generating unit Cash-generating units are tested for
imparment If there are indicatsons of impaimment at the Balance Sheet date

Recoverable amounts for cash-generating umits are based on value In use, which 1s calculated from cash flow projecuons for five years using data from the
Group’s latest internal forecasts, the results of which are reviewed by the Board The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding
discount rates, growth rates and expected changes in margins Management estmate discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the nsks speafic to the cash-generating urnts Changes in selling pnces and direct costs are based on past
expenence and expectations of future changes in the market.

The forecasts are extrapolated beyond five years based on estimated long-term growth rates of generally 3%-4% (2007 3%-4%)

The pre-tax discount rates used to calculate value in use range from 8%-24% (2007 10%-17%) depending on the spealfic conditons in which each store
operates These discount rates are denved from the Group’s post-tax weighted average cost of capital
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Note 11 Property, plant and equipment continued

The following amounts have been {charged)/credited to operating costs in the Group Income Statement during the current and prioryear

2008 2007
Em £m
Impairment losses
UK (48) {44}
Rest of Europe (25) (35)
Asia (4) (3)
aT7n (82)
Reversal of impairment losses
UK 48 17
Rest of Europe 36 46
Asia 3 -
87 63
Net reversal of impairment losses/(impairment losses) 10 (19)

The impairment losses relate to stores whose recoverable amounts (eithervalue in use or fairvalue less costs to sell) do not exceed the asset carrying
values In all cases, impairment losses arose due to stores performing below forecasted trading levels

The reversal of previcus impairment fosses arose principally due to improvements In stores’ performances over the last year which increased the net
present value of future cash flows

Note 12 Investment property

2008 2007
£m £m

Cost
At begimming of year 906 785
Foreign currency translation 93 {32)
Additions 50 26
Acquisitions through business combinations - 32
Transfers 144 101
Classified as held forsale - (€8]
Disposals (3) (2)
At end of year 1,190 306
Accumulated depreaiation and impairment losses
At beginming of year 50 40
Foreign currency translation 7 (2)
Charge for the penod 16 11
Transfers 5 1
At end of year 78 50
Net carrying value 1,112 856

The net camrying value at 25 February 2006 was £745m

The estimated fairvalue of the Group’s investment property i1s £2,265m {2007 — £1,522m) This value has been determined by applying an approprate
rental yield 1o the rentals eamed by the investrnent property A valvation has not been performed by an independent valuer
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 13 Group entities

Sigmificant subsidianes
The Group consolidates its subsidiary undertakings, the principal subsidrarnies are

Share af ssued ordinary share Country of

Business activity capital, and voung nghts INCOrper@aton

Tesco Stores Limited* Retail 100% England
One Stop Stores Limited Retail 100% England
Tesco Ireland Limited* Retaill 100% Republic of Ireland
Tesco Global Aruhazak Rt.* Retail 99% Hungary
Tesco Polska Sp zoo * Retail 100% Paland
Tesco Stores CRas* Retail 100% Czech Republic
Tesco Stores S Ras* Retall 100% Slovakia
Tesco Kipa AS Retail 93% Turkey
Samsung Tesco Co birmited* Retaill 94% South Korea
Ek-Chai Distnbution Systern Co Limited* Retall 99% Thailand
Tesco Stores Malaysia Sdn Bhd* Retall 70% Malaysia
C Two-Network Co Limiteg* Retail 100% Japan
Hymall* Retail 90% Republic of China
Dobbies Garden Centres PLC* Retarl 66% Scotland
Tesco Distnbution Limited* Distnbution 100% England
Tesco Property Holdings Limited* Property 100% England
Tesco Stores Hong Kong Limited* Purchasing 100% Hong Kong
dunnhumby Limited* Data Analysis 84% England
Tesco insurance Limited* Self-insurance 100% Guernsey
Valiant Insurance Company Lirmited® Self-insurance 100% Republic of Ireland

*  Held by an intermedrate subsrdiary

All pnnapal subsidiary undertakings operate In their country of incotporation

The accounting penied ends of the subsidiary undertakings consclidated in these financial statements are on or around 23 February 2008, with the
exception of Dobbies Garden Centres PLC {'Dobbnes’), owing to the Group's acquisition of a majonty shareholding dunng 2007 Dobbies has an
accounting period end of 31 October 2007, and its results to 28 February 2008 have been included n the Group's Annual Report and Financial Statements
On 21 January 2008, Tesco Kipa AS raised further capital of £198m through a nghts i1ssue This was fully subscnbed for, including £16m from minonty interests
A full ist of the Group's subsidiary undertakings will be annexed to the next Annual Return filed at Cormpanies House

There are no significant restnctions on the ability of subsidiary undertakings to transfer funds to the parent, other than those imposed by the Comparies Act 1985

Interests in joint ventures and associates
The Group uses the equity method of accounting for joint ventures and associates The following table shows the aggregate movement in the Group's
investment in Joint ventures and asscciates

Jomnt ventures Associates Total

£m £m £m

At 25 February 2006 456 20 476
Additions 47 3 50
Effect of change in foretgn exchange rates Q)] — (14)
Share of profit of joint ventures and assodates 104 2 106
Income recewed from Joint ventures and associates {123) (1) (124)
Disposals@ - )] (14)
Capital reduction (6) - ()]
Transferred to subsidiary undertakings® (160} - (160)
At 24 February 2007 304 10 3t4
Additions 8 - 8
Share of profit of joint ventures and associates 74 1 75
Income receved from joint ventures and assocates @7 4 (88
Transferred to subsidiary undertakings® 4 - )]
At 23 February 2008 295 10 305
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Note 13 Group entrties continued

(a) Disposals of associates
There were no disposals of associates in 2007/8 Disposals of associates n 2006/7 were as follows

Greenergy
Groceryworks  Fuels Limited Total
£m £m £m
Consideraticn teceivedivalue of assets exchanged 35 4 39
Carrying value of nvestment disposed of (13} (1) (14)
Profit on sale of investments in assoctates 22 3 25

The investment in Groceryworks was sold to its parent company, Safeway Inc

Buring the year ended 24 February 2007, the Group’s iInvestment in Greenergy Fuels Limited was subject to an exchange transaction, whereby the
Group gave up Its iInvestment in Greenergy Fuels Limited and recerved a 21 3% vestment in Greenergy Fuels Limited’s parent company, Greenergy
Internaticnal Limited

The transaction was treated as an exchange of farvalues and the profit on sale recogrused on this transaction represents the difference between 3 7%
of the net assets of Greenergy Fuels Limted given up and 21 3% of the additional net assets of Greenergy Intemational Limited acquired Overall, the
transaction was cash neutral

(b) Transferred to subsidiary undertakings
During the year ended 23 February 2008, the Group purchased additional share capital in Nutri Centres Limited, making the company a subsidiary entity
which has been consolidated within the Group results from the date of acquisition onwards

Dunng the year ended 24 February 2007, the Group purchased additional share capital in three of its Joint ventures, namely dunnhumby Limited,
Tesco Home Shopping and Hymall, making them subsidiary entities which have been consohdated within the Group results from the date of
acquisiien onwards

Significant Jjoint ventures
The Group's prnaipal joint ventures are

Share of 1ssued share Country of incorporation

capital, loan capital and and prinaipal country

Business activity debt secuntas of oparation

Tesco Personal Finance Group Lirmited Personal Finance 50% Scotland
Tesco Mobile Limited?t Telecommunications 50% England
Shopping Centres Lirmited Property Investment 50% England
BU Properties Limited Property Investment 50% England
Tesco British Land Property Partnershipt Property Investment 50% England
Tesco Red Limited Partnership? Property Investment 50% England
Tesco Aqua Limited Partnershipt Property Investment 50% England
Arena (Jersey) Management Limited? Property Investment 50% Jersey
The Tesco Property (No 2) Limited Partnershipt Property Investment 50% Jersey

1 Held by an intermediate subsidiary

The accounting pencd ends of the Joint ventures conschidated n these financial statements range fram 31 December 2007 to 29 February 2008
Accounting penod end dates different from those of the Group anse for commercial reasons and depend upon the requirements of the joint venture
partner as well as those of the Group
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 13 Group entities continued

The share of the assets, habilities, revenue and profit of the joint ventures, which are included 1n the consolidated financiat statements, are as follows

2008 2007
£m £m
Non-current assets 1,411 1,134
Current assets 4,277 3,956
Current habilities (3,888) (3,572
Non-current liabilities (1,513) (1,225)
Goodwill 1 4
Cumulative unrecogrised losses 7 7
295 304
Revenue 482 638
Expenses (408) (534)
Profit for the year 74 104
The unrecognised share of losses made by joint ventures in the year to 23 February 2008 was £nil (2007 — £1m)
Associates
At the Balance Sheet date, the Group's pnncipal associate 15
Share of 1ssued capital, Country of incorperation
loan capital and debt and prncipal country
Business actiity sequnbes. of operation
Greenergy Intermational Lirmited Fue! Supplier 21% England

Although the Group only holds a 21 3% non-voting shareholding in Greenergy [ntemauonal Limited it ts treated as an associate as the Board of Greenergy

International Limited requires the consent of Tesco on certan reserve matters as specified n the company’s Articles of Association

The share of the assets, labilities, revenue and profit of the Group's associates, which are included in the consolidated financial staternents, are as follows

2008 2007
Em £m
Assets 115 93
Liabilities (107) (83)
Goodwill 2 2
10 10
Revenue 325 280
Profit for the year 1 2
The accounting penod ends of the associates consolidated 1n these financial statements range from 31 December 2007 to 31 January 2008
The accounting penod end dates of the associates are different from those of the Group as they also depend upon the requirements of the parent
companies of those entities
There are no significant restnctions on the ability of associated undertakings to transfer funds to the parent, otherthan those imposed by the
Comparies Act 1985
Note 14 Other investments
2008 2007
£fm £m
Available-for-sale financial assets a4 8

Other investments are available-for-sale financia! assets consisting of ordinary shares, and therefore have no fixed matunty date or coupon rate

The fair value of the unlisted available-for-sale investrnents has been estimated using a valuation techmigue based en assurmnptions that are not supported
by observable market prices or rates The fairvalue of the histed avatlable-for-sale investments is based on quoted market pnces at the Balance Sheet date
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Note 14 Other investments continued

The following table shows the aggregate movement in the Group’s other investiments dunng the year-

2008 2007
£m £m
At beginning of year 8 4
Addetions - 5
Revaluation through equity (4) {1)
At end of year 4 8
Note 15 Inventortes
2008 2007
£m £m
Goods held forresale 2,420 1,911
Development properties 10 20
2,430 1,831
Note 16 Trade and other receivables
2008 2007
£m £m
Prepayments and accrued income 298 128
Finance lease recevables (note 32) 5 12
QOther recevables 796 771
Amounts owed by joint ventures and assocrates {note 28) 212 168
1,311 1,079
Included within trade and other recevables are the following amounts recevable after more than one year
2008 2007
£m £m
Prepayments and accrued income 12 6
Finance lease receivables {(note 32) - 6
Other recevables 160 136
Amounts owed by joint ventures and associates (note 28) 173 163
345 311

Trade and other receivables are generally non-interest bearing Credit terms vary by geography and the nature of the debt and can be from 14 to 30 days

Trade recevables are recorded at amortised cost, reduced by estimated allowances for doubtful debts

Provision for mpairment of receivables

£m
At 25 February 2006 (24}
Foreign currency translation {1
Charge for the year (20)
Unused amounts reversed 4
Uncollectible amounts wntten off 7
At 24 February 2007 34)
Exchange adjustments (3)
Charge for the year {15)
Unused amounts reversed 9
Uncollectible amounts waitten off 14
At 23 February 2008 {29)
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 16 Trade and other receivables continued

As at 23 February 2008, trade and other recenvables of £31m (2007 — £34m) were past due and impaired The amount of the provision was £29m
(2007 - £34m) The ageing analysis of these recevables 1s as follows

2008 2007

£m £m

Up to 3 menths past due 3 12
3 to 6 months past due 3 4
QOver 6 months past due 25 18
34 34

As at 23 February 2008, trade and cther recewables of £103m (2007 — £74m) were past due but not impaired The ageing analysis of these recevables

15 as follows
2008 2007
£m £m
Up to 3 months past due 79 56
3 to 6 months past due 13 9
QOver 6 months past due 11 9
103 74
No recevables have been renegotiated in the cument or prioryear
Note 17 Cash and cash equivalents
2008 2007
£m £m
Cash at bankand in hand 1,542 902
Short-term deposits 246 140
1,788 1,042
Note 18 Trade and other payables
Current
2008 2007
£Em £m
Trade payables 3,936 3,317
Other taxation and socal seaunty 324 203
Other payables 1,714 1,329
Amounts payable to jomt ventures and associates (note 28) 116 128
Accruals and deferred income 1,187 1,062
Dmdends - 7
7,277 6,046
Non-current
2008 2007
£m Em
QOther payables 42 29
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Note 19 Borrowings

Current

Matunty 2008 2007
Parvalue year £m £m
Bank loans and overdrafis 2008 1,458 1,052
Loan from joint venture {(note 28} 2008 10 10
7 5% MTN £258m 2007 - 268
6% MTN £125m 2008 130 -
525% MTN €500m 2008 392 -
Other MTNs - 43 188
Finance leases (note 32) - 51 36
2,084 1,554

Non-current
Matunty 2008 2007
Parvalue year £m £m
Finance leases (note 32) - - 215 147
6% MTN £125m 2008 - 130
5 25% MTN £€500m 2008 - 352
5125% MTN £192m 2009 191 190
6625% MTN £150m 2010 153 153
475% MTN €750m 2010 592 525
3 875% MTN €500m 2011 387 340
4% RPI MTN® £238m 2016 254 244
5 5% USD Bond $850m 2017 455 -
55% MTN £350m 2019 350 349
5% MTN® E415m 2023 417 361
3 322% LPI MTN® £241m 2025 255 243
6% MTN £200m 2029 194 198
55% MTN £200m 2033 192 197
1982% RPI MTN®@ £204m 2036 212 206
6 15% USD Bond $1,150m 2037 604 -
5% MTN £300m 2042 305 306
5125% MTN €600m 2047 451 -
5 2% MTN £500m 2057 499 -
Other MTNs — - 135 176
Other loans - - 11 29
5,972 4146

(a) The 4% RPI MTN 1s redeemable at par, indexed for increases In the Retall Pnce Index (RP) over the life of the MTN
(b) An additional bond issue mcreased the principal of this MTN from £350m to £415m dunng the year

(<} The 3.322% LPI MTN is redeemable at par, indexed forincreases in the RPI over the Iife of the MTN The maximum indexation of the pnnopal in any one year 1s 5%, with a mimnimum of 0%.

(d) The 1 982% RP| MTN is redeemable at par, indexed forincreases in the RPI over the [ife of the MTN

Borrowing facilities

The Group has the following undrawn cornmitted facilities avallable at 23 February 2008, in respect of which all conditions precedent had been met

as at that date

2008 2007

£m £m

Expinng within one year - -
Expinng between one and two years - -
Expinng in more than two years 1,600 1,750
1,600 1,750

All facihzes incur commitment fees at market rates and would provide funding at floating rates
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 20 Financtal tnstruments

Denvatives are used for hedging in the management of expasure to rmarket risks This enables the opumisation of the overall cost of accessing debt
capital markets, and to mitigate the market nsk which would otherwise anse from the matunty and cther profiles of assets and habiities

Hedging policies using denvatrve financial instruments are further explained below Dervatives that are held as hedging mstruments are formally
designated as hedges as defined in IAS 39 Denvauves may qualify as hedges for accounting purposes as described below

There I1s no matenal impact an the Group Income Statement resulting from hedge ineffectiveness

Fair value hedges

The Group maintains interest rate and cross-currency swap contracts as farvalue hedges of the interest rate and curency nskon fixed rate debt 1ssued by the
Group Changes in the far value of dervatives that are designated and quahfy as fairvalue hedges are recorded in the Group Income Statement, togetherwith
any changes in the farrvalue of the hedged asset or lability that are attnbutable to the hedged nsk, The gain or loss on the hedging instrument and hedged
jtem 1s recognised in the Group Income Statement witbun finance income or ¢osts If the hedge no longer meets the cntena for hedge accounting, the
adjustment to the camying value of the hedged item 1s amortised to the Group Income Statement under the effective nterest rate method

A gain of £261m on hedging instruments was recognised dunng the year, offset by a loss of £261m on hedged items (in 2007, a loss of £13m on hedging
nstruments was offset by a gam of £13m on hedged items)

Cash flow hedges

The Group uses forward foreign currency contracts to hedge the cost of future purchases of goods for resale, where these purchases are denominated
1n a currency other than the functional currency of the purchasing company Where these contracts qualify for hedge accounting, mark-to-market gains
and losses are deferred in equity

The hedging instruments are primanly used to hedge purchases in Euros and US Dollars The cash fiows hedged will occur and will affect the Group
Incorne Statement within one year of the Balance Sheet date

When a hedging instrument expires or 1s sald, or when a hedge no longer meets the cntena for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing
In equity at that time remains in equity and 1s recogrised when the forecast transaction is recognised in the Group Income Statement. When a forecast
transaction 1s no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gamn or loss that was reported In equity 1s immediately transfemed to the Group Income Statement.

Net investment hedges
The Group uses forward foreign currency contracts, currency denominated berrowings and currency options to hedge the exposure of a proportion of
its non-Sterling denominated assets against changes in vatue due to changes in foreign exchange rates

The Group has a South Korean Won denominated habslity relating to the future purchase of the minonty shareholding of its subsidiary, Samsung Tesco
Co Limited This liability has been designated as a net investment hedge of a proportion of the assets of Samsung Tesco Co Limited

The Group has a Chinese Yuan denominated liability relating to the future purchase of the minonty shareholding of its subsidiary, Hyrmalt This habiity
has been designatad as a net investment hedge of a proportion of the assets of Hymall

Gains and losses accumulated in equity are included in the Group Income Statement on disposal of the overseas operation
Finanaial instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting
The Group's policy 1s not to use denvatives for trading purposes, however, some denvatives may not qualify for hedge accounting, or are specifically not

designated as a hedge where natural offset 15 appropnate

These instuments include caps, collars, interest rate swaps and forward foreign curmency contracts Chaniges in the farvalue of any derivative Instruments
that do not qualfy for hedge accounting are recogrused immediately in the Group Income Statement wathin finance income or costs

The Group has a lability relaung te the future purchase of the minonty shareholding of 1ts subsidiary, dunnhumby Lymuited Changes in the value of the
liability are recogrised immedtately in the Group Income Statement within finance income or costs

The fairvalue of denvative financial instruments have been disclosed in the Group Balance Sheet as follows

2008 2007

Asset Ulability Asset Leabibity

£m £m £m £m

Current 97 (443) 108 87
Nen-current 216 322) - {399)
313 (765) 108 {486}

| Report
74 :ﬁ,’a‘,?c.';{';?&mn;%’gsa”d www.tesco.comfannualreport08




Note 20 Fiancial instruments continued

The farvalue and notional amounts of derivatives analysed by hedge type are as follows

2008 2007
Asset Liability Asset Liabiity
Fairvalue Notipnal Fair value Notional Fairvalue Nouonal Fairvafue Notiona!
£m Em £m £m £m £m £m £m
Farr value hedges
Interest rate swaps and simtlar instruments 2 125 (B0) 657 7 267 69) 17
Cross currency swaps 252 2,795 - - - - (45) 1,174
Cash flow hedges
Interest rate swaps and sumilar Instruments - - - - - - (9) 988
Cross currency swaps - - 1) 17 - - - -
Forward foreign currency contracts 19 811 (9) 387 2 73 25 691
Net investment hedges
Forward foreign currency contracts 2 289 (218) 2,328 65 3,053 (8) 1,292
Future purchases of minority interests - - (197) - - - (268) -
Derivatives not in a formal hedge relationship
Interest rate swaps and similar instruments 6 3,668 2) 189 5 1,570 {1) 230
Cross qurrency swaps - - {16) 347 - - - -
Forward foreign currency contracts 32 1,641 (207) 2,816 29 1,236 (23) 687
Future purchases of minonty interests - - (35 - - - (38) —
Total 313 9,329 (765) 6,741 108 6,199 (486) 5,779
Carrying and fairvalue of financial assets and habilites at financial year ending
2008 2007
Carrying Fair Carmying Far
wvalue value value value
£m £m £m £m
Assets
Finance leases {Group as fessor — note 32) 5 5 12 12
Cash and cash equivalents 1,788 1,788 1,042 1,042
Short-term mvestments 360 360 - -
Joint venture loan recervables 173 173 163 163
Dernwvative financial assets
Interest rate swaps and similar instruments 8 8 12 12
Cross currency swaps 252 252 - -
Forward foreign currency contracts 53 53 96 98
Total financiat assets 2,639 2,639 1,325 1,325
Liabilities
Short-term borrowings
Amortised cost €1,511) (1,516) (1,251) (1,251)
Bonds n fairvalue hedge relationships (522) (502) (267) (258)
Long-term borrowings
Amortised cost (2,269) (2,138) (2,060) (2,028)
Bonds in fairvalue hedge relationships (3,488) (3,261) (1,939) (1,921}
Finance leases (Group as lessee — note 32) (266) (266) {(183) (183)
Dervative and other financial liabilittes
Interest rate swaps and similar nstruments (81) @) 79) (79)
Cross currency swaps (18) {18) (45) (45)
Forward foreign currency contracts (434) (434) (56) (56)
Future purchases of minonty interests (232) (232) (306) (306)
Total financial habilities (8,821) (8,448) (6,186) (6,127)
Total (6,182) (5,809) (4,861) (4,802)

The farrvalues of finanoial iInstruments have been determined by reference to pnces available from the markets onwhich the mstruments are traded
The fairvalue of all other items have been calculated by discounting expected future cash flows at prevailing interest rates The above table excludes
other recevablesipayables, which have fairvelues equal to their carrying values
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 21 Financial nsk factors

The main financial nsks faced by the Group relate to fluctuations in interest and foreign exchange rates, the nisk of default by counter-parties to financial
transactions, and the availabihity of funds to meet business needs These nisks are managed as descnbed below The Group Balance Sheet position at
23 February 2008 15 representative of the pasittons throughout the year

Risk management 15 camed out by a central treasury department under policies approved by the Board of Directors The Board provides wntten principles
for sk management, as descrnibed in the Business Review on pages 15 to 17

Interest rate nsk
Interest rate nsk anses from long-term borrowings Debt 1ssued at vanable rates exposes the Group to cash flow interest rate nsk. Debt 1ssued at fixed rates
exposes the Group to fairvalue nsk Our interest rate managerment policy 15 explained on page 17

The Group has RPI debt where the prinaipal s indexed to iIncreases in the RPl index RPI debt Is treated as floating rate debt. The Group also has LPI debt,
where the principal is indexed to RPI, with an annual maximum increase of 5% and a minmum of 0% LPI debt is treated as fixed rate debt.

During 2008 and 2007, net debt was managed using denvative instruments to hedge interest rate nskas follows

2008 2007

Fixed Floating Total Foed Floating Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Cash and cash equivalents - 1,788 1,788 - 1,042 1,042
Short-term investments - 360 360 - - -
Finance leases a3 (188) 261) (75) (96) (171
Joint venture loan recewvables - 173 173 - 163 163
Bank and other bormowings (5,745) (2,045) (7,790) (3,999) {1,518) (5,517
Future purchases of minonty interests (232) - (232) (306) = (306)

Dernvative effect

Interest rate swaps 752 (752) - 888 (888) -
Cross currency swaps 2,778 (2,778) - 1,180 (1,180) -
Caps and collars {B76) 876 - (971} 971 —
Total (3,396) (2,566) {5,962) (3,283} (1,506) (4,789)
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Note 21 Financial nsk factors continued

Credit r1sk
Credit nsk anses from cash and cash equivalents, financial instruments and deposits wath banks and financia! insttutions The Group policy on credit nsk
1s described on page 17

The counterparty exposure under derivative contracts 1s £313m (2007 = £108m) The Group policy 1s to transact denvatives only with counterparties rated
at least A1 by Moody's

Liquicity nsk
Liqurdity nskis managed by short- and long-term cash flow forecasts In addition, the Group has a commutted facility agreement for £1 6bn (2007 - £1 75bn),
which matures in 2014

The Group has a European Medium Term Note programme of £10bn, of which £4 9bn was in 1ssue at 23 February 2008 (2007 — £4 3bn), plus a Euro
Commercal Paper programme of £2bn, of which £0 6bn was in 1ssue at 23 February 2008 (2007 — £0 2bn), and a US Commercial Paper
programme of $1bn, none of which was in 1ssue at 23 February 2008 (2007 - £nil)

The followang is an analysis of the undiscounted contractual cash flows payable under financial labilities and denvatives
The undiscounted cash flows will differ from both the carrying values and farrvalue Floating rate interest 1s estimated using the prevailing rate at

the Balance Sheet date Cash flows In foreign currencies are translated using spot rates at the Balance Sheet date For index inked labilities, inflatien
1s estimated at 3% for the life of the hability

Due Due Due Due
Due between between between between Due

within 1and2 2and3 3and4d 4and 5 beyond
At 23 February 2008 e Yem g i Y s
Non dervative financial habihtres
Bank and other borrowings (2,018) (287) (795) (398) {47) (4,714}
Interest payments on borrowings (298) (272) (229) (211) (198) (4,906)
Finance leases {62) 54 {50) (46} (30) {130)
Trade and other payables not in net debt (3,935) (12) {13) (2) (6) (¢]
Dernvative and other financial habilities
Net settled demative contracts — receipts 7 - - - - -
Net settled denvative cantracts — payments (230) {16) (9) (9) (9) (172)
Gross settled denvative contracts — receipts 2,968 255 705 484 297 3,207
Gross settled denvative contracts — payments (2,827) (286) (677) (452) (304) (3,280)
Future purchases of minonty interests - {70) - (166} (34) -
Total (6,395) (742) {1,068) (800} (331) (10,002)

Due Due Due Due
Due between between between between Due

within 1and 2 2and3 Jand 4 4and 5 beyond
At 24 February 2007 e iy Yem gy e Sy
Non derivative financial hiabilities
Bank and other borrowings (1,513) (531) 276) (661) (354) (2,666)
interest payments on borrowings (268) (187) (159 (149) (114) {1,894)
Fmnance leases (38) 34) 28) (41) {6) (5)
Trade and other payables not in net debt (3317 (0 (10) 1) m (5)
Dervative and other financial habihttes
Net settled denvative contracts — receipts 88 6 - - - -
Net settled denvative contracts — payments (44) {11) 11) ) {7 (131)
Gross settled denvative contracts — receipts 2,560 577 39 549 349 —
Gross settled denvative contracts — payments (2,584) (590) {53) (562) 351) -
Future purchases of minanty interests 29 - {70 - (208) 42)
Total (5,145) (780) (568) (872) (692) {4,743)
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 21 Financial nsk factors conunued

Sensitivity analysis at 23 February 2008
Financal mstruments affected by market nskinclude borrowings, deposits and dervative financal mstruments The following analysis, required by IFRS 7
‘Financial Instruments Disclosures’, 1s ntended to dlustrate the sensitmty to changes in market vanables, being UK nterest rates, and foretgn exchange nsk.

Foreign exchange nisk
The Group 15 exposed to foreign exchange nsk pnncipally via

(a) Transactional exposure, from the cost of future purchases of goods for resale, where those purchases are denominated in a currency other than the
functronal currency of the purchastng company Transactional exposures that could significantty impact the Group Income Staternent are hedged
These exposures are hedged via forward foreign currency contracts which are designated as cash flow hedges The notional and fair value of these
contracts 15 shown in note 20

(b) Net investment exposure, from the value of net investments outside the UK We hedge the rmajonty of our investments in our international subsidianes
vta forergn curency transactions and borrowings in matching currencies, which are formally designated as net investment hedges

(¢} Loans to non-UK subsidianes These are hedged via foreign currency transacttons and borrowings in matchung currencies, which are not formally
destgnated as hedges, as gains and losses on hedges and hedged loans will naturally offset

The impact on Group financial mstruments frorn foreign currency volatility 1s shown In the sensitivity analysis below

The analysis excludes the iImpact of movements in market vanables on the camying value of pension and ether post-empleyment obligations and
on the retranslation of overseas net assets as required by IAS 21 ‘The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates' However 1t does include the foreign
exchange sensitmvty resulting from all local entity non-functional currency financial instruments

The sensiivity analysis has been prepared on the basis that the amount of net debt, the rauo of fixed to floating :nterest rates of the debt and denvautves
portfolio, and the proportion of finanaal instruments in foreign currencies are alf constant and on the basis of the hedge designations in place at
23 February 2008

It should be noted that the sensitnaty analysis reflects the impact on income and equity due to all financial mstruments held at the Balance Sheet date
It does not reflect any change in sales or costs that may result from changing interest or exchange rates

The following assumptions were made in calculating the sensitivity analysis

> the sensitivity of interest payable to movernents in interest rates 1s calculated on the post hedge floating rate net debt exposure with no sensitvity
assumed for LPl-hnked debt,

> changes in the carrying value of denvatve financial Instruments designated as fair value hedges from movements In interest retes or foreign exchange
rates have an immatenal effect on the Group Income Statement and equity due to compensating adjustments in the carrying value of debt,

> changes in the camying value of denvatve financial instruments designated as net investment hedges fram movemeants in foreign exchange rates
are recorded directly In equity,

> changes in the carrying value of denvative financial iInstruments not designated as hedging instruments only affect the Group [ncome Statement, |
> all other changes in the carrying value of denvative finanaal instruments designated as hedging instrurnents are fully effective wath no impact on

the Group Income Statement, |

> debtwith a maturity below one year 15 floating rate for the interest payable part of the calculation, and |

|

> the floating leg of any swap or any floating rate debt 1s treated as not having any interest rate already set, therefore a change 1n interest rates affects
a full 12-month period for the interest payable portion of the sensitivity calculations |
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Note 21 Finanaal nsk factors continued

Using the above assumptions, the following table shows the illustrative effect on the Group Income Staternent and equity that would result from changes

in UK interest rates, and in the Euro to Sterling exchange rate
2008 2007

Income Equity Income Equity
gzinf(loss) galni{loss) gan(loss} gaw(loss)
Em £m £m £m

Assets

1% increase in GBP interest rates (42) - (36) -
5% appreciation of the Euro (5) 32) 1 35)
5% appreciation of the South Korean Won - - - (19)
5% appreciation of the US Dollar (2) 43 (1) 19
5% appreciation of the Thai Baht - 1) - “n
10% apprectation of the Czech Koruna - 27) - (48)
15% apprecation of the Polish Zloty 1 (102) - (195)
20% apprecation of the Slovak Koruna 2 87 - (72)

The impact on equity from changing exchange rates results pnincipally from foreign currency deals used as net investment hedges The impact on equity
will largely be offset by the revaluation in equity of the hedged assets For changes in the USD/GBP exchange rate, the impact on equity results principally
from forward purchases of USD as cash flow hedges

Capital nsk

The Group's objectives when managing capital (defined as net debt plus equity) are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concesn

n order to provide returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, while maintaining a strong credit rating and headroom whilst optimising
return to shareholders through an appropnate balance of debt and equity funding The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it,
1n kight of changes to economic conditions and the strategic objectrves of the Company

To mamntan or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, buy back shares and cancel them or 15sue new
shares In Aprl 2006, we outlined our plan to release cash from our property assets, via a sequence of property joint ventures and other transactions,
and return sigmificant value to shareholders, either through enhanced dividends or share buy-backs The target for the value of share buy-backs was
increased from £1 5bn to £3 Obn over a five-year penod from Apnl 2007 We have continued with this pohicy throughout the cumrent financial year,
purchasing and cancelling £657m ordinary shares, taking the total to £1,042m

The policy for debt 1s to ensure a smooth debt matunty profile wath the objective of ensunng continuity of funding This policy continued dunng the current

yearwith bonds redeemed of £447m and new bonds issued totalling £2,034m The Group borrows centrally and locally, using a vanety of capita! market
1ssues and borrowing facilities to meet the requirements of each local business

Note 22 Prowisions

Property

provisions

£m

At 24 February 2007 29
Additions 3
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates 3
Amount utiised in the year (8)
At 23 February 2008 27

Property provisions cornprise future remts payable net of rents recevable on gnerous and vacant property leases, provisions for terminal dilapidations
and prowisions for future rents above market value on unprofitable stores The majonty of the prowision 1s expected to be utlised over the penod to 2020

The balances are anatysed as follows

2008 2007

£m £m

Cumrent 4 4
Non-current 23 25
27 29
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 23 Share-based payments

The Group has not taken advantage of the transitional provisions of IFRS 2 ‘Share-based payment’ in respect of equity-settled awards but instead applied
IFRS 2 retrospectively to all awards granted, but not vested, as at 28 February 2004

The total Group Income Statement charge for the year recogrused in respect of share-based payments 1s £228m (2007 — £209m), which 1s made up of
share option schemes and share bonus payments Of this amount £199m (2007 — £185m) will be equity-settled and £29m (2007 — £24m) cash-settled

a) Share option schemes
The Company had nine share opuon schemes in operanon during the year, all of which are equity-settled schemes

)

)

m

Iv)

v)

Vi)

viI)

The savings-related share option scheme (1981) perrmits the grant to employees of options 1n respect of ordinary shares linked to a buillding society/
bank save-as-you-earn contract for a term of three or five years with contnbutions from employees of an amount between £5 and £250 per four-weekly
penod Options are capable of being exercised at the end of the three or five-year period at a subscnption pnce not less than 80% of the average

of the rmiddle-market quotations of an ordinary share over the three dealing days immedately preceding the offer date

The lrish savings-related share opron scheme (2000) perrnits the grant to Insh ernployees of options 1n respect of ordinary shares linked to a
building society/bank save-as-you-earn contract for a term of three or five years with contributions from employees of an amount between €12
and €320 per four-weekly penod Options are capable of being exercised at the end of the three or five-year penod at a subscnption price not less
than 80% of the average of the middle-market quotations of an ordmary share over the three dealing days immediately preceding the offer date

The Approved Executrve Share Option Scheme (1994) was adopted on 17 October 1994 The exerase of opucns granted under this scheme will
narmally be conditional upon the achievemnent of a specified performance target related to the growth in earnings per share over a three-year
penocd No further options will be granted under this scheme and 1t has been replaced by the discretionary share option plan (2004) There were
no discounted options granted under this scheme

The Unapproved Executive Share Qption Scheme (1996} was adopted on 7 June 1996 The exercise of aptions granted under this scheme wall
normally be conditional upon the achievement of a specified performance target related to the growth in eamings per share over a three-year penod
No further options will be granted under this scheme and it has been replaced by the discrettonary share option plan {2004) There were no
discounted options granted under this scheme

The Intemational Executive Share Option Scheme (1994) was adepted on 20 May 1994 This scheme permits the grant to selected non-UK executives
of options to acquire ordinary shares on substantially the same basis as their UK counterparts The exercise of options granted under this scheme will
normally be conditonal on the achievernent of a speafied performance target related to the growth in earnings per share over a three-year penod

No further options will be grented under thes schermne and it has been replaced by the discretitonary share option plan (2004) There were no discounted
options granted under this scheme

The Executive Incentive Plan {2004) was adopted on 5 July 2004 This scheme permits the grant of options in respect of ordinary shares to selected
executives Options are normally exeraisable between three and ten years frorn the date of grant for nil consideration

The Performance Share Plan (2004) was adopted on 5 July 2004 and amended on 29 June 2007 This scheme permuts the grant of options in
respect of ordinary shares to selected executives Qptions granted before 29 June 2007 are normally exercisable between four and ten years from the
date of grant for nil consideration Options granted after 29 June 2007 are normally exercisable between three and ten years from the date of grant
for nil consideration The exercise of options will normally be conditional on the achieverment of specified performance targets related to the return on
capital employed over a three-year period

vin) The Discrettonary Share Option Plan (2004) was adopted on 5 July 2004 This scheme permits the grant of approved, unapproved and internationa!

1X)
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options in respect of ardinary shares to selected executives Optons are normally exercisable between three and ten years from the date of grant at

a pnee not less than the rmiddle-market quotation or average middle-market quotations of an ordinary share for the dealing day or three dealing days
preceding the date of grant. The exercise of opttons will normally be conditional on the achievement of a speafied performance target related to the
annual percentage growth 1n earmings per share over a three-year period There wilt be no discounted options granted under this scheme

The Group New Business Incentive Plan {2007) was adopted on 29 June 2007 This scherne perrmits the grant of options in respect of ordinary shares
to selected executives Options will normally vest in four tranches four, five, six and seven years after the date of grant and wall be exercisable for

up to two years from the vesting dates for nil consideration The exercise of options will normalty be conditional on the achievernent of specified
performance targets related to the retum on capral employed over the seven-year plan
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Note 23 Share-based payments contunued

The following tables reconcile the number of share options outstanding and the weighted average exercise pnce (WAEP)

For the year ended 23 February 2008

Savings-related Insh savings-related Approved Unapproved International exequtve Nil cost
share option scheme share option scheme share option scheme share option scheme share opticn scheme share options
Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Qptons WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP
Qutstanding at
24 February
2007 173,403,108 23612 4,927,409 25027 16,855,033 27619 82,526,915 267 70 33,128,105 28068 5,810,007 000
Granted 30,284,995 41000 1,333,621 41000 13,675,200 47375 14,355,638 47366 10,127,935 46657 5,113,574 000
Forfeited (9,470,529) 25396 (401,169) 24175 (926,135) 33621 (3,399,364) 35517 (1,999671) 31013 — —
Exercised (40,555,754) 19056 (776,852) 19883 (3,374,252) 24277 (16,439,584) 245 18 (4,286,110) 252 90 (85,343) 000
Qutstanding at
23 February
2008 153,361,820 28140 5,083,000 30071 16,229,846 32445 77,043,605 30700 36,970,259 33322 10,838,238 000
Exercisable as at
23 February
2008 7,761,557 19299 245,709 20121 4968637 23222 33,091,874 23057 9,412,295 22527 - -
Exercise price 15900 to 15900 to 197 50 to 16400 to 176 70 to
range {pence) 23200 23200 25900 25900 25900 -
Weighted average
rémaining
contractual
fife (years) 020 020 394 459 406 -

For the year ended 24 February 2007

Savings-related Insh savings-related Approved Unappraved Intemational exequtive Wil cost
share option scheme share option scheme share opbion scheme share option scheme share option scheme share opt:ons
Optons WAEP Options WAEP Qptions WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP
Outstanding at
25 February
2006 181,166,780 21142 4,705,023 21796 17,947,537 24811 95519321 24228 28,097,456 25169 3,459,458 000
Granted 38,895,396 30700 1,532,291 30700 5,166,957 31687 18,751,718 32022 11,538,336 31860 2,350,549 000
Forfeited {10,898,678) 21950 (508,283} 21569 (931,795 29325 (3,090,496) 27800 (1,352,164) 24371 - —
Exerctsed (56,060,390) 19352  (801,622) 19099 (5327,666) 22010 (28,653,628) 21621 (5,155,523) 22125 - -
Qutstanding at
24 February
2007 173,103,108 23612 4,927,409 25027 16,855,033 27619 82,526915 26770 33,128,105 28068 5,810,007 000
Exercisable as at
24 February
2007 5,320,960 19651 215648 19570 5,674,314 22602 27,295331 21890 8,386,290 21442 - -
Exeraise price 195 00 to 195 00 to 19750 to0 164 00 to 17670 to
range (pence) 198 00 198 00 259 00 25900 259 00 -
Weighted average
remaming
contractual
life (years) 020 020 442 473 439 -
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 23 Share-based payments continued

Share options were exercised on a regular basis throughout the year The average share pnce durmg the year to 23 February 2008 was 443 59p
(2007 — 369 70p)

The fairvalue of share options 1s esumated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option prnicng model The following table gives the assumptions
applied to the options granted in the respective penods shown No assumption has been made to incorporate the effects of expected early exercise

2008 2007
Savings- Savings~

related Executive related Executive
share share Nil cost share share il cost
option option option ophon option optzon
schemes schemes schemes schemes schemes schemes
Expected dividend yield (%) 2 4% 2 4% 0.0% 27% 30% 27%
Expected volatility (%) 20-21% 24% 24-27% 28% 28% 28%
Risk-free interest rate (%) 48% 50-53% 47-4.9% 4 8% 47% 4 6%
Expected life of option (years) Jor5 6 69 Jor5 6 &
Woeighted average fairvalue of options granted (pence) 116.35 11996 469 17 12202 8163 28297
Probability of forfeiture {%) 20-25% 10% 0% 20-25% 10% 0%
Share pnice (pence) 470.00 47112 469 17 38380 31860 33274
Weighted average exercise price {pence) 410 00 47112 000 30700 31860 00

Volatility 1s a measure of the amount bywhich a pnice 1s expected to fluctuate dunng a penod The measure of volatility used in Tesco PLC option pnang
models 1s the annualised standard dewiation of the continuously compounded rates of retum on the share over a period of ime In eshmating the future
volatility of the Company's share pnce, the Board consider the histonical volatlity of the share price over the most recent penod that 1s generally commensurate
with the expected term of the option, taking into account the remaining contractual life of the option

b) Share bonus schemes
Eligible UK employees are able to participate in Shares in Success, an all-employee profit-shanng scheme Each year, shares are awarded as a percentage
of earmings up to a statutory maxmum of £3,000

Sentor management also partictpate in performance-related bonus schemes The amount paid to employees s based on a percentage of safary and 1s
paid partly n cash and partly in shares Bonuses are awarded to eligible employees who have completed a required service penod and depend on the
achievernent of corporate targets The accrued cash element of the bonus at the Balance Sheet date 1s £26m (2007 — £47m)

Selected senior management participate in the serior management Performance Share Plan Awards made under this plan will normally vest three years
after the date of the award for nil consideration Vesting will normally be canditional on the achievement of specified performance targets related to the
return on capital employed over a three year performance penod

Sentor management i the US business also participate in the US Long-Term Incentive Plan (2007) which was adopted on 29 June 2007 The awards
made under this Plan will normally vest in four tranches four, five, six and seven years after the date of award, fornil consideration Vesting wall normally
be conditional on the achievement of specified performance targets related to the retumn on capital employed in the US business over the seven-year plan

The Executive Directors participate m short-term and long-term bonus schemes designed to ahgn their interests with those of shareholders Full details
of these schemes can be found in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

The fairvalue of shares awarded under these schemes is their market value on the date of award Expected dvidends are not incorporated into the fair
value except for awards under the US Long-Term Incentive Plan

The number and werghted average fairvalue (WAFV) of share bonuses awarded during the penod were

2008 2007

Shares WAFY Shares WaFv

numbar pence number pence

Shares in Success 18,019,768 470.45 24,062,964 31965
Execqutive Incentive Scheme 10,012,950 456.11 11,878,791 316 88
Performance Share Plan 1,292,172 466.21 1,885,288 346 25
US Long-Term Incentive Plan 4,817,720 471.10 - -
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Note 24 Post-employment benefits

Pensions
The Group operates a vanety of post-employment benefit amangements, covenng both funded defined contribution and funded and unfunded defined benefit
schemes The most significant of these are the funded defined benefit pension schemes for the Group's employees in the UK and the Republic of Ireland

Defined contnibution plans
The contrbutions payable for defined contrnbution schemes of £8m (2007 — £7m) have been fully expensed aganst profits in the current year

Defined benefit plans

Umted Kingdom

The principal plan within the Group 1s the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme, which 1s a funded defined benefit pension scheme n the UK, the assets of which
are held as a segregated fund and administered by trustees Watson Wyatt Limited, an independent actuary, camed out the latest tnennial actuanal assessment
of the scheme as at 31 March 2005, using the projected unit method

At the date of the last actuanial valuation the actuanal deficit was £153m The market value of the schemes’ assets was £2,632m and these assets
represented 95% of the benefits that had accrued to members, after allowing for expected increases in earnings and pensions In payment

The One Stop Semior Executrve Pension Scherme s a funded defined benefit scheme open to semor executives and certain other employees at the
invitabon of the Company An independent actuary, using the projected unit method, carned out the latest actuanal assessment of the schemne as
at5 April 2004

Overseas
The most significant overseas scheme 1s the funded defined benefit pension scheme which operates in the Republic of lreland An independent actuary,
using the projected umit method, carned out the latest actuanial assessment of the scheme as at 1 April 2007

The valuations used for IAS 19 have been based on the most recent actuarial valuations and updated by Watson Wyatt Limited to take account of the
requirernents of IAS 1910 order to assess the liabiliies of the schemes as at 23 February 2008 The schemes’ assets are stated at their market values

as at 23 February 2008 Watson Wyatt Limited have updated the most recent Republic of Ireland valuation The habilities relating to retirernent healthcare
benefits have also been deterrmined in accordance with 1AS 19, and are incorporated In the following tables

Principal assumptions

The valuations used have been based on the most recent actuanal valuations and updated by Watson Wyatt Liimted to take account of the reguirements
of 1AS 19 1n order to assess the habilities of the schemes as at 23 February 2008 The major assumpuons, on aweighted average basis, used by the
actuaries were as follows

2008 2007 2006

% % %

Rate of increase in salanes 50 45 40
Rate of increase in pensions in payment* 35 30 27
Rate of increase in deferred pensions* 35 30 27
Rate of increase m career average benefits 35 30 27
Discount rate 64 52 48
Price inflation 35 30 27

* In excess of any Guaranteed Minumum Pension {(GMP) element.

The main financial assumption 1s the real discount rate 1 e the excess of the discount rate over the rate of price nflaton If this assumption increased/
decreased by 0 1%, the UK defined benefit obiigatton would decreasefincrease by approximately £115m and the annual UK current service cost would
decreasefincrease by approximately £13m

UK mortality assumptions
The Company conducts analysis of mortality trends under the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme in the UK as part of the tnennial actuanal veluation of the
Scherme At the latest tnenmal actuanal valuation as at 31 March 2005, the following assumptions were adopted for funding purposes

Base tables

PMAQ2C00 for male members with cohort improvernents to 2000 and members taken to be two years older than actual age
PFA92C00 for female members with cohort improvements to 2000 and members taken to be half a year older than actual age

Additionally, at the 31 March 2005 valuation an allowance was built in for future mortality improverents via a ¢ 2% reduction to the discount rate
These assumptions were used for the calculation of the pension lliabilities as at 25 February 2006 and 24 Febmary 2007 for the mam UK scheme
At 23 February 2008, the mortality assumptions have been strengthened The base mortality tables detailed above have been updated in ine with

medium cohort improvements fram 31 March 2005 to 23 February 2008 In addition, the allowance for future mortality improvements has been
changed to incorporate medium cohart irmprovements in the future
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Note 24 Pest-employment benefits continued

The foltowing table Wllustrates the expectation of ife of an average member retinng at age 65 at the Balance Sheet date and a member reaching age 65
at the same date +25 years

2008 2007 2006

in years I years In years

Retiring at Reporting date at age 65 Male 190 175 175
Fernale 233 219 218

Retiring at Reporting date +25 years at age 65 Male 206 18 4 184
Fernale 247 230 230

The formal trienmal actuanal valuation of the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme at 31 March 2008 15 currently taking place Mortality trends under the Scheme
will be analysed as part of the valuation

Rates of return on scheme assets
The assets in the defined benefit pension schemes and the expected norminal rates of return were

2008 2007 2006

Long-term Market Long-term Market Long-term Market

rate of return value  mate of retum value  rate of return value

£m % £m % £m

Egquities 89 2,205 81 2,420 81 2,134
Bonds 57 901 52 812 48 656
Property 73 351 67 343 64 253
Other (alternative assets) 89 512 81 384 81 282
Cash 45 120 40 48 37 123
Total market value of assets 4,089 4,007 3,448

The expected rate of retum on assets 15 a weighted average based on the actual plan assets held and the respective retums expected on the separate
asset classes The expected rate of return on equities and cash have both been set having regard to expected retums over the medium term, as calculated
by the Company's iIndependent actuary The expected rate of return on bonds was measured directly from actual yields for gilts and corporate bond stocks
The above rate takes into account the actual mix of UK gilts, UK corporate bonds and overseas bonds held at the Balance Sheet date

Movement in pension defiat during the year
Changes in the fair value of defined benefit pension plan assets are as follows

2008 2007 2006

£m £m £m

Opening far value of plan assets 4,007 3,448 2,718
Expected retum 301 255 209
Actuanal (losses)gans (465) 82 309
Contributions by employer 340 3 270
Actual member contnbutions 7 7 6
Foreign currency translation differences 9 (2) -
Benefits paid 112) (104) 64)
Acquisition 2 - -
Closing fairvalue of plan assets 4,089 4,007 3,448
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Note 24 Post-employment benefits continued

Changes 1n the present value of defined benefit obligations are as follows

2008 2007 2006

£m £m £m

Opening defined benefit obligation (4,957 (4,659) (3,453)
Current senvice cost (461) (466) (328)
Interest cost (254) (221) (184)
Gamf(loss) on change of assumptions 672 LA 727}
Expenence losses 213 (41} (24)
Foreign currency translation differences (8) 4 {1
Benefits paid 112 104 64
Actual member contrnbutions ()] (7} (6)
Past service gains - 258 -
Acquisitions (3) - -
Closing defined benefit obligation (4,927} (4,957} (4,659)

The amounts that have been charged to the Group income Statement and Group Statement of Recognised Income and Expense for the year ended
23 February 2008 are set out below

2008 2007 2008
£m £m £m

Analysis of the amount (charged)/credited to operating profit

Current service cost (461) (466) (328}
Past service gains - 258 —

Total charge to operating profit (461) (208) (328)
Analysis of the amount credited/(charged) to finance income

Expected retum on pension schemes' assets 0 255 209

Interest on pension schemes' liabiities (254) (221) (184)
Net pension finance income {note 5) 47 34 25

Total charge to the Group Income Statement (414) (174) (303)

In 2007, in ine with changes to the Finance Act 2006, the scheme rules were amended from 6 Apnl 2006 to allow employees to cornmute {convert)

a larger proportion of their penston for a cash lump sum at retirement. Accordingly, the assumpuons made in calculating the Group's defined benefit
pension liability have been revisad, resulting in a gain of £250m being recogmsed in Group operating profit in 2006/7 Revistons to this assumption will
be reflected in the Group Staternent of Recogmised Income and Expense Changes to scheme rules in the Republic of Ireland affecting early retirement
have reduced pension abibties by a further £8m, which was also shown as a past service gain in the Group Income Statement in 2006/7

2008 2007 2006
£m £m £m

Analysis of the amount recognised in the Group Statement of Recognised Income angd Expense
Actual retum less expected return on pension schemes’ assets (465) 82 309
Experience losses ansing on the schemnes’ habilities 21) (a1) (24)
Currency gain/(loss) 1 2 mn
Changes 1n assumptions underlying the present value of the schemes’ liabilities 672 1 {727)
Total gain/(loss) recognised in the Group Statement of Recogrised Income and Expense 187 114 {443)

The cumulative losses recognised through the Group Statement of Recognised Income and Expense since the date of transiion to IFRS are £372m
(2007 — £559m)

Tesco PLC Annual Report and 85
Finanoal Statements 2008




Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 24 Post-employment benefits continued

Summary of movements n deficit during the year

2008 2007 2006
£m £m fm
Deficit in schermes at beqinning of the year (950) (1,211) (735)
Current service cost (461) (466) (328)
Past service gains - 258 -
Other finance income 47 34 25
Contributions by employer 340 321 270
Foreign currency translation differences 1 2 )
Actuanal gain/(loss) 186 112 (442)
Acquisitions (4)] - -
Deftat in schemes at end of the year (838) 950) (1,211)
History of movemnents
The histoncal movement in defined benefit pension schernes assets and habilities and history of expenence gains and losses are as follows
2008 2007 2006 2005
£m £m Em £m
Total market value of assets 4,089 4,007 3,448 2,718
Present value of liabilities refating to unfunded schemes (34) 27) (17 12)
Presentvalue of liabilities relating to partially funded schemes (4,893) (4,930) (4642) (3,441)
Pension deficit (838) (950} 1.211) (735)
Expenence (losses)/gains on scheme assets (465) 82 309 66
Expernience losses on plan liabihties {20) (41) (24) (14)

Post-employment benefits other than pensions

The Company operates a scheme offering retirement healthcare benefits The cost of prowiding these benefits has been accounted for on a similar basis

to that used for defined benefit pension schemes

The hability as at 23 February 2008 of £11m (2007 - £11m) was determined in accordance with the advice of independent actuanes In 2007/8,

£0 6m (2007 — £0 5m) has been charged to the Group Income Statement and £0 7m (2007 — £0 6m) of benefits were pard

A change of 1 (% in assumed healthcare cost trend rates would have the following effect

2008 2007 2006
Em £m £m
Effect of a 1% increase in assumed healthcare cost trend rate on
Service and interest cost 01 01 01
Defined benefit obligation 1.6 13 10
Effect of a 1% decrease in assumed healthcare cost trend rate on
Service and interest cost {0.1) on 01
Defined benefit obligation {13) (13} (11

Expected contributions

A formal actuanal valuation 1s carrred out tnennially for the independent scheme trustees by a professionally qualified independent actuary The purpose

of the valuation 1s to agree a funding plan to ensure that present and future contnbutions should be sufficient to meet future hiabilites The actuanal

valuation of approved schemes as at 31 March 2008 15 currently taking place and until the valuation 1s corcluded, contnbutions will continue as agreed
at the 2005 funding plan On this basis the Group expects to make contnbutions of approximately £370m to defined benefit pension schemes in the year

ending 28 February 2009
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Note 25 Called up share capital

2008 2007
Qrdinary sharas of 5p each Ordinary shares of 5p each
Number £m Number £m
Authonsed
At beginnming of year 10,858,000,000 543 10,700,000,000 535
Authonsed during the year - - 158,000,000 8
At end of year 10,858,000,000 543 10,858,000,000 543
Allotted, called up and fully paid
At beginning of year 7,947,349,558 397 7,894,476,917 395
Serp dwdend election - - 75,205,082 3
Share options 65,432,552 3 75,994,892 4
Share buy-back (149,283,327) €] (98,327,333) (5)
At end of year 7,863,498,783 393 7,947,349,558 397

Dunng the financial year, 65 million (2007 — 151 million} shares of 5p each were 1ssued for aggregate considerstion of £138m (2007 — £395m), which
compnsed £nil (2007 — £239my) for scnp daadend and £138m (2007 — £156m) for share options

Dunng the year, the Company purchased and subsequently cancelled 149,283,327 (2007 — 98,327 333) shares of Sp each, representing 2% (2007 — 1%)
of the called up share capital, at an average price of £4 38 (2007 ~ £3 89) per share The total consideration, including expenses, was £657m (2007 — £385m)
The excess of the consideration over the nominal value has been charged to retained eamings

Between 24 February 2008 and 28 April 2008, options over 4,690,928 crdinary shares have been exercised under the terms of the savings-related share
option scherme (1981) and the Insh savings-related share option scheme (2000) Between 24 February 2008 and 28 Apnl 2008, options over 4,048,526
ordinary shares have been exercised under the terms of the executive share option schemes (1994 and 1996) and the discretionary share option plan (2004)

As at 23 February 2008, the Directors were authonised to purchase up to @ maximum in aggregate of 793 4 millon (2007 — 790 5 million) ordinary shares

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dmdends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at the meetings of

the Company
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 26 Statement of changes in equity

Other Retained e:ziigl’
reserves eamings  atinbutable
Issued Capital to equity
share Share Merger  redemption Hedging  Translabon Treasury Retaned holders of Minonty
capual premigm resarve reserve reserve reserve shares eamings the parent nterests Total
£m £m £m Em £m £m £m Em £m £m £m
At 24 February 2007 397 4,376 40 5 (33) (39) {154) 5914 10,506 65 10,571
Foreign currency translaton
differences - - - - - 33 - - 33 5 38
Actuanal gain on defined
benefit schemes - - - - - 1 - 186 187 - 187
Tax on tems taken directly to
or transferred from equity - - - - - 250 - 127) 123 - 123
Decrease in farrvalue of
avallable-for-sale finanaal assets — — - — - - - 4 (4) = G
Gains on cash flow hedges - — ~ - 37 - - - 37 - 37
Purchase of treasury shares - - - - - - (118) - (118) - (118)
Share-based payments - - - — - — 68 131 199 — 199
Issue of shares 3 135 - — - - - - 138 - 138
Share buy-back (7N - - 7 - - - (665) (665) — (665)
Purchase of minonty interest - - - - - - - 47 47 27 20
Minonty interest on acquisitions
of subsidianes - - - - - - - - - 38 38
Profit for the year - - - - - — - 2,124 2,124 6 2,130
Equity dividends authonsed
In the year - - - - - — - (792) (792) - (792)
At 23 February 2008 393 4511 40 12 4 245 (204) 6,814 11,815 87 11,902
Other Retained e;ﬂlt:)!
IBSEIVeS BAMINGS  aptnbutable
Issued Capital to equity
share Share Merger redemption Hedging  Translation Treasury Retamned helders of Minonty
capital premum resenve reserve reserve resanve shares £3rMiNgs the parent nterests Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 25 February 2006 395 3,988 40 - 5 38 (49) 4,963 9,380 64 9,444
Foreign aurrency translation
differences - - - - - (59) - - (59 {6) 65)
Actuarial gain on defined
benefit schemes - - - - - 2 — 112 114 - 114
Tax on items taken directly to
or transferred from equity - - - - - (20) - 32 12 - 12
Decrease 1n fairvalue of
available-for-sale financial assets — - - - - - - (1) {1) - (1)
Losses on cash flow hedges - - - - (38) - — — (38) - {38)
Purchase of treasury shares - - - - - - {105) - {105) - (105)
Share-based payments - - - - - — — 185 185 - 185
Issue of shares 7 388 - - - - - - 395 - 395
Share buy-back (5) — - 5 - - - (475) {475) - (475)
Future purchases of
minonty Interests - - - - - - - (88) (88) - (88)
Profit for the year - - - — - - - 1,892 1,892 7 1,899
Equity dwvidends authonsed
in the year - - - - - - - (706) {706) - (706)
At 24 February 2007 397 4,376 40 5 (33) (39) (154) 5914 10,506 65 10,571
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Note 26 Statement of changes in equity continued

Share premium account

The share premium account 1s used to record amounts recerved in excess of the norminal value of shares on 1ssue of new shares

Translation reserve

The translation reserve 1s used to record exchange differences ansing from the translatign of the financial statements of foreign subsidianies It 1s also

used to record the movements in net investment hedges

Treasury shares

Dunng the year, the qualifying employee share ownership trust (QUEST) subscnbed for no shares in the Company (2007 - 1 5 mullion, a neglgible
percentage of called-up share capital as at 24 February 2007) There were also no contnibutions (2007 - £nil) to the QUEST from subsidiary undertakings

The employee benefit trusts hold shares in Tesco PLC for the purpose of the vanous executive share incentive and profit share schemes At 23 February 2008,
the trusts held 47 4 million shares (2007 — 57 0 million), which cost £184m (2007 ~ £184m) and had a market value of £130m (2007 - £254m)

The voung nghts in relation to the shares are exercisable by the Trustee, however, 1n accordance with invester guidelines the Trustee abstains from voting

At 23 February 2008, the Group held 7 8 million of its own shares within treasury shares, which cost £20m

Merger reserve
The merger reserve arose on the acquisition of Hillards PLC in 1987

Share buy-back liability

insider trading rles prevent the Group from buying back Tesco PLC shares in the market dunng specified close penods (includng the period between
the year end and the annual results announcement} However, If an wrevocable agreement 15 signed between the Company and a thurd party, they can
continue to buy back shares on behalf of the Company Three such arrangements were in place at the year end and in accordance with 1AS 32, the
Company has recognised a financial habilty equal to the estmated value of the shares purchasable under these agreements A liabtlity of £400m

{2007 — £90m) has been recognised wathin other payables for this amount.

Capital redemption reserve

Upon cancellation of the shares purchased as part of the share buy-back, a capital redemption reserve 1s created representing the nominal value of the

shares cancelled This s a non-distnbutable reserve

Other

The cumulative goodwill wntten off aganst the reserves of the Group as at 23 February 2008 amounted to £718m (2007 — £718m)
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 27 Business combinations

The Group has made a number of acquisitions in the yaar, of which the most significant acquisition has been disclosed separately and the remainder
shawn in aggregate

The net assets and results of the acquired businesses are included in the consolidated accounts of the Group from the date of acquisition Acguisition
accounting has been appled and the goedwill ansing has been capitahsed and s subject to annual impairment testing

The goodwill acquired in the business combinattons Iisted below has been allocated to the single group of cash-generating units represented by the
acquired businesses, as this is the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill 1s momitered intemally Goodwill ansing on acquisisons in the year
15 attnbutable mainly to location, the assembled workforce and the synergies expected to be achieved

The farrvalues currently established for acquisitions made in the year to 23 February 2008 are provisional Farr values will be reviewed based on additional

Information up to one year from the date of acquisiion The Directors da not believe that any net adjustments resulting fram such a review would have
a material effect on the Group

Dobbies Garden Centres PLC
In 2007, the Group acquired 65 5% of the share capital of Dobbies Garden Centres PLC, a retailer in the United Kingdom

The fairvalue of the identifiable assets and habilittes of Dobbies Garden Centres PLC as at the date of acquisition were

Pre-acquisition Recogrised

@amying Fairvalue values on

amounts adjustments aoquisition

£ £m £m

Property, plant and equipment 132 31 163
Brand - 8 8
Goodwill 2 [#2] -
inventories 11 - 11
Trade and other recevables 3 3 [}
Cash and cash equivalents 1 - 1
Trade and other payables (12) 3) {15)
Bank loans and overdraft (87) 1 (86)
Deferred tax liability 3) (15) (18)
Post-ernployment benefit obligation (1) - (1)
Net assets 46 23 69
Minority interest (24)
Net assets acquired 45
Goodwili ansing on acguisition 61
106

Consideration

Cash consideration 103
Caosts associated with the acquisition 3
Total consideration 106

The trading results of Dobbies Garden Centres PLC during the penod since acquisiien of the majonty share and details of the results had the acquisiion
taken place at the beginning of the financial year have not been disclased as it 15 impracticable to do so Dobbies Garden Centres PLC remains listed

on the Alternative Investment Market, and therefore we are unable to disclose nformation untl it has been released to the market. The results of

Dobbies Garden Centres PLC are not matenal in the context of the Group

Other acquisitions
The other acquisitions In the year include the share capital of Telegraph Properties (Kirkby) Limited and The PC Guys Limited The companies acquired
undertake actvties including property management and |T services

In additon the Group acguired the remaining share capital of Nutn Centres Limited, changing it from a joint venture to a subsidiary undertaking
The actmty undertaken by Nutrt Centres Limited is retailing
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Note 27 Business combinations continued

The bookand fair vatues of the identifiable assets and liabilities of these other acquisitions as at the date of acquisition are disclosed 1n the table below

Pre-acquistion Recogrised

camying Fairvalue values on

amounts adstments aoquisibon

£m £m £m

Property, plant and equipment 1 3 4
Inventones 2 - 2
Trade and other receivables 2 - 2
Cash and cash equivalents 2 - 2
Trade and other payables (2) — {2}
Net assets 5 3 8
Transferred from investments in jomt ventures {4)
Net assets acquired 4
Goodwill ansing on acquisition (in addition to previously held goodwill of £3m) g
13

Consideration

Cash consideration 13
Total consideration 13

The post-acquisition contnbution of the other acquisitions to the Group was £12m to revenue and £nif of operating profit

On 24 January 2007 Tesco Stores Malaysia Sdn Bhd acquired 100% of the share capitat of Makro Cash and Carry Distnbution Sdn Bhd, which operated
a chain of eight stores in Malaysia The provisional fairvalue of assets and labilitres at the date of acquisition was included m the financial statements
at 24 February 2007

Dunng the financial period ended 23 February 2008 and within 12 months of the date of acquisition, we restated the fair value of assets and habilines

at the date of acquisiion prncipally due to the indusion of an independent valuation of freehold and leasehold property Based on exchange rates at the
date of transaction this led to a decrease in goodwill of £3m This reduction compnsed an increase in the fairvalue of property, plant and equipment of
£12m, decrease in trade and other receivables of £7m and an increase in trade and other payables of £2m

Note 28 Related party transactions

Transactions between the Company and its subsidianes, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note
Transactions between the Group and s joint ventures and associates are disclosed below

1) Trading transactions

Sales to Purchases from Amounts owed Amounts owed

related parues related parties by related parties to related parties

2008 2007 2008 2007 2009 2007 2008 2007

£m £m £m £m £m fm £m £m

Jointventures 164 144 238 190 39 5 34 45
Associates - 3 77 658 - — 82 83

Sales to related parties consists of services/management fees and loan interest

Purchases from related parties include £157m (2007 = £107m) of rentals payable to the Group’s joint ventures, including those joint ventures formed as
part of the sale and leaseback prograrnme

u) Non-trading transactions

Sales and Loans to Loans from Injecuon of

leaseback of assets related parties related parves equity fundmng

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 1008 2007

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Joint ventures 652 527 173 163 10 10 8 47
Associates - - - - - - - 3
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 28 Related party transactions continued

Transactions between the Group and the Group’s pension plans are disclosed in note 24

Tesco Stores Lirmited 1s a member of one or more partnerships to whom the provisions of the Partnerships and Unimited Compames (Accounts}
Regulations 1993 (‘Regulations’) apply The accounts for those partnerships have been consolidated into these accounts pursuant to Regulation 7
of the Regulations

On 20 March 2007, the Group formed a property joint venture with The Bntish Land Company PLC The hmuted partnership contains 21 superstores
which have been sold from and leased back to Tesco The Group sold assets for net proceeds of £652m (approximating to market value) to the joint
venture which had a net bookvalue of approximately £350m The Group’s share of the profit realised from this transaction 1s included wathun profit
ansing on property-related iterns in 2007/8

On 20 December 2006, the Group formed a property joint venture with Bnuish Airways Pension Fund The himited partnership contans 16 superstores
which have been sold from and leased back to Tesco The Group sold assets for net proceeds of £454m (approxamating to market value) to the joint
venture which had a net bookvalue of £233m The Group's share of the profit realised from thes transaction 1s included within profit ansing on
property-related iterns in 2006/7 Another smaller transaction was completed dunng the yearwith Morley where £73m of assets were transferred

m) Transactions with key management personnel

Only members of the Board of Directors of Tesco PLC are deemed to be key management personnel It 1s the Board who have rasponsibifity for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Group Key management personnel compensation is disclosed in the audited part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report

Dunng the year, there were no other matenal transactions or balances between the Group and 1ts key management persennel or members of therr
close farmilty

Note 29 Reconciliation of profit before tax to net cash generated from operations

2008 2007

£m £m

Profit before tax 2,803 2,653
Net finance costs 63 126
Share of post-tax profits of joint ventures and associates (75) (106)
Profit on sale of investments in associates - (25)
Operating profit 2,791 2,648
Operating loss of discontinued operation = @
Depreciation and amortisation 992 878
Profit ansing on property-related items (188) (92)
Net impairment/{reversal of smpairment) of property, plant and equipment (10) 19
Adjustment for non-cash element of pensions charge 121 (113)
Share-based payments 199 185
Increase 10 inventones (376) (420)
Increase i trade and other receivables (71) 81)
Increase in trade and other payables 641 512
Decrease in working capital 194 "
Cash generated from operations 4,099 3,532
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Note 30 Analysis of changes in net debt

Restated Other

At 24 Feb At 24 Feb non-cash At 23 Feb

2007 Adjustment! 2007 Cash flow mavements. 2008

£m £m £fm £m Em £m

Cash and cash equivalents 1,042 - 1,042 801 (55) 1,788
Short-term investrnents - - - 360 - 360

Finance lease recewables 12 - 12 N - 5

Jomnt venture loan recervables - 163 163 36 (26} 173

Denvative financial instruments 108 - 108 (16) 221 313

Cash and recenables 1,162 163 1,325 1,174 140 2,639
Bank and other borrowings (1,518) -~ {1,518) 61 {576} (2,033)
Finance lease payables (36) - (36) 28 (43) (51}
Denvative financial instruments and other labihties ()] - 87 365 721) (443}
Debt due within one year (1,641) - (1,641) 454 (1,340} (2,527)
Bank and other borrowings (3,999) - (3,999 (2,173) 415 (5,757
Finance lease payables (147) - (147) (108) 40 (215)
Denvative financal instruments and other liabilities (399) - (399) 23 54 (322)
Debt due after one year (4,545) - (4,545) (2,258) 509 (6,294)
{5,024) 163 {4,861) (630) (691) (6,182)

1 The measurement of net debt has been revised to include kans recervable from joint ventures Going forward net debt will be stated inclusive of the loans recewable from joint ventures

Note 31 Commitments and contingencies

Capital commitments
At 23 February 2008 there were commitments for capital expenditure contracted for, but not provided, of £1,309m (2007 — £2,003m}, pnnapally relating
to the store development programme

Contingent habilities
The Company has imevocably guaranteed the habilites, as defined in Section 5(c) of the Republic of Ireland {Amendment Act) 1986, of vanous substdiary
undertakings incorporated in the Republic of Ireland

Tesco Personal Finance, in which the Group owns a 50% joint venture share, has commitments, as desenbed in its own financial statements as at
31 Decernber 2007, of formal standby facilities, credit ines and other commuitments to lend, totaling £5 9bn (2007 — £5 5bn) The amount s intended
to provide an indication of the volume of business transacted and not of the underlying credit or other nisks

For details of assets held under finance leases, which are pledged as security for the finance lease habilities, see note 11
There are a number of contingent habilities that arise in the normal course of business which if realised are not expected to result in a matenal liability
to the Group The Group recognises provistons for liabilities when 1t 1s more likely than not a settlement will be required and the value of such a payment

can be reliably estimated

In September 2007, the Office of Fair Trading 1ssued its provisional findings in its Statement of Qbjections relating to the alleged collusion between
certam large supermarkets and dairy processors We continue to defend our case vigorously No provision has been recogmised in the Group's results
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 32 Leasing commitments

Finance lease comrmtments — Group as lessee

The Group has finance leases forvanous items of plant, equipment, fixtures and fittngs There are also a small number of buildings which are held under

finance leases The fairvalue of the Group's lease obligations approximate to thew carrying value

Future mintmum lease payments under finance leases and hire purchase contracts, togetherwith the present value of the net mmimum lease payments

are as follows

Minumurn lease payments

Present value of

mimimum lease payments

2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m Em £m

Within one year 62 38 51 36
Greater than one year but less than five years 13 109 156 90
After five years 130 130 59 57
Total minimum lease payments 373 277 266 183
Less future finance charges (107 (94)
Present value of minimum lease payments 266 183
Analysed as
Current finance lease payables 51 36
Non-aurrent finance lease payables 215 147

266 183

Finance lease receivables - Group as lessor

In 2006, the Group entered into finance leasing arrangernents with UK staff for certain of its electronic equipment as part of the Computers for Staff scheme
The average term of finance leases entered into was three years The interest rate inherent in the leases 15 fixed at the contract date for all of the lease term
The average effective Interest rate contracted approximates to 2 6% (2007 - 4 0%) per annum The fairvalue of the Group’s finance lease recevables at

23 February 2008 1s estimated at £5m (2007 — £12m)

Future minimum lease recewables under finance leases together with the present value of the net minimum lease recervables are as follows

Presentvalue of

Mimimum lease payments rrzmmur lease payments

2008 2007 2008 2007

£m £m £m £m

Within one year 5 7 5 6

Greater than one year but less than five years - 6 - 6

Total minimum finance lease recevables 5 13 5 12
Less uneamed finance income (1)
Net finance lease recewvables 5 12

Analysed as

Current finance lease recervables 5 6
Non-current finance lease recevables - [
5 12
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Note 32 Leasing commitments continued

Operating lease commitments - Group as lessee
Future msmsmurn rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows

2008 2007

£m £m

Within one year 551 379
Greater than one year but less than five years 2,190 1,444
After five years 7,127 4,838
Total mimmum lease payments 9,868 6,661

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its retall, distribution and office properties and other assets such as motor
vehicles The leases have varying terms, purchase options, escalation clauses and renewal nghts

Operating lease commitments with joint ventures

Since 1988, the Group has entered into several Jontventures and soid and leased back properties to and from these joint ventures The terms of these
sale and leasebacks vary, however, common factors include the sale of the properties 1o the joint venture at market value, options at the end of the lease
for the Group to repurchase the properties at market value, market rent reviews and 20-25 year lease terms The Group revtews the substance as well as
the form of the arrangements when making the judgement as to whether these leases are operating or finance leases, the majonty of the leases under
these arrangements are operating leases

Operating lease recaivablas - Group as lessor
The Group both rents cut Its investment properties and also sublets various teased buildings under operating leases At the Balance Sheet date,
the following future minimum lease payments are contractually recevable from tenants

2008 2007

£Em £m

Within one year 141 123
Greater than one year but less than five years 341 260
After five years 313 268
Total mimimum lease payments 795 651

Note 33 Events after the balance sheet date

On 9 Apnt 2008, Dobbies Garden Centres PLC, @ 65 5% owned subsidiary of the Group, announced plans to raise £150m through an open offer of
shares Dobbies Garden Centres PLC will seek shareholder approval at an Annual General Meeting on 21 May 2008 to 1ssue up 10 12 45 mullion shares
on a six for five basis at 1,200p per share Tesco PLC will underwnite the offer
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Five year record

UK GAAP IFRS
2004 2005 2005 2006 2007 2008
53 wks
Financial statistics
Group sales (including VAT) (Em) 33,557 37,070 36,957 43,137 46,611 51,773
Revenue (excluding VAT) (£m)
UK 24,760 27,146 27,146 29,990 32,665 34,874
Rest of Europe 3,385 3,818 3,818 5,095 5,539 6,872
Asia 2,669 3,010 2,902 4,369 4417 5,552
30,814 33974 33,866 39,454 42,641 47,298
Operating profit? (Em)
UK 1,486 1,666 1,556 1,788 2,083 2,097
Rest of Europe 171 249 243 263 324 400
Asia 121 149 153 229 241 294
Total Group 1,778 2,064 1,952 2,280 2,648 2,79
Operating profit margin?
UK 6 0% 6 1% 57% 6 0% 6 4% 6 0%
Rest of Europe 51% 6 5% 6 4% 52% 58% 58%
Asia 4 5% 50% 53% 52% 55% 53%
Total Group 5 8% 6 1% 5 8% 5 8% 6 2% 59%
Goodwill amortisatron (£m) {54) 67) - - - -
Share of results of joint ventures and associates® (Em) 59 69 74 82 106 75
Profit on sale of iInvestment in associates - - - — 25 -
Net finance costs® (£m) (209) (136) (132 (127) (126) (63)
Profit before tax (£Em) 1,574 1,930 1,894 2,235 2,653 2,803
Taxation? (£m) 472) 5361) (541) (649) 772) (673)
Minority interests (£m) (2) (3) (3) (6) (7) %)
(Loss)profit for the period from discontinued operation* (£m) - - 6) (1) 18 -
Profit for the financial year attnibutable to
eguity holders of the parent (£m) 1,100 1,366 1,344 1,570 1,892 2124
Underlying profit — UK GAAP5 (Em) 1,708 2,029 nfa nfa nfa nia
Underlying profit — IFRS3 (£m) nfa nla 1,925 2,277 2,545 2,846

[P

these amounts

(LS

Cansists of the net result of the Tavanese business which was sold dunng 200677
UK GAAP underlying profit excluded net profit/(loss) on disposal of fixed assets, integration costs and goodwill amortisation IFRS underlying profit excludes 1AS 32 and IAS 39 'Financial Instruments’

Results for the year ended 25 February 2006 include 52 weeks for the UK and ROl and 14 months far the majonty of the remaining International businesses.
Operaung profit includes integration costs ard profiti(loss) ansing an sale of fixed assets Operating margin 1s based upon revenue excluding VAT
Share of results of joint ventures and assouiates 1s stated net of the interest and tax of the Group’s joint ventures and associates The Group's chamges for interest and tax have been reduced by

— Fairvalue remeasurements, the IAS 19 Income Statement charge, which 15 replaced by the 'narmal’ cash contributrons for pensions, and 1AS 17 ‘Leases’ —mmpact of annual uphfts in rentand
rent-free penods For further details of this measure, see page 51 Far the years 2004 to 2005 the above information 1s presented under UK GAAP as previousty publkshed If IFRS had been applicable

for these years the mam adjustrments would have been IFRS 2 ‘Share-based payment’, IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations' and 1AS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’
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UK GAAP [FRS

2004 2005 2005 2006 2007 2008
53 wks

Enterpnise value® {£m) 23,866 27,853 27910 30,841 40,469 37,656
Basic earmings per share’ 1505p 1772p 17 52p 2020p 23 61p 26.95p
Diluted earnings per share? 1493p 17 50p 17 30p 1992p 23 31p 26.61p
Dividend per share8 6 84p 7 56p 7 56p 863p 9 6dp 10 50p
Return on shareholders’ funds® 218% 227% 23 2% 249% 26 7% 25 1%
Return on capital employed’? 104% 11 5% 11 8% 12 7% 126%15 12 9%
Group statistics
Number of stores 2318 2334 2,334 2,672 3,263 3,751
Total sales area — Q00 sq fi"* 45,402 49,135 49,135 55,215 68,189 76,338
Average employees 310,414 335,750 335,750 368,213 413,061 444,127
Average full-time equivalent employees 223335 242,980 242,980 273,024 318,283 345,737
UK retall statistics
Number of stores 1878 1,780 1,780 1,868 1,988 2,1157
Total sales area — 000 sq ft"" 23,29 24,207 24207 25,919 27,785 29,54917
Average store size (sales area — sq ft)!2 30,890 31,677 31,677 32816 34,209 35,0557
Average full-hme equivalent employees 152,408 163,006 163,006 175,459 184,461 193,917
UK retail productivity (£)
Revenue per employee’? 162,459 166,534 166,534 170,923 177,084 179,840
Profit per emplayee!3 9,750 10,220 9,564 10,190 11,292 10,8141
Weekly sales per sqg ft'* 2248 2389 2389 2506 2548 2543

6 Market capitalisation plus net debt.

7 Basic and diluted earnings per share are on a continuing opem@tions basis

8 Dmadend per share relating to the intenm and propased final dmdend

9 Profit before tax dinded by average shareholders’ funds

10 The numerator is profit before interest, less tax The denominator is the calculated average of net assets plus net debt plus dividend creditor less net assets held for sale

11 Store sizes exclude lobby and restaurant areas

12 Average store size excludes Express and One Stop stores

13 Based on average number of full-time equralent employees in the UK, revenue exclusive of VAT and operauing profit.

14 Based on weighted average sales area and sales excluding property development.

15 Excludes one-off gain from “Pensions A-Day’, wath this one-off gain ROCE was 13 6%

16 Using & ‘normalised’ tax rate before start-up costs in the US and Tesco Direct and excluding the impact of foreign exchange in equity and our acquisition of a majonty share of Dobbwes

17 Excluding stores in the US and Dobbies

18 Excluding start-up costs in the US and Tesco Direct and adjusting average number of full-time equivalent employees in the UK to exclude US and Tesco Direct employees - profit per employee
wauld be £11,317
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Tesco PLC - Parent Company balance sheet

23 February 2008

Restated*
2008 2007
notes £m £m
Non-curtent assets
Investments in subsidianes and Joint ventures 5 9,551 8,306
Denvative financial instruments 216 -
9,767 8306
Current assets
Denvative financial instruments 10 76 108
Debtors 6 6,046 5,219
Current asset investments 7 491 3
6,613 5,330
Creditors — amounts faling due within one year
Bormowings 9 (1,114) (823)
Denvative financial nstruments 10 (413) (64}
QOther creditors 8 (2,037 {2,510}
(3,564) 3,397}
Net current assets 3,049 1,933
Total assets less current habilities 12,816 10,239
Creditors — amounts falling due after more than one year
Borrowtngs 9 (5,645) (3,970}
Denvative financial instruments 10 (86) (116)
(5,731) (4,086)
Net assets 7,085 6,153
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 13 393 397
Share premium account 14 4,511 4376
Profit and loss reserve 14 2,181 1,380
Total equity 7,085 6,153

* The balance sheet at 24 February 2007 has been restated See note 1 ~ Accounting pelicies

Accounting policies and notes form|

Sir Terry Leahy
Andrew Higginson

Directors
The Parent Company financial stateménts o
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part of these finanaal staternents are on pages 99 to 107

ages 98 to 107 were authorised for 1ssue by the Directars on 28 Apnl 2008 apid are subject to the approval
of the shareholders at the Annual General Meeyng on 27 June 2008
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Notes to the Parent Company financial statements

Note 1 Accounting polictes

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared under UK GAAP using the
histoncal cost convention modified for the revaluation of certain financial
instruments and in accordance with apphicable accounting standards and
the Companies Acts 1985 and 2006 as applicable

A summary of the Company’s significant accounting poficias are set out below

Exemptions

The Directors have taken advantage of the exemption available under
Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985 and not presented a Profit and
Loss Account for the Company alone

The Company has taken advantage of the FRS 29 ‘Financial Instruments
Disclosures’ exemption and has not provided denvative financial instrument
disclosures for the company alone

The Company has also taken advantage of the exemption from preparing
a cash flow statement under the terms of FRS 1 ‘Cash Flow Statement’
The cash flows of the Comnpany are included i the Tesco PLC Group
finanaal statements

The Company Is also exempt under the terms of FRS 8 ‘Related Parties’
from disclosing related party transactions with entities that are part of
the Tesco PLC Group

Recent accounting developments

UITF 44 ‘Group and treasury share transactions’ (effective for penods
beginning on or after 1 March 2007) addresses how to account for
share-based payments in indmdual finanaal statements of each entity
in Group situations

Following the 1ssue of this guidance we have reviewed our accounting
treatment of share-based payments in Tesco PLC and subsidiary companies
QOur new accounting treatment results in a Balance Sheet redassification
between intercompany balances, investments and retamed earmings, and
we have restated our prior year comparatives to apply this treatment as

if it had always existed The impact of this reclassification was to reduce
amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings by £295m, decrease investments
in subsidianes by £67m and to decrease retained earmings by £362m

There 1s no impact on the Company’s Profit and Loss Account for the
current and prioryears nor on the Company's consohdated Group Income
Statement and Group Balance Sheet

FRS 29 ‘Financial Instruments Disclosures’ and amendments to IAS 1
‘Presentation of Financial Statements — Capital Disclosures' were issued

In August 2005 and are effective for accounting penods beginming on or
after 1 January 2007 These amendments revise and enhance previous
disclasures required by FRS 25 'Financial Instruments Disclosures’

and FRS 13 ‘Denvatives and other finanaial instruments Disclosures’

The adoption of FRS 29 will have no impact upon the results or net assets
of the Company

Money market deposits

Money market deposits are stated at cost. All mcome from these investments
15 included in the Profit and Loss Account as interest recevable and

similar income

Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures
Imvestments 1n subsidianes and joint ventures are stated at cost less,
whete appropnate, provisions for impairment.

Foreign currencies
Assets and liabilities in foreign cumencies are translated mto Pounds Sterling
at the financial year end exchange rates '

Share-based payments

Employees of the Company recerve part of their remuneration in the form
of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render services
in exchange for shares or nghts over shares (equity-settled transactions}
or in exchange for entitlements to cash payments based on the value of
the shares (cash-settled transactions}

The farvalue of employee share option plans s calculated at the grant
date using the Black-Scholes model In accordance with FRS 20 ‘Share-based
payment' the resulting cost 1s charged to the Profit and Loss Account over
the vesting penod The value of the charge 15 adjusted to reflect expected
and actual levels of vesung

Where the Compary awards options to employees of subsidiary entties,
this 1s treated as a capital contnibution

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial habilites are recogrused on the Company's
Balance Sheet when the Company becomes a party to the contractual
prowvisions of the instrument

Debtors

Debtors are non interest-beanng and are recognised imually at fairvalue,
and subseguently at amortised cost using the effective Interest rate
method, reduced by appropnate allowances for estimated imecoverable
amounts

Current asset investments

tnvestrments are classified as either held for trading or available-for-sale,
and are measured at subsequent reporting dates at fairvalue For held for
trading, gains and losses ansing from changes in farvalue are recognised
in the Profit and Loss Account. Gains and losses arising from changes in
fair value for avallable-for-sale nvestiments are recognised directly in equity,
untll the secunity 1s disposed of or 15 determined to be wmpaired, at which
tme the curnulative gain or loss previously recognised tn equity is included
in the net result for the penod

Financial habilities and equity

Fmanaal labilities and equity instuments are classified according to the
substance of the contractual armangements entered inta An equity instrument
s any contract that gives a residual Interest in the assets of the Company
after deducting all of its habthties

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-beaning bankloans and overdrafts are mitially recorded at the value
of the amount recerved, net of attnbutable transaction costs Subsequent
to iniwal recognition, 1nterest-beanng borrowings are stated at amortised
cost with any difference between cost and redemption value being recognised
1 the Profit and Loss Account over the penod of the borrowings on an
effective interest basis

Creditors
Creditors are non interest-beanng and are stated at amortised cost.

Equity instruments
Equity nstruments 1ssued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
receved, net of direct 1ssue costs
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Notes to the Parent Company financial statements continued

Note 1 Accounting policies continued

Dervative financtal instruments and hedge accounting

The Company uses denvative financial mstruments to hedge its exposure
to foreign exchange and interest rate nsks ansing from operating, financing
and investment actvities The Company does not hold or 1ssue denvative
finanaial instruments for tradimg purposes, however if dervatives do not
qualify for hedge accounting they are accounted far as such

Dervative financial instruments are recognised and stated at fairvalue

The farrvalue of denvative financial instruments 15 determined by reference
to market values for similar financial instruments, or by discounted cash
flows or by the use of option valuation models Where denvatives do not
qualify for hedge accounting, any gains or losses on remeasurement are
immediately recogrised in the Profit and Loss Account Where denvatives
qualify for hedge accounting, recogmition of any resultant gam or joss
depends on the nature of the hedge relationship and the item being hedged

in order to qualify for hedge accounting, the Company Is required {0
decument from inception the relationship between the 1iem being hedged
and the hedging mstrument The Company Is also required to document
and demonstrate an assessment of the relationship between the hedged
item and the hedging instrument, which shows that the hedge will be
hughly effective on an engoing basis This effectiveness testing 1s performed
at each period end to ensure that the hedge remamns highly effective

Financial iInstruments with matunty dates of more than one year from the
Batance Sheet date are disclosed as falling due after more than one year

Fair value hedging

Denvative financial mstruments are classified as fair value hedges when
they hedge the Company's exposure to changes in the fair value of a
recognised asset or lability Changes in the farvalue of denvatives that are
designated and qualify as fairvalue hedges are recorded in the Profit and
Loss Account, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged
item that 1s attnbutable to the hedged nsk

Dervative financial instruments quahfymng for fair value hedge accounting
are principally interest rate swaps (including cross-currency swaps}

Cash flow hedging

Denvative financial instruments are classified as cash flow hedges when
they hedge the Company's exposure to vanability in cash flows that are

either attnbutable to a particular nsk associated with & recogrused asset

or hability, or a highly probable forecasted transaction

The effective element of any gain or loss from remeasunng the derivative
instrument 1s recognised directly in equity

The associated cumulative gain or loss 1s removed from equity and
recogrused in the Profit and Loss Account in the same perod or penods
durning which the hedged transaction affects the Profit and Loss Account
The classification of the effective portion when recognised i the Profit and
Loss Account 1s the same as the classification of the hedged transachion
Any element of the remeasurement of the denvative mstrument which
does not meet the cnteria for an effective hedge 15 recognmised immediately
in the Profit and Loss Account.
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Denvative Instruments qualifying for cash flow hedging are principally
forward foreign exchange transactions and currency options

Hedge accounting 15 discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or
15 sold, terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting
At that pomt In time, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument
recogmsed In equity 1s retained In equity until the forecasted transaction
occurs If a hedged transaction 15 no longer expacted to occur, the net
cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity 1s transferred to the Profit

and Loss Account

Net investment hedging

Dervative financial instruments are classified as net investment hedges
when they hedge the Company’s net mvestment in an overseas operation
The effective element of any foreign exchange gain or loss from remeasuring
the dervative instrument 15 recognised directly in equity Any imeffective
elernent 1s recogrused immediatelyin the Profit and Loss Account Gains
and losses accumulated in equity are included in the Profit and Lass Account
when the foreign operation 1s disposed of

Denvative instruments qualifying for net investment hedging are principally
forward foreign exchange transactiens and currency options

Pensions

The Company participates in the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme which s

a multi-employer scheme within the Tesco Group and cannot identify its
share of the underlying assets and labilities of the scheme Accordingly,

as permitted by FRS 17 ‘Retiremnent Benefits’, the Company has accounted
for the scheme as a defined contnbution scheme, and the charge for the
peniod 15 based upon the cash centrbutions payable

Taxation
Corporation tax payable 15 provided on the taxable profit for the year, using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the Balance Sheet date

Deferred tax I1s recognised in respect of all tming differences that have
originated but not raversed at the Balance Sheet date and would give nse
to an abligation to pay more or less taxation it the future

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that they are recoverable
They are regarded as recoverable to the extent that on the basis of all
avallable evidence, it :s regarded as more likely than not that there will

be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying
tmng differences can be deducted

Deferred tax 1s measured on a non-discounted basis at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the penods m which the tming differences reverse,
based on tax rates and laws that have been substantively enacted by the
Balance Sheet date
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Note 2 Auditor remuneration

2008 2007
£m £m
Fees payable to the Cornpany’s auditor for the audit of the Parent Company and Group financial statements 06 06
Note 3 Employment costs, iIncluding Directors' remuneration
2008 2007
£m £m
Wages and salaries 12 13
Socaal security costs 6 10
Pension costs 1 1
Share-based payment expense 20 19
39 43
The average number of employees (all Directars of the Company) during the yearwas 15 (2007 - 15)
The Schedule VI requirerents for Directors’ Remuneratien are included within the Directars' Remuneration Report on pages 25 to 38
Note 4 Dividends
For details of equity dividends see note 8 n the Group financial statements
Note 5 Fixed asset investments
Shares 10 Group Shares in
undertakings  joint ventures Total
£m £m £m
Cost
As at 24 February 2007 — restated* 8,362 162 8,524
Additions 1,250 - 1,250
As at 23 February 2008 9,612 162 9774
Impairment
As at 24 February 2007 218 - 218
Prowsion for impairment 5 - 5
As at 23 February 2008 223 - 223
Net carrying value
As at 23 February 2008 9,389 162 9,551
As at 24 February 2007 - restated* 8,144 162 8,306

* The pnor penod has been restated — see note 1 - Accounting pohces

For a list of the Cornpany’s principal operating subsidiary undertakings and Jomnt ventures see note 13 m the Group financal statements

The impairment charge for the year pnmanly relates to the revaluation of the Company’s listed fixed asset investments to fairvalue based on quoted

market prices at the Balance Sheet date {see note 14 of the Group financial statements)
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Notes to the Parent Company financial statements continued

Note & Debtors

Restated*
2008 2007
£m £m
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 5,303 5,042
Amounts owed by joint ventures and associates® 171 135
QOther debtors 60 13
Deferred tax asset® 12 29
Total 6,046 5,219
* The prar penod has been restaied — see note 1 - Accounung pohiaies
(2) The amounts due fram Joint ventures and assocates of £171rm (2007 - £135m) are due after more than one year
(b) The deferred tax asset recognised by the Company, and the mevements thereon, during the year are as follows
Share-based FRS25  Othertrming
payments and FRS 26 differences Total
£m £m £m £m
At 24 February 2007 3 22 4 29
Charge to profit and loss account for the year €] 9) [6)} 17
At 23 February 2008 - 13 (1) 12
Note 7 Current asset imvestments
2008 2007
£m £m
Bonds and deposits 491 3
Note 8 Other creditors
2008 2007
£m £m
Amounts falling due within one year
Corporation tax - 125
QOther tax and social secunty 1 1
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 1,725 2,163
Other liabilities 304 214
Accruals and deferred 1ncome 7 7
2,037 2,510

10
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Note & Borrowings

Matunty 2008 2007

Parvalue year £m £m

Bank loans and overdrafts - 2008 538 357
Loan from: joint venture — 2008 10 10
7 5% MTN £258m 2007 - 268
6% MTN £125m 2008 130 130
5 25% MTN £€500m 2008 392 352
5125% MTN £192m 2009 191 190
6 625% MTN £150m 2010 153 153
475% MTN £€750m 2010 592 525
3 875% MTN £€500m 2011 387 340
4% RPI MTN® £238m 2016 254 244
5 5% USD Bond $850m 2017 455 -
5 5% MTN £350m 2019 350 349
5% MTN® £415m 2023 417 361
3322% LPI MTN® £241m 2025 255 243
6% MTN £200m 2029 194 198
55% MTN £200m 2033 192 197
1982% RPI MTN@® £204m 2036 212 206
6 15% USD Bond %$1,150m 2037 604 -
5% MTN £300m 2042 305 306
5125% MTN £€500m 2047 451 -
52% MTN £500m 2057 499 -
Other MTNs - - 178 364
6,759 4,793

(a) The 4% RPI MTNs is redeemable at par, indexed for increases in the Retail Price Index (RPI} over the life of the MTN

(b) An additional bond issue increased the principal of this MTN from £350m to £415m durning the year

{c) The 3.322% LP!MTN 1s redeemable at par, indexed for mcreases in the Retail Price Index over the life of the MTN The maumum indexation of the prmapal n ary one year 15 5%, with a mmmum of (%
(d) The 1 382% RPl MTN 1s redeemable at par, iIndexed for increases in the RPI over the life of the MTN

2008 2007
£m £m
Repayment analysis

Amounts falling due within one year 1,114 823
1,114 823

Amounts falling due after more than one year
Amounts falling due between one and two years 277 524
Amounts falling due between two and five years 1,166 1,327
Amounts falling due after more than five years 4,202 2,119
5,645 3,970
6,759 4,793
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Notes to the Parent Company financial statements continued

Note 10 Derivatwve financial mstruments

The fair value of denvative financial instruments has been disclosed in the Company’s Balance Sheet as

2008 2007
Asset Liability Asset Liabtlity
£m £m £m £m
Cument 76 (413) 108 (64)
Non-current 216 (86) - (116)
Total 292 (499) 108 (180)
2008 2007
Asset Liability Asset Liability
Falr value Notienal Fairvalue National Fairvalue Notonal Fairvalue Notienal
Em £m £m £Em £m £m £m £m
Fairvalue hedges
Interest rate swaps and similar nstruments 2 125 (80) 657 7 267 69) 717
Cross currency swaps 252 2,788 - - - - (45) 1,174
Cash flow hedges
Interest rate swaps and similar instruments - - - - - - 9) 988
Forward foreign currency contracts - - - ~ 2 73 (25) 691
Net investment hedges
Forward foreign currency contracts 2 289 (218) 2,328 65 3,053 (8) 1,292
Dervatives not in a formal hedge relationship
Interest rate swaps and similar instruments s 3,638 [v3] 189 5 1,570 [4)) 230
Cross currency swaps - - 2) 204 - - - -
Forward foreign currency contracts 31 1,589 (197) 2,625 29 1,236 (23) 687
Total 292 8,429 (499) 6,003 108 6,199 (180) 5,779

Note 11 Share-based payments

Tesco PLC’s equity-settled share-based payment schemes comprise vanous share schemes designed to reward Executive Directors For further information
on these schemes, Including the valuation models and assumptions used, see note 23 to the Group financial statements

a) Share option schemes
The number of options and weighted average exercise price (WAEP) of share option schemes relatng to Tesco PLC employees are

For the year ended 23 February 2008

Savings-related Approved Unapproved N cost
share option scheme share option scherne share option scheme share options
Optons WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP
Qutstanding at
24 February 2007 42,249 22323 53,381 28099 11,300,347 27090 5,810,007 000
Granted 5,733 41000 - — 1,888,688 47375 5,113,574 000
Exercised {10,330) 159 00 - - {997,056) 25325 (85,343) 000
Qutstanding at
23 February 2008 37,652 269 29 53,381 28099 12,191,979 30375 10,838,238 000
Exercisable as at
23 February 2008 - - 15,189 19750 5,233,393 230N - -
Exercise price range 164 00 to
(pence) - - - 197 50 - 259 00 - -
Werghted average remaining
contractual fe (years) - - - 516 - 433 - -
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Note 11 Share-based payments continued

For the year ended 24 February 2007

Savings-related Approved Uinapproved Nil cost
share option scheme share option stheme share option scheme share options
Opuons WAEP Cptions WAEP Opuons WAEP Options WAEP
Qutstanding at
25 February 2006 42,474 203 95 43,965 27293 12,068,027 24583 3,459,458 000
Granted 7,462 30700 9,416 31860 2,664,782 31860 2,350,549 G o0
Exercised (7,687) 198 00 - 000 (3,432,462) 21984 - -
QOutstanding at
24 February 2007 42,249 22323 53,381 28099 11,300,347 27090 5.810,007 000
Exercisable as at
24 February 2007 — - 15,189 19750 3,726996 221 60 - -
Exercise pnce range 16400 to
{pence) - - - 19750 - 25900 - -
Weighted average remaining
contractual hife (years) - - - 616 - 458 - -
b) Share bonus schemes
The number and weighted average farr value (WAFV) of share bonuses awarded during the penod relating to Tesco PLC employees are
2008 2007
Shares WAFV Shares WAFY
number pence number pence
Shares in Success 4,464 470 45 6,570 31965
Executive Incentive Scheme 176,135 401.90 - -
Performance Share Plan 160,030 471.10 204,444 346 25

US Long-term Incentive Plan

2,000,000  471.10

Note 12 Pensions

The total cost of the penston scheme to the Group was £414m (2007 — £167m) Further disclosure relating to the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme can be

faund in note 24 of the Group financial statements
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Notes to the Parent Company financial statements continued

Note 13 Called up share capital

2008 2007
Ordinary shares of Sp each Ordinary shares of Sp each
Number £m Number £m
Authorised
At beginning of year 10,858,000,000 543 10,700,000,000 535
Authansed dunng the year - - 158,000,000 8
At end of year 10,858,000,000 543 10,858,000,000 543
Allotted, calied up and fully paid
At beginming of year 7,947,349,558 397 7,894,476917 305
Scnp dvidend electron - - 75,205,082 3
Share optrons 65,432,552 3 75,994,892 4
Share buy-back (149,283,327) (€3] (98,327,333) (5)
At end of year 7,863,498,783 393 7,947,349,558 397

Durning the financial year, 65 million (2007 - 151 millien) shares of Sp each were 1ssued for aggregate consideration of £138m (2007 - £395m), which
compnsed £nil (2007 — £239m) for scnp dvidend and £138m (2007 — £156m) for share options

Dunng the year, the Company purchased and subsequently cancelled 149,283,327 (2007 - 98,327 333) shares of 5p each, representing 2% {2007 — 1%)
of the called up share capital, at an average pnce of £4 38 (2007 — £3 89) per share The total consideration, ncluding expenses, was £657m (2007 — £385m)
The excess of the consideration over the nominal value has been charged to retained earmings

Between 24 February 2008 and 28 Apnl 2008, options over 4,690,928 crdinary shares have been exercised under the terms of the savings-retated share
aption scheme (1981) and the Insh savings-related option scheme (2000) Between 24 February 2008 and 28 Apnl 2008, options over 4,048,526 ardinary
shares have been exercised under the terms of the executive share option schemes (1994 and 1996) and the discretienary share option plan {2004)

As at 23 February 2008, the Directors were authorised to purchase up to a maxmum in aggregate of 793 4 mulion (2007 - 790 5 mulhon) ordinary shares

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to received dvidends as declared from time to time and are entitled to ore vote per share at the meetings
of the Company

Share buy-back hability

Insider trading rules prevent the Group from buying back the Company shares in the market during specified close penods {including the penced between
the year end and the annua! results announcement) However, If an irevocable agreement is signed between the Company and a third party, they

can continue to buy back shares on behalf of the Company Three such amrangements were in place at the year end and in accordance with FRS 25,

the Company has recognised a finanaial hability equal to the estmated value of the shares purchasable under these agreements A liability of £100m
(2007 ~ £90m) has been recogrused within other creditors for this amount.

Capital redemption reserve
Upon cancellation of the shares purchased as part of the share buy-back, a capital redemption reserve 1s created representing the nominal velue of the
shares cancelled This is a non-distnbutable reserve
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Note 14 Reserves

Restated*
2008 2007
£m Em
Share premium account
At the start of the year 4,376 3,988
Premium on issize of shares less costs 135 152
Scnp dividend electron - 236
At the end of the year 4,511 4,376
Profit and loss reserve
At the start of the year 1,380 1,764
Prior year restatement for share-based payments - {237)
At the start of the year restated* 1,380 1,527
Share-based payment 199 185
Purchase of treasury shares (118) {105)
Dwvidend (792) (706)
Decrease In farvalue of available-for-sale financial assets {4) m
Share buy-back (665) (475)
Share buy-back - capital redemption 7 5
Gains/(lasses) on cash flow hedges 24 {38)
Profit after tax for the year 2,150 988
At the end of the year 2,181 1,380

* The prior penod has been restated - see note 1 - Accounting polraes
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Tesco PLC

We have audited the parent company financial statements of Tesco PLC
for the year ended 23 February 2008 which compnse the Balance Sheet
and the related notes These parent company financial statements have
been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein We have
also audited the mformation in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that
15 described as having been audited

We have reported separately on the Group financial statements of Tesco
PLC for the year ended 23 February 2008

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors

The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the
Directors’ Remuneration Report and the parent company financial
statemnents in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice) are set out in the Staternent of Directors’ Responsibilities

Qur responsibihity 15 to audit the parent company financial statements and
the part of the Directors' Remuneration Report to be audited in accordance
with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and Intemational Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland)} This report, including the opinion, has been
prepared for and only for the parent company's members as a body in
accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other
purpose We de not, In giving this opinion, accept or assume rasponsibility
for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report I1s shown
or into whose hands 1t may come save where expressly agreed by our prior
consent in wnting

We report to you our opimion as to whether the parent company financial
statements give a true and fair view and whether the parent company
financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report
to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 1985 We also report to you whether in our opinion the
information gwven in the Directors’ Report 1s consistent with the parent
company financial staterments

In additron we report to you If, In our opirion, the parent company has not

kept proper accounting records, If we have not received all the information

and explanations we require for our audit, or If nformation specified by law
regarding Directors' remuneration and other transactions 15 not disclosed

We read other information contained 1n the Annua! Report and consider
whether it 1s consistent with the audited parent company financal statements
The other inforrmation compnses only the Financial fughhights, the Chuef
Exeautve’s statement, the Directors’ report, the Corporate Govemnance
statement, the unaudited part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report and
the Five Year Record We consider the implications for our report If we
become aware of any apparent misstatements or matenal inconsistencies
with the parent cornpany financial statements Our responsibifities do not
extend to any other information

1 08 Teseo PLC Annual Report and
Financial Statements 2008

Basis of audit opimien

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (UK and Ireland) 1ssued by the Auditing Practices Board An audit
includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts
and disclosures in the parent company financial statements and the part
of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited It 2lso includes an
assessment of the sigruficant estmates and Judgments made by the
Directors in the preparation of the parent company financial statements,
and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the parent
company’s arcumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information
and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with
sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the parent company
financial staternents and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to
be audited are free from matenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud
or ather Irregulanty or error In forming our opinion we also evaluated the
overall adequacy of the presentation of infermation m the parent company
financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report

to be audited

Opinion
In our opimion

> the parent company financial statements give a true and fair
view, In accordance with United Xingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice, of the state of the parent cormpany's affairs
as at 23 February 2008,

> the parent company financia! statements and the part of the Directors'
Remuneration Report to be audited have been property prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985, and

> the information given in the Directors’ Report 1s consistent with the
parent company financial statements

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London 28 Apnl 2008
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vegetable ol from renewable
sources Over 90% of solvents and
developers are recycled for further
use and recycling inttiatives are in
place for ail other waste associated
with this production CTD are FSC
and I1SO 14001 certified with strict
procedures in place to safeguard the
environment through all processes

Designed and produced by
35 Communications

How to find out more online
Everyyear, more and more
informatton 1s available for our
shareholders, staff and customers

www.tesco.com/annualreport08
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Every Little Helps

www.tesco.com/annualreport08




